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$500,000,000

WESCO Distribution, Inc.

OFFER TO EXCHANGE

UP TO $500,000,000 IN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NEWLY ISSUED 5.375% SENIOR
NOTES DUE 2021

FOR A LIKE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF OUTSTANDING RESTRICTED

5.375% NOTES DUE 2021 ISSUED ON NOVEMBER 26, 2013

On November 26, 2013, we issued $500,000,000 aggregate principal amount of restricted 5.375% Notes due 2021,
which we refer to as the �Original Notes,� in a private placement.

We are offering to exchange up to $500,000,000 aggregate principal amount of new 5.375% Notes due 2021, which
we refer to as the �Exchange Notes,� for outstanding Original Notes. We refer to this offer to exchange as the �Exchange
Offer.� The terms of the Exchange Notes are substantially identical to the terms of the Original Notes, except that the
Exchange Notes will be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, which we refer to as the �Securities Act,� and the
transfer restrictions and registration rights and related special interest provisions applicable to the Original Notes will
not apply to the Exchange Notes. The Exchange Notes will be part of the same series as the Original Notes and issued
under the same indenture. The Exchange Notes will be exchanged for Original Notes in minimum denominations of
$2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof. We will not receive any proceeds from the issuance of
Exchange Notes in the Exchange Offer.

You may withdraw tenders of Original Notes at any time prior to the expiration of the Exchange Offer.

The Exchange Offer expires at 9:00 a.m. New York City time on July 17, 2014, unless extended, which we refer
to as the �Expiration Date.�

We do not intend to list the Exchange Notes on any securities exchange or to seek approval through any automated
quotation system, and no active public market for the Exchange Notes is anticipated.
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You should consider carefully the risk factors beginning on page 10 of this prospectus before deciding whether
to participate in the Exchange Offer.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the �SEC,� nor any state securities commission has
approved or disapproved of the Exchange Notes or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any
representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus is June 12, 2014.
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Rather than repeat certain information in this prospectus that we have already included in reports filed with
the SEC, this prospectus incorporates important business and financial information about us that is not
included in or delivered with this prospectus. We will provide this information to you at no charge upon
written or oral request directed to: WESCO International, Inc., 225 West Station Square Drive, Suite 700,
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15219 Telephone: (412) 454-2200, Attention: Investor Relations. In order to receive
timely delivery of any requested documents in advance of the Expiration Date, you should make your request
no later than July 10, 2014, which is five full business days before you must make a decision regarding the
Exchange Offer.
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This prospectus may only be used where it is legal to make the Exchange Offer and by a broker-dealer for resales of
Exchange Notes acquired in the Exchange Offer where it is legal to do so.

This prospectus and the information incorporated by reference summarize documents and other information in a
manner we believe to be accurate, but we refer you to the actual documents for a more complete understanding of the
information we discuss in this prospectus and the information incorporated by reference. In making an investment
decision, you must rely on your own examination of such documents, our business and the terms of the offering and
the Exchange Notes, including the merits and risks involved.

We make no representation to you that the Exchange Notes are a legal investment for you. You should not consider
any information in this prospectus to be legal, business or tax advice. You should consult your own attorney, business
advisor and tax advisor for legal, business and tax advice regarding an investment in the Exchange Notes. Neither the
delivery of the prospectus nor any exchange made pursuant to this prospectus implies that any information set forth in
or incorporated by reference in this prospectus is correct as of any date after the date of this prospectus.
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Each broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes for its own account pursuant to the Exchange Offer must
acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of Exchange Notes. The letter of
transmittal accompanying this prospectus states that by so acknowledging and by delivering a prospectus, a broker
dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an �underwriter� within the meaning of the Securities Act. This prospectus,
as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time, may be used by a broker-dealer in connection with resales
of Exchange Notes received in exchange for Original Notes where the Original Notes

-i-
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were acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities. We have agreed
that, for a period ending on the earlier of (i) 180 days from the date on which the registration statement of which this
prospectus forms a part is declared effective and (ii) the date on which a broker-dealer is no longer required to deliver
a prospectus in connection with market-making or other trading activities, we will make this prospectus available to
any broker-dealer for use in connection with these resales. See �Plan of Distribution.�

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

We believe that the financial statements and the other financial data included in or incorporated by reference into this
prospectus have been prepared in a manner that complies, in all material respects, with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States, or �GAAP,� and the regulations published by the SEC, and are consistent with current
practice with the exception of the presentation of certain non-GAAP financial measures, including EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not measurements of financial performance or condition under GAAP and should
not be considered as alternatives to operating income, or any other financial performance measures derived in
accordance with GAAP. Additionally, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not intended to be measures of free cash
flow available for management�s discretionary use, as they do not consider certain cash requirements such as interest
payments, tax payments and debt service requirements. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not calculated in the
same manner by all companies and, accordingly, are not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures of other
companies and may not be appropriate measures for comparing performance relative to other companies.

For the definition of and additional information about EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, a description of how EBITDA
and Adjusted EBITDA are calculated and a reconciliation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to the most directly
comparable GAAP financial measures, see the section titled �Summary�Summary Historical Consolidated Financial
Information� of this prospectus.

DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus, including the documents incorporated by reference, contains various �forward-looking statements�
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements involve certain
unknown risks and uncertainties. When used in this prospectus or the documents incorporated by reference, the words
�anticipates,� �plans,� �believes,� �estimates,� �intends,� �expects,� �projects,� �will� and similar expressions may identify
forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain such words. Such statements,
including, but not limited to, our statements regarding business strategy, growth strategy, competitive strengths,
productivity and profitability enhancement, competition, new product and service introductions and liquidity and
capital resources are based on management�s beliefs, as well as on assumptions made by and information currently
available to, management, and involve various risks and uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. Our
actual results could differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statement made by us or on our
behalf. In light of these risks and uncertainties, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking information will in
fact prove to be accurate. We have undertaken no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Factors that could cause actual results
to differ materially from those implied by these forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to:

� adverse conditions in the global economy and disruptions of financial markets;
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� an increase in competition;

� certain events or conditions leading to interruptions in our operations;

� increased levels of risk related to international operations resulting from our acquisition of EECOL Electric
Corporation, or �EECOL�;

-ii-
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� our expansion into new business activities, industries, product lines or geographic areas;

� a loss of key suppliers, product cost fluctuations, lack of product availability or inefficient supply chain
operations;

� the inherent risks of any possible future acquisitions;

� costs and risks associated with laws and regulations affecting our business;

� our outstanding indebtedness and the associated debt service commitments;

� our ability to attract, retain and motivate key employees; and

� the risk factors referred to or described in the �Risk Factors� section of this prospectus and the other risk
factors described in WESCO International�s Annual Report on Form 10-K under Item 1A, �Risk Factors.�

We cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized, although we believe we have been prudent
in our plans and assumptions. Achievement of future results is subject to risks, uncertainties and inaccurate
assumptions. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove
inaccurate, actual results could vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or projected. Investors should bear
this in mind as they consider forward-looking statements.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise, except as otherwise required by law. You are advised, however, to consult any further
disclosures WESCO International makes on related subjects in its reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K filed with or
furnished to the SEC. You should understand that it is not possible to predict or identify all risk factors. Consequently,
you should not consider any such list to be a complete set of all potential risks or uncertainties.

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA

Market data used in this prospectus, including in documents incorporated by reference, is based on management�s
knowledge of the industry and the good faith estimates of management. We also relied, to the extent available, upon
management�s review of independent industry surveys and publications and other publicly available information
prepared by a number of sources. This data involves a number of assumptions and limitations, and you are cautioned
not to give undue weight to such estimates. Although we believe that these sources are reliable, we cannot guarantee
the accuracy or completeness of this information, and we have not independently verified this information.

-iii-
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SUMMARY

This summary highlights significant aspects of our business and this exchange offer, but it is not complete and may
not contain all of the information that may be important to you. You should read the entire prospectus carefully,
including the historical financial statements and their related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus. Investing in
the Notes involves significant risks, as described in the �Risk Factors� section.

In this prospectus, unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references to the terms �the
Company,� �WESCO,� �we,� �our,� �us� or similar terms mean WESCO Distribution, Inc. and its direct and
indirect subsidiaries, and references to �WESCO International� mean WESCO International, Inc., the parent
company of WESCO Distribution, Inc., and its subsidiaries, including WESCO. All financial data presented in this
prospectus is the financial data of WESCO International and its consolidated subsidiaries unless otherwise indicated.
Unless otherwise indicated or the context requires otherwise, all references in this prospectus to �Notes� mean
collectively the Original Notes and the Exchange Notes.

Our Company

We are a leading provider of electrical, industrial, and communications maintenance, repair and operating and original
equipment manufacturers products, construction materials, and advanced supply chain management and logistics
services. Our primary product categories include general electrical and industrial supplies, wire, cable and conduit,
data and broadband communications, power distribution equipment, lighting and lighting control systems, control and
automation, motors, and safety.

We serve over 75,000 active customers globally through approximately 475 full service branches and nine distribution
centers located in the United States, Canada, and Mexico with offices in 15 additional countries. The Company
employs approximately 9,200 employees worldwide. We distribute over 1,000,000 products, grouped into six
categories, from more than 25,000 suppliers utilizing a highly automated, proprietary electronic procurement and
inventory replenishment system.

In addition, we offer a comprehensive portfolio of value-added capabilities, which includes supply chain management,
logistics and transportation, procurement, warehousing and inventory management, as well as kitting, limited
assembly of products and system installation. Our value-added capabilities, extensive geographic reach, experienced
workforce and broad product and supply chain solutions have enabled us to grow our business and establish a leading
position in North America.

In December 2012, we completed the acquisition of EECOL with approximately $0.9 billion in annual sales,
approximately 57 locations across Canada and approximately 20 in South America, and more than 20,000 customers.

Corporate Information

WESCO International is a Delaware corporation incorporated in 1993 and effectively formed in February 1994 upon
acquiring a distribution business from Westinghouse Electric Corporation. WESCO International�s principal executive
office is located at 225 West Station Square Drive, Suite 700, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania and its telephone number is
(412) 454-2200. WESCO International�s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
�WCC.� WESCO International�s website address is www.wesco.com. The information contained on or accessible
through WESCO International�s website is not a part of this prospectus, other than the documents that it files with the
SEC that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus. For additional information concerning WESCO
International, please see WESCO International�s most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and its other filings with
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the SEC, which are incorporated by reference into this document. See �Where You Can Find More Information.�
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The Exchange Offer

The following summary contains basic information about the Exchange Offer. It does not contain all of the
information that may be important to you. For a more complete description of the terms of the Exchange Offer, see
�The Exchange Offer.�

The Exchange Offer We are offering to exchange up to $500,000,000 aggregate principal
amount of our registered 5.375% Notes due 2021, which we refer to as
the �Exchange Notes,� for an equal principal amount of our outstanding
restricted 5.375% Notes due 2021, which we refer to as the �Original
Notes,� that were issued on November 26, 2013. The terms of the
Exchange Notes are identical in all material respects to those of the
Original Notes, except for transfer restrictions and registration rights and
related special interest provisions relating to the Original Notes. Holders
of Original Notes do not have any appraisal or dissenters� rights in
connection with the Exchange Offer.

Purposes of the Exchange Offer The Exchange Notes are being offered to satisfy our obligations under
the registration rights agreement entered into at the time we issued and
sold the Original Notes.

Expiration Date; withdrawal of tenders;
return of Original Notes not accepted for
exchange

The Exchange Offer will expire at 9:00 a.m., New York City time,
on July 17, 2014, or on a later date and time to which we extend it. We
refer to such time and date as the �Expiration Date.� Tenders of Original
Notes in the Exchange Offer may be withdrawn at any time prior to the
Expiration Date. We will exchange the Exchange Notes for validly
tendered Original Notes promptly following the Expiration Date. Any
Original Notes that are not accepted for exchange for any reason will be
returned by us, at our expense, to the tendering holder promptly after the
expiration or termination of the Exchange Offer.

Procedures for tendering Original Notes Each holder of Original Notes wishing to participate in the Exchange
Offer must follow procedures of The Depository Trust Company�s, or
�DTC,� Automated Tender Offer Program, or �ATOP,� subject to the terms
and procedures of that program. The ATOP procedures require that the
exchange agent receives, prior to the Expiration Date, a
computer-generated message known as an �agent�s message� that is
transmitted through ATOP and that DTC confirm that:

�DTC has received instructions to exchange your Original Notes; and
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�you agree to be bound by the terms of the letter of transmittal.

See �The Exchange Offer�Procedures for Tendering Original Notes.�

2
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Consequences of failure to exchange
Original Notes

You will continue to hold Original Notes, which will remain subject to
their existing transfer restrictions, if you do not validly tender your
Original Notes or you tender your Original Notes and they are not
accepted for exchange. With some limited exceptions, we will have no
obligation to register the Original Notes after we consummate the
Exchange Offer. See �The Exchange Offer�Terms of the Exchange Offer�
and �The Exchange Offer�Consequences of Failure To Exchange.�

Conditions to the Exchange Offer The Exchange Offer is not conditioned upon any minimum aggregate
principal amount of Original Notes being tendered or accepted for
exchange. The Exchange Offer is subject to customary conditions, which
may be waived by us in our discretion. We currently expect that all of the
conditions will be satisfied and that no waivers will be necessary.

Exchange agent U.S. Bank National Association

Certain U.S. federal income tax
considerations

Your exchange of an Original Note for an Exchange Note pursuant to the
Exchange Offer will not constitute a taxable exchange. You will not
recognize any taxable income, gain or loss in the exchange. Immediately
after the exchange, you will have the same adjusted tax basis and holding
period in each Exchange Note received as you had immediately prior to
the exchange in the corresponding Original Note surrendered. See
�Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations.�

Risk Factors You should carefully read and consider the risk factors beginning on
page 10 of this prospectus before deciding whether to participate in the
Exchange Offer.

3
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The Exchange Notes

The following is a brief summary of the principal terms of the Exchange Notes and is provided solely for your
convenience. It is not intended to be complete. You should read the full text and more specific details contained
elsewhere in this prospectus. For a more detailed description of the Exchange Notes, see �Description of Notes.�

Issuer WESCO Distribution, Inc.

Securities Offered Up to $500,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 5.375% senior notes
due 2021.

Maturity December 15, 2021.

Interest Interest on the Exchange Notes will accrue at a rate of 5.375% per
annum, payable semi-annually in cash in arrears on June 15 and
December 15 of each year, commencing June 15, 2014.

Guarantee The Exchange Notes will be initially guaranteed on a senior unsecured
basis by WESCO International. The Exchange Notes will not be
guaranteed by any of our or WESCO International�s subsidiaries. See
�Description of Notes�Ranking and Guarantee.�

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2013, our subsidiaries, which
will not guarantee the Exchange Notes, represented approximately 55%
and 64% of our total revenues and EBITDA, respectively. In addition,
these non-guarantor subsidiaries represented approximately 81% and
44% of our total assets and total liabilities, respectively, as of March 31,
2014 (excluding, in each case, intercompany amounts).

Ranking The Exchange Notes and the guarantee will constitute senior obligations
of us and WESCO International. They will rank:

�equally in right of payment with all of our and WESCO
International�s existing and future senior debt, including our and
WESCO International�s obligations under our term loan facility (the
�Term Loan Facility�), our $500.0 million accounts receivable
securitization facility (the �Securitization Facility�), and our $600.0
million revolving credit facility (the �Revolving Credit Facility�);
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�senior in right of payment to all of our and WESCO International�s
existing and future subordinated debt;

�structurally subordinated to all liabilities (including trade payables)
of WESCO International�s existing and future subsidiaries that do
not guarantee the Exchange Notes (of which no subsidiary will
provide a guarantee as of the issue date); and

�effectively subordinated in right of payment to all of our and
WESCO International�s secured indebtedness (including the

4
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obligations under the Term Loan Facility, the Securitization Facility
and the Revolving Credit Facility to the extent of the value of the
assets securing such indebtedness).

As of March 31, 2014, we had $831.5 million aggregate principal
amount of secured debt outstanding. In addition, we had approximately
$447.0 million and $21.9 million of availability under the Revolving
Credit Facility and the Securitization Facility, respectively.

Optional Redemption On or after December 15, 2016, we may redeem the Notes, in whole or in
part, at any time at the redemption prices described under �Description of
Notes�Optional Redemption.� In addition, we may redeem up to 35% of
the aggregate principal amount of the Notes before December 15, 2016
with the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings at a redemption
price of 105.375% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid
interest, if any, to, but not including, the redemption date. We may also
redeem some or all of the Notes before December 15, 2016 at a
redemption price of 100% of the principal amount, plus accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to, but not including, the redemption date, plus a
�make whole� premium.

Change of Control If we experience a defined change of control, we may be required to
offer to repurchase the Notes at a price equal to 101% of the principal
amount of the Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but not
including, the date of purchase. See �Description of Notes�Repurchase at
the Option of Holders�Change of Control.�

Covenants The indenture contains covenants that, among other things, will limit our
ability and the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to:

�incur liens on assets;

�make certain restricted payments;

�engage in certain sale and leaseback transactions; and

�sell certain assets or merge or consolidate with or into other
companies.
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These covenants are subject to important exceptions and qualifications as
described under �Description of Notes�Certain Covenants.�

Use of Proceeds We will not receive any cash proceeds from the issuance of the Exchange
Notes. See �Use of Proceeds.�

Trustee U.S. Bank National Association

5
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Summary Historical Consolidated Financial Information

The following table presents WESCO International�s and its subsidiaries� summary historical consolidated financial
information as of and for each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, as well as such
information as of and for the three-month period ended March 31, 2014. The summary historical consolidated
financial information as of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 and for each of the fiscal years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012 have been derived from WESCO International�s audited consolidated financial statements and should
be read together with those audited consolidated financial statements and related notes and �Management�s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations� contained in WESCO International�s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference in this prospectus. The
summary historical consolidated financial information as of March 31, 2014 and for the three-month period ended
March 31, 2014 are derived from WESCO International�s unaudited financial statements and should be read together
with those unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes and �Management�s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations� contained in WESCO International�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2014, which is incorporated by reference in this prospectus. In the opinion of
management, WESCO International�s unaudited consolidated financial statements were prepared on the same basis as
its audited consolidated financial statements and include all adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring
adjustments, necessary for a fair statement of this information. Results of operations for the three-month period ended
March 31, 2014 are not necessarily indicative of results of operations that may be expected for the full fiscal year.

Three Months
Ended

March 31, Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011

(Dollars in thousands)
Income Statement Data:
Net sales $ 1,810,825 $ 7,513,342 $ 6,579,301 $ 6,125,718
Cost of goods sold (excluding depreciation and
amortization below) 1,436,032 5,967,892 5,247,855 4,889,149
Selling, general and administrative expenses 265,462 996,810 961,014 871,983
Depreciation and amortization 16,372 67,642 37,561 31,607

Income from operations 92,959 480,998 332,871 332,979
Interest expense, net 20,688 85,607 47,762 53,603
Loss on debt extinguishment(1) �  13,225 3,470 �  
Loss on sale of Argentina business �  2,315 �  �  
Other (income) loss �  �  �  �  

Income before income taxes 72,271 379,851 281,639 279,376
Provision for income taxes 20,416 103,333 79,880 83,136
Net income 51,855 276,518 201,759 196,240

Less: Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling
interest(2) (50) 88 (18) (11) 

Net income attributable to WESCO International $ 51,905 $ 276,430 $ 201,777 $ 196,251
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Three Months
Ended

March 31, Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011

(Dollars in thousands)
Balance Sheet Data (as of period end):
Cash and cash equivalents $ 96,356 $ 123,725 $ 86,099 $ 63,869
Total assets 4,711,069 4,648,893 4,651,798 3,078,452
Total debt (including current portion)(3) 1,676,377 1,662,381 1,918,816 825,241
Stockholders� equity(4) 1,773,559 1,764,791 1,553,691 1,345,910
Working capital(5) 1,077,371 1,030,227 1,007,743 827,705

Statement of Cash Flow Data
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 46,713 $ 315,141 $ 288,184 $ 167,533
Net cash used by investing activities 96,160 18,223 1,311,006 81,343
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities 23,539 (257,519) 1,044,048 (70,908) 
Capital expenditures 5,012 27,825 23,084 33,347
Acquisition payments, net of cash acquired 91,187 �  1,289,480 48,093

Reconciliation of Net Income Attributable to
WESCO International to EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA
Net Income attributable to WESCO
International $ 51,905 $ 276,430 $ 201,777 $ 196,251
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling
interest (50) 88 (18) (11) 
Provision for income taxes 20,416 103,333 79,880 83,136
Loss on debt extinguishment �  13,225 3,470 �  
Loss on sale of Argentina business �  2,315 �  �  
Interest expense, net 20,688 85,607 47,762 53,603
Depreciation and amortization 16,372 67,642 37,561 31,607
EBITDA(6) 109,331 548,640 370,432 364,586
ArcelorMittal litigation impact(7) �  (36,134) 36,134 �  

Adjusted EBITDA(6) $ 109,331 $ 512,506 $ 406,566 $ 364,586

(1) Represents the loss recognized in 2013 related to the repayment of $500 million of the Company�s term loan due
2019 and the loss recognized in 2012 due to the redemption of all the outstanding 7.50% 2017 Senior
Subordinated Notes due 2017. See Note 7 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in
WESCO International�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, which is
incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

(2) Represents the portion of a net (income) loss attributable to a consolidated entity not owned by WESCO
International.

(3) Includes the discount related to WESCO International�s 6.0% Convertible Senior Debentures due 2029 (the �2029
Debentures�), 1.75% Convertible Senior Debentures due 2026 (the �2026 Debentures� and, collectively with the
2029 Debentures, the �Debentures�), and the Term Loan Facility. See Note 7 of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements included in WESCO International�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
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December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference in this prospectus.
(4) Stockholders� equity includes amounts related to the Debentures. See Note 7 of the notes to the consolidated

financial statements included in WESCO International�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

(5) Working Capital is defined as current assets (excluding cash) less current liabilities.
(6) We define EBITDA as net income attributable to WESCO International, plus net loss (income) attributable to

noncontrolling interest, plus provision for income taxes, less other income, plus loss on debt extinguishment, plus
loss on sale of Argentina business, plus interest expense, net, plus depreciation and
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amortization. We define Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA adjusted for the ArcelorMittal litigation impact.
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not measures of operating performance or liquidity under GAAP and, as
used in this prospectus, are not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies.
Management believes that EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA may be useful to potential purchasers of the Notes in
assessing our operating performance and as an indicator of our ability to service or incur indebtedness, make
capital expenditures and finance working capital requirements. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not
measurements of operating performance computed in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as a
substitute for operating income, net income (loss) or cash generated by operating activities computed in
accordance with GAAP. In evaluating EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, you should be aware that in the future
we may incur expenses that are the same as or similar to some of the adjustments in this presentation. Our
presentation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that our future results
will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA have limitations as analytical tools. Some of these limitations are:

� EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements, for capital
expenditures or contractual commitments;

� EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital
needs;

� EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to
service interest or principal payments, on our debts;

� although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will
often have to be replaced in the future, and EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect any cash
requirements for such replacements;

� EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect the impact of certain cash charges resulting from matters we
consider not to be indicative of our ongoing operations; and

� other companies in our industry may calculate EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do,
limiting their usefulness as comparative measures.

Because of these limitations, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute
for performance measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. We compensate for these limitations by relying
primarily on our GAAP results and using EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA only supplementally.

(7) WESCO is a defendant in a lawsuit filed in a state court in Indiana in which a customer, ArcelorMittal Indiana
Harbor, Inc. (�AIH�), alleges that the Company sold defective products to AIH in 2004 that were supplied to the
Company by others. The lawsuit sought monetary damages in the amount of approximately $50 million. On
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February 14, 2013, the jury returned a verdict in favor of AIH and awarded damages in the amount of
approximately $36.1 million, and judgment was entered on the jury�s verdict. As a result, the Company recorded a
$36.1 million charge to selling, general and administrative expenses in 2012. The Company disputes this outcome
and filed a post-trial motion challenging the verdict alleging various errors that occurred during trial. The
Company received letters from its insurers confirming insurance coverage of the matter and recorded a receivable
in the quarter ended March 31, 2013 in an amount equal to the previously recorded liability. AIH also filed a
post-trial motion asking the court to award additional amounts to AIH, including prejudgment and post-judgment
interest. The Court denied the Company�s post-trial motion on June 28, 2013 and granted in part AIH�s motion,
awarding prejudgment interest in the amount of $3.9 million and ordering post-judgment interest to accrue on the
entire judgment at 8% per annum. In the quarter ended June 30, 2013, the Company received letters from its
insurers confirming insurance coverage of all prejudgment and post-judgment interest related to the matter. Final
judgment was entered by the court

8
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on July 16, 2013, and the Company is appealing the judgment. As of March 31, 2014, the Company recorded a
liability and a corresponding receivable in the amount of $7.1 million for all prejudgment and post-judgment
interest accrued in connection with this matter. The judgment may increase or decrease based on the outcome of
the appellate proceedings that cannot be predicted with certainty.

9
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RISK FACTORS

The terms of the Exchange Notes are identical in all material respects to those of the Original Notes, except for the
transfer restrictions and registration rights and related special interest provisions relating to the Original Notes that
will not apply to the Exchange Notes. You should carefully consider the risks described below and all of the
information contained in and incorporated by reference into this prospectus before making a decision on whether or
not to participate in the Exchange Offer. In addition, you should carefully consider, among other things, the matters
discussed under �Risk Factors� in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2013. If
any of those risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition and results of operations could suffer. The risks
discussed below also include forward-looking statements, and our actual results may differ substantially from those
discussed in these forward-looking statements. See �Disclosure Regarding Forward-looking Statements� in this
prospectus.

Risks Related to our Indebtedness and the Notes

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and our ability to obtain financing in the future and to react to changes in our business.

As of March 31, 2014, we had $1,676.4 million aggregate principal amount of par value debt outstanding. We also
would have had $447.0 million of undrawn availability (which excludes approximately $26.0 million of outstanding
letters of credit) under the Revolving Credit Facility, $21.9 million of undrawn availability under the Securitization
Facility and $40.5 million of undrawn availability under foreign lines of credit, subject to borrowing base limitations.

Our significant amount of debt could limit our ability to satisfy our obligations, limit our ability to operate our
business and impair our competitive position.

For example, it could:

� make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations under the Notes and other outstanding debt;

� reduce the amount of funds available to finance our operations, capital expenditures and other activities;

� increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and general industry conditions, including interest rate
fluctuations, because a portion of our borrowings are and will continue to be at variable rates of interest;

� require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our debt, which
would reduce the availability of our cash flow from operations to fund working capital, capital expenditures
or other general corporate purposes;

� limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry;

Edgar Filing: WESCO INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 424B3

Table of Contents 24



� place us at a disadvantage compared to competitors that may have proportionately less debt;

� limit our ability to obtain additional debt or equity financing due to applicable financial and restrictive
covenants in our debt agreements; and

� increase our cost of borrowing.
The Notes do not impose any limitations on our ability to incur additional debt or protect against certain other
types of transactions.

The indenture that governs the Notes does not restrict the future incurrence of unsecured indebtedness, guarantees or
other obligations. In addition, the indenture governing the Notes does not contain many other restrictions, including,
without limitation, limitations on investments or prepaying subordinated indebtedness or engaging in transactions with
our affiliates.

10
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As of March 31, 2014, we were able to incur an additional $447.0 million of indebtedness under the Revolving Credit
Facility (which excludes approximately $26.0 million of outstanding letters of credit), and $21.9 million of
indebtedness under the Securitization Facility. If we or WESCO International incur additional debt, the risks
associated with our substantial leverage and the ability to service such debt would increase.

The Term Loan Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility impose significant operating and financial restrictions
on us and our subsidiaries, which may prevent us from capitalizing on business opportunities.

The Term Loan Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility impose significant operating and financial restrictions on
us. These restrictions limit our ability, among other things, to:

� incur, assume or permit to exist additional indebtedness (including guarantees thereof);

� pay dividends or certain other distributions on our common stock or repurchase our common stock or prepay
subordinated indebtedness;

� incur liens on assets;

� make certain investments or other restricted payments;

� allow to exist certain restrictions on the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other
payments to us;

� engage in transactions with affiliates;

� sell certain assets or merge or consolidate with or into other companies; and

� alter the business that we conduct.
As a result of these covenants and restrictions, we will be limited in how we conduct our business and we may be
unable to raise additional debt or equity financing to compete effectively or to take advantage of new business
opportunities. The terms of any future indebtedness we may incur could include more restrictive covenants. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain compliance with these covenants in the future and, if we fail to do
so, that we will be able to obtain waivers from the lenders and/or amend the covenants.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness, including the Notes, and may be
forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on or to refinance our debt obligations depends on our financial condition
and operating performance, which is subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain
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financial, business and other factors beyond our control. We cannot assure you that we will maintain a level of cash
flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our
indebtedness, including the Notes. If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service
obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures, or to sell assets, seek
additional capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness, including the Notes. These alternative measures may
not be successful and may not permit us to meet our scheduled debt service obligations. If our operating results and
available cash are insufficient to meet our debt service obligations, we could face substantial liquidity problems and
might be required to dispose of material assets or operations to meet our debt service and other obligations. We may
not be able to consummate those dispositions or to obtain the proceeds that we could realize from them, and these
proceeds may not be adequate to meet any debt service obligations then due. Any future refinancing of our
indebtedness could be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants which could
further restrict our business operations. Additionally, the Term Loan Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility will
limit, the use of the proceeds from any disposition; as a result, we may not be allowed, under these documents, to use
proceeds from such dispositions to satisfy all current debt service obligations.

11
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Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our indebtedness service
obligations to increase significantly.

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, Term Loan and Securitization Facility are at variable rates of interest
and expose us to interest rate risk. If interest rates increase, our debt service obligations on the variable rate
indebtedness would increase even though the amount borrowed remained the same, and our net income and cash
flows, including cash available for servicing our indebtedness, would correspondingly decrease. Assuming all
revolving debt facilities were fully drawn, one percentage point change in interest rates would result in a $12.9 million
change in annual cash interest expense.

Repayment of our indebtedness, including the Notes, is dependent on cash flow generated by our subsidiaries.

Repayment of the Notes will be dependent upon cash flow generated by our subsidiaries and their ability to make such
cash available to us, by dividend, debt repayment or otherwise. Our subsidiaries do not have any obligation to pay
amounts due on the Notes or to make funds available for that purpose. Our subsidiaries may not be able to, or be
permitted to, make distributions to enable us to make payments in respect of our indebtedness, including the Notes.
Each of our subsidiaries is a distinct legal entity and, under certain circumstances, legal and contractual restrictions
may limit our ability to obtain cash from our subsidiaries. While the indenture governing the Notes limits the ability of
our subsidiaries to restrict the payment of dividends or make other intercompany payments to us, these limitations are
subject to certain qualifications and exceptions. In the event that we do not receive distributions from our subsidiaries,
we may be unable to make required principal and interest payments on our indebtedness, including the Notes.

Your right to receive payments on the Notes is effectively junior to those lenders who have a security interest in our
assets.

Our obligations under the Notes and our guarantor�s obligations under its guarantee of the Notes are unsecured, but our
obligations under the Term Loan Facility, the Revolving Credit Facility and the Securitization Facility are secured by
a security interest in substantially all of our domestic tangible and intangible assets, including the stock of most of our
wholly-owned U.S. subsidiaries and the stock of certain of our non-U.S. subsidiaries. If we are declared bankrupt or
insolvent, or if we default under the Term Loan Facility, the Revolving Credit Facility or the Securitization Facility,
the lenders could declare all of the funds borrowed thereunder, together with accrued interest, immediately due and
payable. If we were unable to repay such indebtedness, the lenders could foreclose on the pledged assets to the
exclusion of holders of the Notes, even if an event of default exists under the indenture governing the Notes offered
hereby at such time. Furthermore, if the lenders foreclose and sell the pledged equity interests in any subsidiary
guarantor under the Notes, then that guarantor will be released from its guarantee of the Notes automatically and
immediately upon such sale. In any such event, because the Notes will not be secured by any of our assets or the
equity interests in subsidiary guarantors, it is possible that there would be no assets remaining from which your claims
could be satisfied or, if any assets remained, they might be insufficient to satisfy your claims fully.

U.S. federal and state statutes allow courts, under specific circumstances, to void the Notes, subordinate claims in
respect of the Notes and require noteholders to return payments received from us.

If we become a debtor in a case under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or encounter other financial difficulty, under federal
or state fraudulent transfer law, a court may void, subordinate or otherwise decline to enforce the Notes. A court might
do so if it is found that when we issued the Notes, or in some states when payments became due under the Notes, we
received less than reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration and either:
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� were insolvent or rendered insolvent by reason of such incurrence;

� were left with inadequate capital to conduct our business; or

� believed or reasonably should have believed that we would incur debts beyond our ability to pay.
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The court might also void an issuance of the Notes without regard to the above factors, if the court found that we
issued the Notes with actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud our creditors. A court would likely find that we did not
receive reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration for the Notes, if we did not substantially benefit directly or
indirectly from the issuance of the Notes. If a court were to void the issuance of the Notes you would no longer have
any claim against us. Sufficient funds to repay the Notes may not be available from other sources. In addition, the
court might direct you to repay any amounts that you already received from us.

The measures of insolvency for purposes of these fraudulent transfer laws will vary depending upon the law applied in
any proceeding to determine whether a fraudulent transfer has occurred. Generally, however, we would be considered
insolvent if:

� the sum of our debts, including contingent liabilities, was greater than the fair saleable value of all of our
assets;

� if the present fair saleable value of our assets was less than the amount that would be required to pay our
probable liability on our existing debts, including contingent liabilities, as they become absolute and mature;
or

� we could not pay our debts as they become due.
On the basis of historical financial information, recent operating history and other factors, we believe that we are not
insolvent, do not have unreasonably small capital for the business in which we are engaged and will not have incurred
debts beyond our ability to pay such debts as they mature. We cannot assure you, however, as to what standard a court
would apply in making these determinations or that a court would agree with our conclusions in this regard.

None of our subsidiaries will guarantee the Notes, and the assets and revenue of our non-guarantor subsidiaries
may not be available to make payments on the Notes.

None of our subsidiaries will be required to guarantee the Notes on the issue date. In the event that any non-guarantor
subsidiary becomes insolvent, liquidates, reorganizes, dissolves or otherwise winds up, holders of its indebtedness and
its trade creditors generally will be entitled to payment on their claims from the assets of that subsidiary before any of
those assets are made available to us. Consequently, your claims in respect of the Notes will be structurally
subordinated to all of the liabilities of our non-guarantor subsidiaries, including trade payables, and any claims of third
party holders of preferred equity interests, if any, in our non-guarantor subsidiaries. For the twelve months ended
December 31, 2013, our subsidiaries, which will not guarantee the Notes, represented approximately 55% and 64% of
our total revenues and EBITDA, respectively. In addition, these non-guarantor subsidiaries represented approximately
81% and 44% of our total assets and total liabilities, respectively, as of March 31, 2014 (excluding, in each case,
intercompany amounts).

We may not be able to repurchase the Notes upon a change of control or pursuant to an asset sale offer.

Upon a change of control, as defined under the indenture governing the Notes, the holders of the Notes will have the
right to require us to offer to purchase all of the Notes then outstanding at a price equal to 101% of their principal
amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. In order to obtain sufficient funds to pay the purchase price of the
outstanding Notes, we expect that we would have to refinance the Notes. We cannot assure you that we would be able
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to refinance the Notes on reasonable terms, if at all. Our failure to offer to purchase all outstanding Notes or to
purchase all validly tendered Notes would be an event of default under the indenture. Such an event of default may
cause the acceleration of our other debt. Our other debt also may contain restrictions on repayment requirements with
respect to specified events or transactions that constitute a change of control under the indenture.

In addition, in certain circumstances specified in the indenture governing the Notes, we will be required to commence
an asset sale offer, as defined in the indenture, pursuant to which we will be obligated to purchase the
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applicable Notes at a price equal to 100% of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. Our other debt
may contain restrictions that would limit or prohibit us from completing any such asset sale offer. Our failure to
purchase any such Notes when required under the indenture would be an event of default under the indenture.

Holders of the Notes may not be able to determine when a change of control giving rise to their right to have the
Notes repurchased has occurred following a sale of �substantially all� of our assets.

The definition of change of control in the indenture governing the Notes will include a phrase relating to the sale of �all
or substantially all� of our assets. There is no precise established definition of the phrase �substantially all� under
applicable law. Accordingly, the ability of a holder of Notes to require us to repurchase its Notes as a result of a sale
of less than all our assets to another person may be uncertain.

Many of the covenants in the indenture governing the Notes will cease to apply from and after the first date when
the Notes are rated investment grade by Moody�s and Standard & Poor�s, provided no default has occurred and is
continuing.

Many of the covenants contained in the indenture governing the Notes will cease to apply from and after the first date
when the Notes receive an investment grade rating from Moody�s and Standard & Poor�s, provided no default has
occurred and is then continuing. There can be no assurance that the Notes, if they are rated investment grade, will
maintain such ratings. Termination of these covenants will allow us to engage in certain actions that would not have
been permitted were these covenants in force. Upon termination, these covenants will no longer apply even if the
Notes are subsequently downgraded below investment grade. See �Description of Notes�Certain Covenants�Termination
of Covenants when Notes Rated Investment Grade.�

Our credit ratings may not reflect all risks associated with an investment in the Notes.

Credit rating agencies rate our debt securities on factors that include our results of operations, actions that we take,
their view of the general outlook for our industry and their view of the general outlook for the economy. Actions taken
by the rating agencies can include maintaining, upgrading, or downgrading the current rating or placing us on a watch
list for possible future downgrading. Downgrading the credit rating of our debt securities or placing us on a watch list
for possible future downgrading would likely increase our cost of financing, limit our access to the capital markets and
have an adverse effect on the market price of our securities, including the Notes offered hereby.

An active trading market may not develop for the Exchange Notes and, as a result, you may not be able to resell
them.

Prior to this Exchange Offer, there has been no public market for the Exchange Notes. The Exchange Notes are a new
class of securities that have never been traded. We cannot assure you that an active trading market for the Exchange
Notes will develop or, if one does develop, that it will be sustained. Also, it is possible that the market for the
Exchange Notes will be volatile. This volatility in price may affect your ability to resell your Exchange Notes or the
timing of their sale.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The Exchange Offer is intended to satisfy our obligations under the registration rights agreement relating to the
Original Notes. We will not receive any cash proceeds from the issuance of the Exchange Notes. The terms of the
Exchange Notes are identical in all material respects to the form and terms of the Original Notes, except for the
transfer restrictions and registration rights and related special interest provisions relating to the Original Notes. In
consideration for issuing the Exchange Notes as contemplated in this prospectus, we will receive, in exchange, an
equal principal amount of the Original Notes. The Original Notes surrendered in exchange for the Exchange Notes
will be retired and cannot be reissued.
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RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

(Dollars in millions)

Three
Months
Ended

March 31, Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Earnings from continuing operations before
income taxes $ 72.3 $ 379.9 $ 281.6 $ 279.3 $ 157.6 $ 137.2
Fixed charges 25.8 105.6 64.5 69.6 72.7 69.2
Income from equity method investees �  �  �  �  (4.3) (5.0) 
Dividend from equity method investees �  �  �  �  6.0 8.1

Total earnings $ 98.1 $ 485.5 $ 346.1 $ 348.9 $ 232.0 $ 209.5

Fixed charges:
Interest expense(1) $ 20.7 $ 85.6 $ 47.8 $ 53.6 $ 57.6 $ 53.8
Estimated interest component of rental expense 5.1 20.0 16.7 16.0 15.1 15.4

Total fixed charges $ 25.8 $ 105.6 $ 64.5 $ 69.6 $ 72.7 $ 69.2

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 3.8x 4.6x 5.4x 5.0x 3.2x 3.0x

(1) Includes interest expense on all third-party indebtedness and interest related to uncertain tax benefits.
The ratio of earnings to fixed charges was computed by dividing earnings by fixed charges for the periods indicated
where earnings consists of (1) earnings from continuing operations before income taxes, plus (2) fixed charges and
dividend from equity method investees, less (3) income from equity method investees. Fixed charges consist of
(a) interest, whether expensed or capitalized, on all indebtedness, including amortization of premiums, discounts and
capitalized expenses related to indebtedness, and (b) an interest component representing the estimated portion of
rental expense that management believes is attributable to interest.
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THE EXCHANGE OFFER

Purpose of the Exchange Offer

In connection with the offer and sale of the Original Notes, we entered into a registration rights agreement with the
initial purchasers of the Original Notes. We are making the Exchange Offer to satisfy our obligations under the
registration rights agreement.

Terms of the Exchange Offer

We are offering to exchange, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus and in the
accompanying letter of transmittal, Exchange Notes for an equal principal amount of Original Notes. The terms of the
Exchange Notes are identical in all material respects to those of the Original Notes, except for the transfer restrictions
and registration rights and related special interest provisions relating to the Original Notes that will not apply to the
Exchange Notes. The Exchange Notes will be of the same class as the Original Notes. The Exchange Notes will be
entitled to the benefits of the indenture under which the Exchange Notes, and the Original Notes, were issued. See
�Description of Notes.�

The Exchange Offer is not conditioned upon any minimum aggregate principal amount of Original Notes being
tendered or accepted for exchange. As of the date of this prospectus, $500,000,000 aggregate principal amount of
Original Notes was outstanding. Original Notes tendered in the Exchange Offer must be in minimum denominations
of $2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof.

Based on certain interpretive letters issued by the staff of the SEC to third parties in unrelated transactions, holders of
Original Notes, except any holder who is an �affiliate� of ours within the meaning of Rule 405 under the Securities Act,
who exchange their Original Notes for Exchange Notes pursuant to the Exchange Offer generally may offer the
Exchange Notes for resale, resell the Exchange Notes and otherwise transfer the Exchange Notes without compliance
with the registration and prospectus delivery provisions of the Securities Act, provided that the Exchange Notes are
acquired in the ordinary course of the holders� business and such holders are not participating in, and have no
arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in, a distribution of the Exchange Notes.

Each broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes for its own account in exchange for Original Notes, where the
Original Notes were acquired by the broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities,
must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of the Exchange Notes as described
in �Plan of Distribution.� In addition, to comply with the securities laws of individual jurisdictions, if applicable, the
Exchange Notes may not be offered or sold unless they have been registered or qualified for sale in the jurisdiction or
an exemption from registration or qualification is available and complied with. We have agreed, pursuant to the
registration rights agreements, to file with the SEC a registration statement (of which this prospectus forms a part)
with respect to the Exchange Notes. If you do not exchange Original Notes for Exchange Notes pursuant to the
Exchange Offer, your Original Notes will continue to be subject to restrictions on transfer.

If any holder of the Original Notes is an affiliate of ours, is engaged in or intends to engage in or has any arrangement
or understanding with any person to participate in the distribution of the Exchange Notes to be acquired in the
Exchange Offer, the holder would not be able to rely on the applicable interpretations of the SEC and would be
required to comply with the registration requirements of the Securities Act, except for resales made pursuant to an
exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirement of the Securities Act and applicable
state securities laws.
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Expiration Date; Extensions; Termination; Amendments

The Exchange Offer expires on the Expiration Date, which is 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on July 17, 2014 unless
we, in our sole discretion, extend the period during which the Exchange Offer is open.
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We reserve the right to extend the Exchange Offer at any time and from time to time prior to the Expiration Date by
giving written notice to U.S. Bank National Association, the exchange agent, and by public announcement
communicated by no later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the next business day following the previously
scheduled Expiration Date, unless otherwise required by applicable law or regulation, by making a release to PR
Newswire or other wire service. During any extension of the Exchange Offer, all Original Notes previously tendered
will remain subject to the Exchange Offer and may be accepted for exchange by us.

The exchange date will promptly follow the Expiration Date. We expressly reserve the right to:

� terminate the Exchange Offer and not accept for exchange any Original Notes for any reason, including if
any of the events set forth under ��Conditions to the Exchange Offer� shall have occurred and shall not have
been waived by us; and

� amend the terms of the Exchange Offer in any manner, whether before or after any tender of the Original
Notes.

If any termination or material amendment occurs, we will notify the exchange agent in writing and will either issue a
press release or give written notice to the holders of the Original Notes as promptly as practicable. Additionally, in the
event of a material amendment or change in the Exchange Offer, which would include any waiver of a material
condition hereof, we will extend the offer period, if necessary, so that at least five business days remain in the
Exchange Offer following notice of the material amendment or change, as applicable.

Unless we terminate the Exchange Offer prior to 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date, we will
exchange the Exchange Notes for the tendered Original Notes promptly after the Expiration Date, and will issue to the
exchange agent Exchange Notes for Original Notes validly tendered, not withdrawn and accepted for exchange. Any
Original Notes not accepted for exchange for any reason will be returned without expense to the tendering holder
promptly after expiration or termination of the Exchange Offer. See ��Acceptance of Original Notes for Exchange;
Delivery of Exchange Notes.�

This prospectus and the accompanying letter of transmittal and other relevant materials will be mailed by us to record
holders of Original Notes and will be furnished to brokers, banks and similar persons whose names, or the names of
whose nominees, appear on the lists of holders for subsequent transmittal to beneficial owners of Original Notes.

Procedures for Tendering Original Notes

To participate in the Exchange Offer, you must properly tender your Original Notes to the exchange agent as
described below. We will only issue the Exchange Notes in exchange for the Original Notes that you timely and
properly tender. Therefore, you should allow sufficient time to ensure timely delivery of the Original Notes, and you
should follow carefully the instructions on how to tender your Original Notes. It is your responsibility to properly
tender your Original Notes. No letter of transmittal or other document should be sent to us. Beneficial owners may
request their respective brokers, dealers, commercial banks, trust companies or nominees to effect the above
transactions for them.

If you have any questions or need help in exchanging your Original Notes, please contact the exchange agent at the
address or telephone numbers set forth below.
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All of the Original Notes were issued in book-entry form, and all of the Original Notes are currently represented by
global certificates registered in the name of Cede & Co., the nominee of DTC. You may tender your Original Notes
using ATOP. The exchange agent will make a request to establish an account with respect to the Original Notes at
DTC for purposes of the Exchange Offer within two business days after this prospectus is mailed to holders, and any
financial institution that is a participant in DTC may make book-entry delivery of Original Notes by causing DTC to
transfer the Original Notes into the exchange agent�s account at DTC in
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accordance with DTC�s procedures for transfer. In connection with the transfer, DTC will send an �agent�s message� to
the exchange agent. The agent�s message will state that DTC has received instructions from the participant to tender
the Original Notes and that the participant agrees to be bound by the terms of the letter of transmittal.

By using the ATOP procedures to exchange the Original Notes, you will not be required to deliver a letter of
transmittal to the exchange agent. However, you will be bound by its terms just as if you had signed it. The tender of
Original Notes by you pursuant to the procedures set forth in this prospectus will constitute an agreement between you
and us in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus and in the letter of
transmittal.

All questions as to the validity, form, eligibility, including time of receipt, and acceptance for exchange of any tender
of Original Notes will be determined by us and will be final and binding. We reserve the absolute right to reject any or
all tenders not in proper form or the acceptances for exchange of which may, upon advice of our counsel, be unlawful.
We also reserve the right to waive any defect, irregularities or conditions of tender as to particular Original Notes. Our
interpretation of the terms and conditions of the exchange offer, including the instructions in the letter of transmittal,
will be final and binding on all parties. Unless waived, all defects or irregularities in connection with tenders of the
Original Notes must be cured within such time as we shall determine. Although we intend to notify holders of defects
or irregularities with respect to tenders of the Original Notes, neither we, the exchange agent nor any other person will
incur any liability for failure to give such notification. Tenders of the Original Notes will not be deemed made until
such defects or irregularities have been cured or waived. Any Original Notes received by the exchange agent that are
not properly tendered and as to which the defects or irregularities have not been cured or waived will be returned to
the tendering holder as soon as practicable after the Expiration Date of the Exchange Offer.

In all cases, we will issue the Exchange Notes for the Original Notes that we have accepted for exchange under the
Exchange Offer only after the exchange agent receives, prior to the Expiration Date: a book-entry confirmation of
such number of the Original Notes into the exchange agent�s account at DTC and a properly transmitted agent�s
message.

If we do not accept any tendered Original Notes for exchange or if the Original Notes are submitted for a greater
principal amount than the holder desires to exchange, the unaccepted or non-exchanged Original Notes will be
returned without expense to their tendering holder. Such non-exchanged Original Notes will be credited to an account
maintained with DTC. These actions will occur as promptly as practicable after the expiration or termination of the
Exchange Offer.

Each broker-dealer that receives the Exchange Notes for its own account in exchange for the Original Notes, where
those Original Notes were acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading
activities, must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of those Exchange Notes.
See �Plan of Distribution.�

Terms and Conditions Contained in the Letter of Transmittal

The accompanying letter of transmittal contains, among other things, the following terms and conditions, which are
part of the Exchange Offer.

The transferring party tendering Original Notes for exchange will be deemed to have exchanged, assigned and
transferred the Original Notes to us and irrevocably constituted and appointed the exchange agent as the transferor�s
agent and attorney-in-fact to cause the Original Notes to be assigned, transferred and exchanged. The transferor will
be required to represent and warrant that it has full power and authority to tender, exchange, assign and transfer the
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when the same are accepted for exchange, we will acquire good and unencumbered title to the tendered Original
Notes, free and clear of all liens, restrictions (other than restrictions on transfer), charges
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and encumbrances and that the tendered Original Notes are not and will not be subject to any adverse claim. The
transferor will be required to also agree that it will, upon request, execute and deliver any additional documents
deemed by the exchange agent or us to be necessary or desirable to complete the exchange, assignment and transfer of
tendered Original Notes. The transferor will be required to agree that acceptance of any tendered Original Notes by us
and the issuance of Exchange Notes in exchange for tendered Original Notes will constitute performance in full by us
of our obligations under the registration rights agreements and that we will have no further obligations or liabilities
under the registration rights agreements, except in certain limited circumstances. All authority conferred by the
transferor will survive the death, bankruptcy or incapacity of the transferor and every obligation of the transferor will
be binding upon the heirs, legal representatives, successors, assigns, executors, administrators and trustees in
bankruptcy of the transferor.

Upon agreement to the terms of the letter of transmittal pursuant to an agent�s message, a holder, or beneficial holder
of the Original Notes on behalf of which the holder has tendered, will, subject to that holder�s ability to withdraw its
tender, and subject to the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer generally, thereby certify that:

� it is not an affiliate of ours or our subsidiaries or, if the transferor is an affiliate of ours or our subsidiaries, it
will comply with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act to the extent
applicable;

� the Exchange Notes are being acquired in the ordinary course of business of the person receiving the
Exchange Notes, whether or not the person is the registered holder;

� the transferor has not entered into, engaged in, does not intend to engage in, and has no arrangement or
understanding with any other person to engage in a distribution of the Exchange Notes issued to the
transferor;

� the transferor is not a broker-dealer who purchased the Original Notes for resale pursuant to an exemption
under the Securities Act tendering Original Notes acquired directly from the Company for the transferor�s
own account; and

� the transferor is not restricted by any law or policy of the SEC from trading the Exchange Notes acquired in
the Exchange Offer.

Each broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes for its own account in exchange for Original Notes where such
Original Notes were acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities
must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of such Exchange Notes. See �Plan of
Distribution.�

Withdrawal Rights

Original Notes tendered pursuant to the Exchange Offer may be withdrawn at any time prior to the Expiration Date.

Edgar Filing: WESCO INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 424B3

Table of Contents 41



For a withdrawal to be effective, a written letter or facsimile transmission notice of withdrawal must be received by
the exchange agent at its address set forth in the accompanying letter of transmittal not later than 9:00 a.m., New York
City time, on the Expiration Date. Any notice of withdrawal must specify the name and number of the account at DTC
to be credited with withdrawn Original Notes and otherwise comply with the ATOP procedures. The exchange agent
will return properly withdrawn Original Notes promptly following receipt of notice of withdrawal. Properly
withdrawn Original Notes may be retendered by following the procedures described under ��Procedures for Tendering
Original Notes� at any time on or prior to 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the Expiration Date. All questions as to
the validity of notices of withdrawals, including time of receipt, will be determined by us, and will be final and
binding on all parties.
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Acceptance of Original Notes for Exchange; Delivery of Exchange Notes

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Exchange Offer, the acceptance for exchange of Original Notes
validly tendered and not validly withdrawn and the issuance of the Exchange Notes will be made on the exchange
date. For purposes of the Exchange Offer, we will be deemed to have accepted for exchange validly tendered Original
Notes when and if we have given written notice to the exchange agent. The Original Notes surrendered in exchange
for the Exchange Notes will be retired and cannot be reissued.

The exchange agent will act as agent for the tendering holders of each series of Original Notes for the purposes of
receiving corresponding series of Exchange Notes from us and causing the Original Notes to be assigned, transferred
and exchanged. Original Notes tendered by book-entry transfer into the exchange agent�s account at DTC pursuant to
the procedures described above will be credited to an account maintained by the holder with DTC for the Original
Notes, promptly after withdrawal, rejection of tender or termination of the Exchange Offer.

Conditions to the Exchange Offer

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Exchange Offer, or any extension of the Exchange Offer, we will not be
required to issue Exchange Notes in exchange for any properly tendered Original Notes not previously accepted and
may terminate the Exchange Offer by oral or written notice to the exchange agent and by timely public announcement
communicated, unless otherwise required by applicable law or regulation, to PR Newswire or other wire service, or, at
our option, modify or otherwise amend the Exchange Offer, if, in our reasonable determination:

� there is threatened, instituted or pending any action or proceeding before, or any injunction, order or decree
shall have been issued by, any court or governmental agency or other governmental regulatory or
administrative agency or of the SEC;

� seeking to restrain or prohibit the making or consummation of the Exchange Offer;

� assessing or seeking any damages as a result thereof;

� resulting in a material delay in our ability to accept for exchange or exchange some or all of the Original
Notes pursuant to the Exchange Offer; or

� the Exchange Offer violates any applicable law or any applicable interpretation of the staff of the SEC.
These conditions are for our sole benefit and may be asserted by us with respect to all or any portion of the Exchange
Offer regardless of the circumstances, including any action or inaction by us, giving rise to the condition or may be
waived by us in whole or in part at any time or from time to time in our sole discretion. The failure by us at any time
to exercise any of the foregoing rights will not be deemed a waiver of any right, and each right will be deemed an
ongoing right that may be asserted at any time or from time to time. We reserve the right, notwithstanding the
satisfaction of these conditions, to terminate or amend the Exchange Offer.

Edgar Filing: WESCO INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 424B3

Table of Contents 43



In addition, we reserve the right to take any action with respect to the Exchange Offer for one series of Original Notes
(including, without limitation, extending, amending, terminating or waiving a condition to the Exchange Offer with
respect to such series) without taking the same action with respect to the Exchange Offer for the other series of
Original Notes.

Any determination by us concerning the fulfillment or non-fulfillment of any conditions will be final and binding
upon all parties.

In addition, we will not accept for exchange any Original Notes tendered, and no Exchange Notes will be issued in
exchange for any Original Notes, if at such time, any stop order has been issued or is threatened with respect to the
registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, or with respect to the qualification of the indenture under
which the Original Notes were issued under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.
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Exchange Agent

U.S. Bank National Association, has been appointed as the exchange agent for the Exchange Offer. Questions relating
to the procedure for tendering, as well as requests for additional copies of this prospectus or the accompanying letter
of transmittal, should be directed to the exchange agent addressed as follows:

By Hand, Overnight Delivery or Mail (Registered

or Certified Mail Recommended):

U. S. Bank National Association

Attn: Specialized Finance

111 Fillmore Avenue

St. Paul, MN 55107-1402

Phone: (800) 934-6802

Fax: (651) 466-7372

Attn: Specialized Finance

Email: cts.specfinance@usbank.com

Originals of all documents sent by facsimile should be promptly sent to the exchange agent by mail, by hand or by
overnight delivery service.

Solicitation of Tenders; Expenses

We have not retained any dealer-manager or similar agent in connection with the Exchange Offer and we will not
make any payments to brokers, dealers or others for soliciting acceptances of the Exchange Offer. We will, however,
pay the exchange agent reasonable and customary fees for its services and will reimburse it for actual and reasonable
out-of-pocket expenses. The expenses to be incurred in connection with the Exchange Offer, including the fees and
expenses of the exchange agent and printing, accounting and legal fees, will be paid by us.

No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representations in connection with the
Exchange Offer other than those contained in this prospectus. If given or made, the information or representations
should not be relied upon as having been authorized by us. Neither the delivery of this prospectus nor any exchange
made in the Exchange Offer will, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in our
affairs since the date of this prospectus or any earlier date as of which information is given in this prospectus.

The Exchange Offer is not being made to, nor will tenders be accepted from or on behalf of, holders of Original Notes
in any jurisdiction in which the making of the Exchange Offer or the acceptance would not be in compliance with the
laws of the jurisdiction. However, we may, at our discretion, take any action as we may deem necessary to make the
Exchange Offer in any jurisdiction.
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Appraisal or Dissenters� Rights

Holders of Original Notes will not have appraisal or dissenters� rights in connection with the Exchange Offer.

Transfer Taxes

If you tender your Original Notes, you will not be obligated to pay any transfer taxes in connection with the Exchange
Offer.

Income Tax Considerations

We advise you to consult your own tax advisers as to your particular circumstances and the effects of any state, local
or foreign tax laws to which you may be subject.
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The discussion in this prospectus is based upon the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
�Code�), and regulations, rulings and judicial decisions thereunder, in each case as in effect on the date of this
prospectus, all of which are subject to change.

The exchange of an Original Note for an Exchange Note will not constitute a taxable exchange. The exchange will not
result in taxable income, gain or loss being recognized by you or by us. Immediately after the exchange, you will have
the same adjusted basis and holding period in each Exchange Note received as you had immediately prior to the
exchange in the corresponding Original Note surrendered. See �Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations� for
more information.

Consequences of Failure to Exchange

As a consequence of the offer or sale of the Original Notes pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not
subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws, holders of Original
Notes who do not exchange Original Notes for Exchange Notes in the Exchange Offer will continue to be subject to
the restrictions on transfer of the Original Notes. In general, the Original Notes may not be offered or sold unless such
offers and sales are registered under the Securities Act, or exempt from, or not subject to, the registration requirements
of the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws.

UPON COMPLETION OF THE EXCHANGE OFFER, DUE TO THE RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER OF
THE ORIGINAL NOTES AND THE ABSENCE OF SIMILAR RESTRICTIONS APPLICABLE TO THE
EXCHANGE NOTES, IT IS HIGHLY LIKELY THAT THE MARKET, IF ANY, FOR ORIGINAL NOTES
WILL BE LESS LIQUID THAN THE MARKET FOR EXCHANGE NOTES. CONSEQUENTLY, HOLDERS
OF ORIGINAL NOTES WHO DO NOT PARTICIPATE IN THE EXCHANGE OFFER COULD
EXPERIENCE SIGNIFICANT DIMINUTION IN THE VALUE OF THEIR ORIGINAL NOTES
COMPARED TO THE VALUE OF THE EXCHANGE NOTES.

23

Edgar Filing: WESCO INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 424B3

Table of Contents 47



Table of Contents

DESCRIPTION OF NOTES

In this section, the words �Company,� �Issuer�, �we,� �us,� �our� or similar references refer only to WESCO Distribution, Inc.,
excluding its subsidiaries. The Original Notes were, and the Exchange Notes will be, issued under an indenture, dated
as of November 26, 2013 (the �Indenture�), among the Company, WESCO International, Inc., as parent guarantor (the
�Parent Guarantor�), and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the �Trustee�). The Exchange Notes will be
identical in all material respects to the Original Notes, except that the Exchange Notes will have been registered under
the Securities Act and will be free of any obligation regarding registration, including the payment of special interest
upon failure to file or have declared effective an Exchange Offer registration statement or to consummate an
Exchange Offer by certain dates.

The statements under this caption relating to the Indenture and the Notes are summaries and are not a complete
description thereof, and where reference is made to particular provisions, such provisions, including the definitions of
certain terms, are qualified in their entirety by reference to all of the provisions of the Indenture and the Notes and
those terms made part of the Indenture by the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the �TIA�). The definitions of
certain capitalized terms used in the following summary are set forth under ��Certain Definitions.� For more information
on how you can obtain a copy of the Indenture, see �Where You Can Find More Information� and �Information We
Incorporate By Reference.�

General

The Original Notes were issued in an aggregate principal amount of $500,000,000. The Company will issue up to
$500,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Exchange Notes. The Company may issue additional Notes (the
�Additional Notes�) under the Indenture. The Notes and any Additional Notes subsequently issued under the Indenture
would be treated as a single class for all purposes of the Indenture, including, without limitation, waivers,
amendments, redemptions and offers to purchase.

The Notes will mature on December 15, 2021. Interest on the Notes will accrue at the rate of 5.375% per annum.
Interest on the Notes will be payable in cash semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year,
commencing on June 15, 2014, to Holders of record on the June 1 or December 1 immediately preceding such interest
payment date. Interest on the Notes will accrue from the most recent date to which interest has been paid or, if no
interest has been paid, from the Issue Date. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprising
twelve 30-day months, and in the case of an incomplete month, the number of days elapsed. The redemption price at
final maturity for the Notes will be 100% of their principal amount.

Principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Notes will be payable at the office or agency of the Issuer
maintained for such purpose in the City and State of New York (the �Paying Agent�) or in the city in the United States
in which the Trustee�s Corporate Trust Office is located or, at the option of the Issuer, payment of interest may be
made by check mailed to the Holders of the Notes at their respective addresses set forth in the register of Holders of
Notes; provided that if any Holder has given wire transfer instructions to the Issuer or the Paying Agent at least 15
days prior to the payment date, all payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest with respect to the Notes held
by such Holder will be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account specified by such Holder.
Until otherwise designated by the Issuer, the Issuer�s office or agency in the City and State of New York will be the
office of the Trustee maintained for such purpose in the City and State of New York. The Issuer may change the
Paying Agent or registrar without prior notice to the Holders, and the Issuer or any of the Subsidiaries may act as a
Paying Agent or registrar.

The Notes will be issued in denominations of $2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess of $2,000.
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Ranking and Guarantee

The Notes will be senior obligations of the Issuer, ranking pari passu in right of payment with all other existing and
future senior obligations of the Issuer, including obligations under other unsubordinated Indebtedness. The Notes will
be effectively subordinated to all existing and future obligations of the Issuer that
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are secured by Liens on any property or assets of the Issuer, including the Senior Secured Credit Facilities, to the
extent of the value of the collateral securing such obligations, and will be structurally subordinated to all liabilities
(including trade payables) of the non-Guarantor Subsidiaries and senior in right of payment to all existing and future
obligations of the Issuer that are, by their terms, subordinated in right of payment to the Notes.

Initially, the Notes will be guaranteed by the Parent Guarantor and not by any of the Parent Guarantor�s or the Issuer�s
Subsidiaries. In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization of any of the non-Guarantor Subsidiaries, such
non-Guarantor Subsidiaries will pay the holders of their debt and their trade creditors before they will be able to
distribute or contribute, as the case may be, any of their assets to the Issuer or the Parent Guarantor. Therefore, the
Notes and the Guarantee of the Parent Guarantor (the �Parent Guarantee�) are effectively subordinated to the liabilities
of the non-Guarantor Subsidiaries. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2013, our subsidiaries, which will not
guarantee the Notes, represented approximately 55% and 64% of our total revenues and EBITDA, respectively. In
addition, these non-guarantor subsidiaries represented approximately 81% and 43% of our total assets and total
liabilities, respectively, as of March 31, 2014 (excluding, in each case, intercompany amounts). See �Risk Factors�None
of our subsidiaries will guarantee the Notes, and the assets and revenue of our non-guarantor subsidiaries may not be
available to make payments on the Notes.� If required by the covenant described under �Certain Covenants�Additional
Note Guarantees,� certain of the Subsidiaries may be required to provide a Guarantee of the Notes in the future.

The Parent Guarantee will be a senior obligation of the Parent Guarantor, ranking pari passu in right of payment with
all other senior obligations of the Parent Guarantor, including obligations under other unsubordinated Indebtedness.
The Parent Guarantee will be effectively subordinated to all existing and future obligations incurred by the Parent
Guarantor that are secured by Liens on any property or assets of the Parent Guarantor, including the Senior Secured
Credit Facilities, to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such obligations, structurally subordinated to all
liabilities (including trade payables) of the non-Guarantor Subsidiaries and senior in right of payment to all existing
and future obligations of the Parent Guarantor that are, by their terms, subordinated in right of payment to the Parent
Guarantee.

As of March 31, 2014, we had $831.5 million aggregate principal amount of Secured Debt outstanding. In addition, as
of the same date we had approximately $447.0 million of availability under the Issuer�s ABL Credit Facility (excluding
approximately $26 million of letters of credit outstanding) and $21.9 million of availability under the Securitization
Facility.

The Parent Guarantor and any future Subsidiary of the Issuer required to provide a Guarantee under the covenant
described under �Certain Covenants�Additional Note Guarantees� will Guarantee the Notes on the terms and conditions
set forth in the Indenture.

A Note Guarantee of a Guarantor (other than clauses (a) and (b) below with respect to a company that is a direct or
indirect parent of the Issuer) will be unconditionally and automatically released and discharged upon any of the
following:

(a) any Transfer (including, without limitation, by way of consolidation or merger) by any Guarantor to any Person
that is not a Guarantor of all or substantially all of the properties and assets of such Guarantor; provided that such
Guarantor is also released from all of its obligations in respect of Indebtedness under each Credit Facility and any
other Indebtedness that gave rise to the obligation to provide such Note Guarantee;

(b) any Transfer directly or indirectly (including, without limitation, by way of consolidation or merger) to any Person
that is not a Guarantor of Equity Interests of a Guarantor or any issuance by a Guarantor of its Equity Interests, such
that such Guarantor ceases to be a Subsidiary; provided that such Guarantor is also released from all of its obligations
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(c) the release of such Guarantor from all obligations of such Guarantor in respect of Indebtedness under each Credit
Facility and any other Indebtedness that gave rise to the obligation to provide such Note Guarantee; or

(d) upon legal defeasance, covenant defeasance or satisfaction and discharge of the Indenture as provided below under
the captions ��Legal Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance� and ��Satisfaction and Discharge.�

No such release and discharge of a Note Guarantee of a Guarantor shall be effective against the Trustee or the Holders
of Notes to which such Note Guarantee relates (i) if an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing under
the Indenture as of the time of such proposed release until such time as such Event of Default is cured and waived
(unless such release is in connection with the sale of the Equity Interests in such Guarantor constituting collateral for a
Credit Facility in connection with the exercise of remedies against such Equity Interests or in connection with a
Transfer permitted by the Indenture if, but for the existence of such Event of Default, such Guarantor would otherwise
be entitled to be released from its Guarantee following the sale of such Equity Interests) and (ii) until the Issuer shall
have delivered to the Trustee an officer�s certificate, upon which the Trustee shall have the right to rely, stating that all
conditions precedent provided for in the Indenture relating to such release and discharge have been complied with and
that such release and discharge is permitted under the Indenture. At the request of the Issuer, and upon being provided
an officer�s certificate, the Trustee shall execute and deliver an instrument evidencing such release.

Optional Redemption

At any time prior to December 15, 2016, the Issuer may on any one or more occasions redeem up to (i) 35% of the
original aggregate principal amount of Notes issued under the Indenture and (ii) all or a portion of any Additional
Notes issued after the Issue Date, upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days� notice, at a redemption price equal to
105.375% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to but excluding
the date of redemption, with an amount of cash no greater than the cash proceeds (net of underwriting discounts and
commissions) of all Equity Offerings since the Issue Date; provided that:

(1) at least 65% (calculated after giving effect to any issuance of Additional Notes) of the aggregate principal amount
of Notes issued under the Indenture (excluding Notes held by the Issuer and its Subsidiaries) remains outstanding
immediately after the occurrence of such redemption; and

(2) the redemption occurs within 180 days of the date of the closing of such Equity Offering.

In addition, prior to December 15, 2016, the Issuer may redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price
equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to but excluding the applicable
redemption date, plus the Make-Whole Premium. The Indenture will provide that with respect to any such redemption
the Issuer will notify the Trustee of the Make-Whole Premium with respect to the Notes promptly after the calculation
and the Trustee will not be responsible for verifying or otherwise for such calculation.

On or after December 15, 2016, the Issuer may on any one or more occasions redeem all or a part of the Notes, upon
not less than 30 nor more than 60 days� notice, at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount)
set forth below, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the Notes redeemed, to but excluding the applicable date
of redemption (subject to the rights of holders of Notes to be redeemed on or after a record date for the payment of
interest to receive interest on the relevant interest payment date), if redeemed during the twelve-month period
beginning on December 15 of the years indicated below:
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2016 104.031%
2017 102.688%
2018 101.344%
2019 and thereafter 100.000%
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Unless the Issuer defaults in the payment of the redemption price, interest will cease to accrue on the Notes or portions
thereof called for redemption on the applicable redemption date. The Issuer may provide in such notice that payment
of the redemption price and performance of the Issuer�s obligations with respect to such redemption may be performed
by another Person.

In addition, the Issuer may acquire Notes by means other than a redemption, whether by tender offer, open market
purchases, negotiated transactions or otherwise, in accordance with applicable securities laws, so long as such
acquisition does not otherwise violate the terms of the Indenture.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the payment of accrued but unpaid interest in connection with the redemption of Notes
is subject to the rights of a Holder of Notes on a record date for the payment of interest whose Notes are to be
redeemed on or after such record date but on or prior to the related interest payment date to receive interest on such
interest payment date.

Selection and Notice Regarding Notes

If less than all of the Notes are to be redeemed at any time, selection of such Notes for redemption will be made by the
Trustee in compliance with the requirements of the principal national securities exchange, if any, on which the Notes
to be redeemed are listed or, if the Notes are not so listed, on a pro rata basis (or, in the case of Notes in global form,
the Notes will be selected for redemption based on DTC�s applicable procedures); provided that no Notes with a
principal amount of $2,000 or less shall be redeemed in part. Notice of redemption shall be mailed by first class mail
at least 30 but not more than 60 days before the redemption date to each Holder of Notes to be redeemed at its
registered address (or to the extent permitted or required by applicable DTC procedures or regulations with respect to
global Notes, sent electronically). If any Note is to be redeemed in part only, the notice of redemption that relates to
such Note shall state the portion of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed. A new Note in principal amount
equal to the unredeemed portion thereof will be issued in the name of the Holder thereof upon cancellation of the
original Note. On and after the redemption date, interest will cease to accrue on such Notes or portions thereof called
for redemption. Redemption amounts shall only be paid upon presentation and surrender of any such Notes to be
redeemed.

Any redemption and notice thereof pursuant to the Indenture may, in the Issuer�s discretion, be subject to the
satisfaction of one or more conditions precedent.

Mandatory Redemption

The Issuer is not required to make any mandatory redemption or sinking fund payments with respect to the Notes.

Repurchase at the Option of Holders

Asset Dispositions

The Parent Guarantor will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, consummate any
Asset Disposition unless:

(1) the Parent Guarantor or such Subsidiary receives consideration at least equal to the fair market value (such fair
market value to be determined in good faith by the Issuer on the date of contractually agreeing to such Asset
Disposition) of the equity or assets subject to such Asset Disposition;
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equivalents, Additional Assets or any combination thereof (collectively, the �Cash Consideration�); and
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(3) within 365 days, including the 365th day, from the later of the date of such Asset Disposition or the receipt of such
Net Available Cash, an amount equal to 100% of the Net Available Cash from such Asset Disposition is applied by
the Parent Guarantor (or such Subsidiary, as the case may be) at its option:

(A) to prepay, repay, redeem or purchase Secured Debt of the Issuer or any Guarantor or Indebtedness of a Wholly
Owned Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor (in each case other than Indebtedness owed to the Issuer or an Affiliate of
the Issuer), provided such prepayment, repayment, redemption or purchase permanently retires, or reduces the related
loan commitment (if any) for, such Indebtedness in an amount equal to the principal amount so prepaid, repaid,
redeemed or purchased;

(B) to acquire Additional Assets or to make any other capital expenditures (provided that this requirement shall be
deemed satisfied if the Parent Guarantor (or such Subsidiary, as the case may be) by the end of such 365-day period
has entered into a binding agreement under which it is contractually committed to acquire Additional Assets and such
acquisition is consummated within the later of the end of such 365-day period or within 180 days from the date on
which such binding agreement is entered into);

(C) to make an offer to the Holders of the Notes (and to holders of other Pari Passu Indebtedness of the Issuer
designated by the Issuer) to purchase Notes (and such other Pari Passu Indebtedness of the Issuer) pursuant to and
subject to the conditions contained in the Indenture, as set forth below (other than with respect to Excess Proceeds and
that such offer may be made at any time prior to the end of such 365-day period), and in the instruments governing
such Pari Passu Indebtedness; and

(D) to the extent of the balance of such Net Available Cash after application in accordance with clauses (A), (B) and
(C), for any purpose permitted by the terms of the Indenture.

Pending application of Net Available Cash pursuant to this covenant, such Net Available Cash shall be applied to
temporarily reduce revolving credit Indebtedness or in any manner not prohibited by the Indenture.

For the purposes of this covenant, the following are deemed to be Cash Consideration:

� any liabilities, as shown on the Parent Guarantor�s or any of its Subsidiaries� most recent balance sheet, of the
Parent Guarantor or such Subsidiary (other than contingent liabilities) that are assumed by the transferee of
any such assets either by operation of law or pursuant to (1) a customary novation agreement that releases
the Parent Guarantor or such Subsidiary from further liability or (2) an assignment agreement that includes,
in lieu of such a release, the agreement of the transferee or its parent company to indemnify and hold
harmless the Issuer or such Subsidiary from and against any loss, liability or cost in respect of such assumed
liability;

� any securities, notes or other obligations received by the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries from
such transferee that are converted by the Parent Guarantor or such Subsidiary into cash or cash equivalents
within 360 days after such Asset Disposition, to the extent of the cash and cash equivalents received in that
conversion; and

�
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any Designated Non-cash Consideration received by the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries in such
Asset Disposition having an aggregate Fair Market Value, taken together with all other Designated Non-cash
Consideration received pursuant to this clause that has at that time not been converted into cash or a cash
equivalent, not to exceed the greater of (x) $100.0 million and (y) 2.0% of Consolidated Total Assets at the
time of the receipt of such Designated Non-cash Consideration (with the fair market value of each item of
Designated Non-cash Consideration being measured at the time received and without giving effect to
subsequent changes in value).

The amount of Net Available Cash not applied or invested as provided above will constitute �Excess Proceeds� (other
than any Net Available Cash remaining after the Issuer has made an offer to purchase Notes pursuant to clause
(C) above). When the aggregate amount of Excess Proceeds equals or exceeds $100.0 million, the Issuer shall make
an offer to purchase Notes (an �Offer�) within ten Business Days thereof, and shall purchase Notes tendered pursuant to
an Offer by the Issuer for the Notes and other Pari Passu Indebtedness that
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contemporaneously requires the purchase, prepayment or redemption of such Indebtedness with the proceeds of sales
of assets at a purchase price of 100% of their principal amount without premium, plus accrued but unpaid interest (or,
in respect of such other Pari Passu Indebtedness, such lesser price, if any, as may be provided for by the terms of such
Pari Passu Indebtedness) to, but excluding, the date such Offer is consummated, in accordance with the procedures
(including prorating in the event of oversubscription) set forth in the Indenture and the terms of such other Pari Passu
Indebtedness. If any Excess Proceeds remain after consummation of an Offer and the contemporaneous offer with
respect to any other Pari Passu Indebtedness contemplated above, the Issuer may use those Excess Proceeds for any
purpose not otherwise prohibited by the Indenture. If the aggregate purchase price of the securities tendered exceeds
the amount of Excess Proceeds, the Issuer shall allocate the Excess Proceeds between such securities on a pro rata
basis and will select the Notes to be purchased on a pro rata basis but in denominations of $2,000 principal amount or
integral multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof. The remainder of the Excess Proceeds allocable to the other Pari Passu
Indebtedness will be repurchased as provided pursuant to the terms of such Indebtedness. Upon completion of such an
Offer to purchase, Excess Proceeds will be deemed to be reset to zero.

The Issuer will comply, to the extent applicable, with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any
other securities laws and regulations thereunder to the extent such laws and regulations are applicable in connection
with the repurchase of Notes pursuant to this covenant. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or
regulations conflict with provisions of this covenant, the Issuer will comply with the applicable securities laws and
regulations and will not be deemed to have breached its obligations under this covenant by virtue of its compliance
with such securities laws or regulations.

Change of Control

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control or, at the Issuer�s option, prior to the consummation of a Change of
Control but after it is publicly announced, the Issuer will make an offer, as described below (the �Change of Control
Offer�), to the Holders of all of the outstanding Notes at an offer price in cash equal to 101% of the principal amount
tendered, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon to, but not including, the purchase date (the �Change of
Control Payment�). Within 30 days following any Change of Control or, at the Issuer�s option, prior to the
consummation of such Change of Control but after the public announcement thereof, the Issuer will mail (or to the
extent permitted or required by applicable DTC procedures or regulations with respect to global Notes, sent
electronically) a notice to each Holder and the Trustee describing the transaction or transactions that constitute the
Change of Control and offering to repurchase Notes on the purchase date specified in such notice (which must be no
earlier than 30 days nor later than 60 days from the date such notice is mailed, other than as required by law) (the
�Change of Control Payment Date�) pursuant to the procedures required by the Indenture and described in such notice.
Such obligation will not continue after a discharge of the Issuer or defeasance from its obligations with respect to the
Notes. See ��Legal Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance.�

On the Change of Control Payment Date, the Issuer will, to the extent lawful:

(1) accept for payment all Notes or portions thereof (in minimum amounts of $2,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000
in excess thereof) properly tendered pursuant to the Change of Control Offer;

(2) deposit with the Paying Agent an amount equal to the Change of Control Payment in respect of all Notes or
portions thereof so tendered; and

(3) deliver or cause to be delivered to the Trustee for cancellation all Notes so accepted together with an officer�s
certificate stating the aggregate principal amount of Notes (or portions thereof) being purchased by the Issuer.
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The Paying Agent will promptly remit to each Holder of Notes so tendered the Change of Control Payment for such
Notes, and the Trustee will promptly authenticate and deliver (or cause to be transferred by book entry) to each Holder
of Notes a new Note equal in principal amount to any unpurchased portion of the Notes
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surrendered, if any; provided that each such new Note will be in a principal amount of $2,000 or an integral multiple
of $1,000 in excess thereof. The Issuer will publicly announce the results of the Change of Control Offer on or as soon
as practicable after the Change of Control Payment Date.

The Issuer will comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any other securities laws and
regulations thereunder to the extent such laws and regulations are applicable in connection with the repurchase of the
Notes as a result of a Change of Control. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict
with provisions of this covenant, the Issuer will comply with the applicable securities laws and regulations and will
not be deemed to have breached its obligations under this covenant by virtue thereof.

If Holders of not less than 90% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes validly tender and do not
withdraw such Notes in a Change of Control Offer and the Issuer, or any other Person making a Change of Control
Offer in lieu of the Issuer as described below, purchases all of the Notes validly tendered and not withdrawn by such
holders, the Issuer will have the right, upon not less than 15 nor more than 30 days� prior notice, given not more than
15 days following such purchase pursuant to the Change of Control Offer described above, to redeem all Notes that
remain outstanding following such purchase at a redemption price in cash equal to the applicable Change of Control
Payment plus, to the extent not included in the Change of Control Payment, accrued and unpaid interest to, but not
including, the date of redemption.

Except as described above with respect to a Change of Control, the Indenture will not contain provisions that permit
the Holders of the Notes to require that the Issuer offer to repurchase the Notes in the event of a takeover,
recapitalization or similar transaction with respect to the Issuer.

The Issuer will not be required to make a Change of Control Offer upon a Change of Control if (1) a third party makes
the Change of Control Offer in the manner, at the times and otherwise in compliance with the requirements set forth in
the Indenture with respect to a Change of Control Offer made by the Issuer and purchases all Notes validly tendered
and not withdrawn under such Change of Control Offer or (2) notice of redemption has been given or will be given
pursuant to the Indenture as described above under the caption ��Optional Redemption� prior to the date the Issuer is
required to send notice of the Change of Control Offer to the Holders of the Notes, unless and until there is a default
in payment of the applicable redemption price. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, a Change
of Control Offer may be made in advance of a Change of Control, conditioned upon the consummation of such
Change of Control, if a definitive agreement is in place for the Change of Control at the time the Change of Control
Offer is made and such Change of Control Offer is otherwise made in compliance with the provisions of this
covenant.

The Senior Secured Credit Facilities contain, and future Indebtedness may contain, prohibitions on the occurrence of
certain events that would constitute a Change of Control or an Asset Disposition or require the repayment or
repurchase of such Indebtedness upon a Change of Control or an Asset Disposition. Moreover, the acceptance by the
Holders of the Issuer�s Change of Control Offer could cause a default under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and/or
such Indebtedness, even if the Change of Control or Asset Disposition itself does not. Finally, the Issuer�s ability to
pay cash to the Holders of Notes following the occurrence of a Change of Control or an Asset Disposition may be
limited by its then-existing financial resources. There can be no assurance that sufficient funds will be available when
necessary to make any required repurchases and there can be no assurance that the Issuer would be able to obtain
financing to make such repurchases. Even if sufficient funds were otherwise available, the terms of the Senior Secured
Credit Facilities do, and future Indebtedness may, prohibit the Issuer�s prepayment of Notes before their scheduled
maturity. Consequently, if the Issuer is not able to prepay amounts due under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and
any such other Indebtedness containing similar restrictions or obtain requisite consents, the Issuer will be unable to
fulfill its repurchase obligations if Holders of Notes exercise their repurchase rights following a Change of Control or
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default under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities and could constitute a default under other Indebtedness.
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The Issuer�s obligation to make a Change of Control Offer upon a Change of Control may deter a third party from
acquiring the Issuer in a transaction that constitutes a Change of Control. The definition of �Change of Control� includes
a phrase relating to the transfer of �all or substantially all� of the assets of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries taken as a
whole. Although there is a limited body of case law interpreting the phrase �substantially all,� there is no precise
established definition of the phrase under applicable law. Accordingly, the ability of a Holder of Notes to require the
Issuer to repurchase its Notes as a result of a transfer of less than all of the assets of the Parent Guarantor and its
Subsidiaries taken as a whole to another Person may be uncertain.

Certain Covenants

Termination of Certain Covenants when Notes Rated Investment Grade

If on any date following the Issue Date (i) the Notes have Investment Grade Ratings from both Rating Agencies and
(ii) no Default has occurred and is continuing under the Indenture (the occurrence of the events described in the
foregoing clauses (i) and (ii) being collectively referred to as a �Covenant Termination Event�), the Parent Guarantor
and its Subsidiaries will not be subject to the following covenants (collectively, the �Terminated Covenants�):

(1) ��Limitations on Restricted Payments�;

(2) ��Repurchase at the Option of Holders�Asset Disposition�;

(3) clause (2) of the covenant described below under the caption ��Limitation on Sale and Leaseback Transactions�; and

(4) ��Additional Note Guarantees.�

In the event that a Covenant Termination Event occurs, the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries will no longer be
subject to the Terminated Covenants, regardless of whether and on any subsequent date one or both Rating Agencies
withdraw their Investment Grade Rating or downgrade the rating assigned to the Notes below an Investment Grade
Rating.

The Trustee shall have no responsibility to monitor any change in the rating of the Notes. There can be no assurance
that the Notes will ever achieve or maintain Investment Grade Ratings.

Limitation on Restricted Payments

The Parent Guarantor will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, make any
Restricted Payment if at the time of such Restricted Payment:

(a) a Default shall have occurred and be continuing or shall occur as a consequence thereof;

(b) after giving effect to such Restricted Payment (including, without limitation, the incurrence of any Indebtedness to
finance such Restricted Payment), the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio would be less than 2.00 to 1.00; or

(c) the amount of such Restricted Payment, when added to the aggregate amount of all other Restricted Payments
made after the Issue Date (other than Restricted Payments made pursuant to clauses (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (g) or (h) of
the next paragraph), exceeds the sum (the �Restricted Payments Basket�) of (without duplication):
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(i) 50% of Consolidated Net Income of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries determined in accordance with
GAAP for the period (taken as one accounting period) commencing on July 1, 2013 to and including the last day of
the fiscal quarter ended immediately prior to the date of such calculation for which consolidated financial statements
are available (or, if such Consolidated Net Income shall be a deficit, minus 100% of such aggregate deficit), plus
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(ii) 100% of the aggregate net cash proceeds and the fair market value, as determined in good faith by the Parent
Guarantor, of property and marketable securities received by the Parent Guarantor from the issuance and sale of
Qualified Equity Interests of the Parent Guarantor after the Issue Date or from the issue or sale of convertible or
exchangeable Disqualified Equity Interests of the Parent Guarantor or convertible or exchangeable debt securities of
the Parent Guarantor, in each case that have been converted into or exchanged for Qualified Equity Interests of the
Parent Guarantor, other than (A) any such proceeds which are used to redeem Notes in accordance with the second
paragraph under ��Optional Redemption� or (B) any such proceeds or assets received from a Subsidiary of the Parent
Guarantor, plus

(iii) the aggregate amount by which Indebtedness incurred by the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries
subsequent to the Issue Date occurs is reduced on the Parent Guarantor�s consolidated balance sheet upon the
conversion or exchange (other than by a Subsidiary of the Parent Guarantor) into Qualified Equity Interests of the
Parent Guarantor (less the amount of any cash, or the fair value of assets, distributed by the Parent Guarantor or any
Subsidiary upon such conversion or exchange), plus

(iv) 50% of any cash dividends or distributions received by the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries after the
Issue Date from any unconsolidated Person, to the extent that such dividends or distributions were not otherwise
included in Consolidated Net Income.

The foregoing provisions will not prohibit:

(a) the payment by the Parent Guarantor of any dividend or the consummation of any redemption within 60 days after
the date of declaration thereof or the giving of the redemption notice, as the case may be, if on the date of declaration
or notice, the dividend or redemption payment would have complied with the provisions of the Indenture;

(b) the repurchase or redemption of any Equity Interests of the Parent Guarantor in exchange for, or out of the
proceeds of the substantially concurrent issuance and sale of, Qualified Equity Interests;

(c) payments by the Parent Guarantor to redeem Equity Interests of the Parent Guarantor held by officers, directors or
employees or former officers, directors or employees (or their transferees, estates or beneficiaries under their estates)
of the Parent Guarantor or its Subsidiaries, upon their death, disability, retirement, severance or termination of
employment or service or other repurchase event pursuant to any management equity plan or stock option plan,
shareholders� agreement or any other management or employee benefit plan or agreement or arrangement; provided
that the aggregate cash consideration paid for all such redemptions shall not exceed (A) $10.0 million in any calendar
year (with unused amounts in any calendar year being permitted to be carried over to succeeding calendar years
subject to a maximum of $20.0 million in any calendar year); plus (B) the amount of any net cash proceeds received
by the Parent Guarantor from the issuance and sale after the Issue Date of Qualified Equity Interests of the Parent
Guarantor to officers, directors or employees of the Parent Guarantor or its Subsidiaries that have not been applied to
the payment of Restricted Payments pursuant to this clause (c), plus (C) the net cash proceeds of any �key-man� life
insurance policies that have not been applied to the payment of Restricted Payments pursuant to this clause (c);
provided, that neither (x) cancellation of Indebtedness owing to the Parent Guarantor from any current or former
officer, director or employee (or any permitted transferees thereof) of the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries
(or any direct or indirect parent company thereof), in connection with a repurchase of Equity Interests of the Parent
Guarantor from such Persons nor (y) any payments or other obligations arising in respect of Equity Interests of the
Parent Guarantor held by officers, directors or employees or former officers, directors or employees (or their
transferees, estates or beneficiaries under their estates) in connection with or resulting from the announcement or
consummation of a Change in Control, will be deemed to constitute a Restricted Payment for purposes of this
covenant or any other provisions of the Indenture;
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Equity Interests represent a portion of the exercise price thereof, or in connection with the withholding of a portion of
the Equity Interests granted or awarded to an employee to pay for the taxes payable by such employee upon such grant
or award or (ii) upon cancellation or forfeiture of stock options, warrants, rights to acquire Equity Interests or other
convertible securities;

(e) Restricted Payments to allow the payment of cash in lieu of the issuance of fractional shares upon (i) the exercise
of options or warrants or (ii) the conversion or exchange of Equity Interests of any Person (including in a merger,
consolidation, amalgamation or similar transaction) and payments of cash to dissenting shareholders in connection
with a merger, consolidation, amalgamation, transfer of assets;

(f) the payment of any dividend (or, in the case of any partnership or limited liability company, any similar
distribution) by a Subsidiary of the Parent Guarantor to the holders of its Equity Interests on a pro rata basis;

(g) Restricted Payments in an amount not to exceed $100.0 million since the Issue Date; and

(h) the repurchase or redemption of common stock or Preferred Stock purchase rights of the Parent Guarantor issued
in connection with any stockholders rights plan; and

(i) other Restricted Payments if, at the time of the making of such payments, and after giving effect thereto (including,
without limitation, the incurrence of any Indebtedness to finance such payment), the Total Leverage Ratio would not
exceed 3.00 to 1.00,

provided that (a) in the case of any Restricted Payment pursuant to clause (g) or (i) above, no Default shall have
occurred and be continuing or occur as a consequence thereof and (b) no issuance and sale of Qualified Equity
Interests that are used to make a payment pursuant to clauses (b) or (c)(B) above shall increase the Restricted
Payments Basket.

For purposes of determining compliance with this �Limitation on Restricted Payments� covenant, in the event that a
payment or other action meets the criteria of more than one of the exceptions described in clauses (a) through
(i) above, or is entitled to be made pursuant to the first paragraph of this covenant, the Issuer will be permitted to
classify such payment or other action on the date of its occurrence in any manner that complies with this covenant.
Payments or other actions permitted by this covenant need not be permitted solely by reference to one provision
permitting such payment or other action, but may be permitted in part by one such provision and in part by one or
more other provisions of this covenant permitting payment or other action.

If the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries makes a Restricted Payment which, at the time of the making of such
Restricted Payment, in the good faith determination of the Parent Guarantor or such Subsidiary, would be permitted
under the requirements of the Indenture, such Restricted Payment shall be deemed to have been made in compliance
with the Indenture notwithstanding any subsequent adjustment made in good faith to the Parent Guarantor�s financial
statements affecting Consolidated Net Income.

Limitation on Liens

The Parent Guarantor will not at any time create, incur, assume or guarantee, and will not cause or permit any of its
Subsidiaries to create, incur, assume or guarantee, any Secured Debt (the �Initial Security Interest�), and the Parent
Guarantor will not at any time create, and will not cause or permit any of its Subsidiaries to create, any Security
Interest securing any Indebtedness existing on the date of the Indenture that would constitute Secured Debt if it were
secured by a Security Interest, without first making effective provision whereby the Notes shall be secured by the
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Security Interest securing such Secured Debt equally and ratably with any and all other obligations and indebtedness
so secured, so long as such other obligations and indebtedness shall be so secured; provided, however, that the
foregoing prohibition will not prevent the creation, incurrence, assumption or guarantee of the following permitted
Security Interests (the �Permitted Security Interests�):

(1) Security Interests on property acquired, constructed, developed or improved after the date of the Indenture by the
Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries and created prior to or contemporaneously with, or within 180 days after
the acquisition, construction, development or improvement of property that is a parcel of real property, a building,
machinery or equipment;
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(2) Security Interests on property at the time of acquisition which secure obligations assumed by the Parent Guarantor
or any of its Subsidiaries, or on the property or on the outstanding shares or Indebtedness of a corporation or firm at
the time it becomes a Subsidiary or is merged into or consolidated with the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries,
or on properties of a corporation or firm acquired by the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries as an entirety or
substantially as an entirety; provided that the Security Interests may not extend to any other property of the Parent
Guarantor or such Subsidiary other than proceeds and products of such property, shares or Indebtedness and
accessions thereto;

(3) Security Interests arising from conditional sales agreements or title retention agreements with respect to property
acquired by the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries;

(4) Security Interests securing Indebtedness of a Subsidiary of the Parent Guarantor owing to the Parent Guarantor or
to another of the Parent Guarantor�s Subsidiaries;

(5) Security Interests (a) to secure obligations under Credit Facilities or (b) in accounts receivable and related assets of
the types specified in the definition of �Qualified Receivables Transaction� incurred in connection with a Qualified
Receivables Transaction, in an aggregate principal amount under clauses (a) and (b) combined not to exceed the
greater of (x) $2,000.0 million and (y) the maximum amount that would not cause the Senior Secured Leverage Ratio
to exceed 3.00 to 1.00 after giving pro forma effect to the incurrence of the obligations to be secured by such Security
Interests and the application of the proceeds therefrom;

(6) Security Interests existing on the Issue Date and extensions, renewals and replacements of any such Security
Interests so long as such Security Interests are not extended to any other property of the Parent Guarantor or any of its
Subsidiaries;

(7) any Security Interest arising by reason of deposits with, or the giving of any form of security to, any governmental
agency or any body created or approved by law or governmental regulations, which is required by law or
governmental regulation as a condition to the transaction of any business, or the exercise of any privilege, franchise or
license;

(8) carriers�, warehousemen�s, mechanics� and other statutory liens arising in the ordinary course of business (including
construction of facilities) in respect of obligations that are not due or that are being contested in good faith;

(9) Security Interests for taxes, assessments or governmental charges not yet delinquent or for taxes, assessments or
governmental charges that are being contested in good faith;

(10) Security Interests (including judgment liens) arising in connection with legal proceedings so long as such
proceedings are being contested in good faith and, in the case of judgment liens, execution thereon is stayed or not
giving rise to an Event of Default;

(11) landlords� liens on fixtures on premises leased in the ordinary course of business;

(12) Security Interests to secure the performance of statutory obligations, insurance, surety or appeal bonds,
performance bonds, or other obligations of a like nature incurred in the ordinary course of business (including
Security Interests to secure letters of credit issued to assure payment of such obligations);

(13) Security Interests on assets of the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries securing Indebtedness consisting of
Hedging Obligations or Treasury Management Arrangements;
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(14) survey exceptions, easements or reservations of, or rights of others for, licenses, rights-of-way, sewers, electric
lines, telegraph and telephone lines and other similar purposes, or zoning or other restrictions as to the use of real
property that were not incurred in connection with Indebtedness and that do not in the aggregate materially impair the
use of said properties in the operation of the business of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries;

(15) Security Interests in favor of customs or revenue authorities arising as a matter of law to secure payment of
customs duties in connection with the importation of goods incurred in the ordinary course of business;
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(16) Security Interests on insurance policies and proceeds thereof, or other deposits, to secure insurance premium
financings;

(17) filing of Uniform Commercial Code financing statements as a precautionary measure in connection with
operating leases;

(18) bankers� liens and rights of setoff;

(19) Security Interests in cash, cash equivalents or other property arising in connection with the defeasance, discharge
or redemption of Indebtedness;

(20) Security Interests on specific items of inventory or other goods (and the proceeds thereof) of the Parent Guarantor
or any of its Subsidiaries securing such Person�s obligations in respect of bankers� acceptances or trade-related letters of
credit issued or created in the ordinary course of business for the account of such Person to facilitate the purchase,
shipment or storage of such inventory or other goods;

(21) grants of intellectual property licenses (including software and other technology licenses) in the ordinary course
of business;

(22) Security Interests incurred or pledges or deposits made in the ordinary course of business in connection with
workers� compensation, unemployment insurance and other types of social security and employee health and disability
benefits (including pledges or deposits securing liability to insurance carriers under insurance or self-insurance
arrangements);

(23) deposits made in the ordinary course of business to secure liability to insurance carriers;

(24) Security Interests to secure partial, progress, advance or other payments or any Indebtedness incurred for the
purpose of financing all or any part of the purchase price or the cost of construction, development, or substantial
repair, alteration or improvement of the property subject to such Security Interests if the commitment for the financing
is obtained not later than 180 days after the later of the completion of or the placing into operation (exclusive of test
and start-up periods) of such property;

(25) options, put and call arrangements, rights of first refusal and similar rights relating to investments in joint
ventures, partnerships and the like; or

(26) other Security Interests securing Indebtedness, in an aggregate principal amount for the Parent Guarantor and its
Subsidiaries, together with the amount of Attributable Indebtedness incurred in connection with Sale and Leaseback
Transactions, not exceeding at the time such Security Interest is created or assumed the greater of (x) $200.0 million
and (y) 4% of Consolidated Total Assets.

Additionally, such permitted Secured Debt includes (with certain limitations) any extension, renewal or refunding, in
whole or in part, of any Secured Debt permitted at the time of the original incurrence thereof.

Any Security Interest created for the benefit of the Holders of the Notes pursuant to this covenant shall provide by its
terms that such Security Interest shall be unconditionally and automatically released and discharged upon the release
and discharge of the Initial Security Interest.
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For purposes of determining compliance with this �Limitation on Liens� covenant, a Security Interest securing an item
of Secured Debt need not be permitted solely by one category of Permitted Security Interest but may be permitted in
part under any combination thereof, and if a Permitted Security Interest meets the criteria or more than one of the
exceptions described in clauses (1) through (26) above, the Parent Guarantor may, in its sole discretion, classify the
Permitted Security Interest in any manner that complies with this covenant.

Limitation on Sale and Leaseback Transactions

The Indenture provides that the Parent Guarantor will not, and may not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, engage in any
Sale and Leaseback Transaction unless:

(1) the Parent Guarantor or such Subsidiary would be entitled to incur Secured Debt pursuant to the covenant
described under the caption �Limitation on Liens� equal in amount to the net proceeds of the
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property sold or transferred or to be sold or to be transferred pursuant to such Sale and Leaseback Transaction and
secured by a Security Interest on the property to be leased, without equally and ratably securing the debt securities
outstanding under the Indenture as provided under said section; or

(2) the Parent Guarantor or such Subsidiary shall apply, within 180 days after the effective date of such sale or
transfer, an amount equal to such net proceeds to (i) the acquisition, construction, development or improvement of
properties, facilities or equipment that are, or upon such acquisition, construction, development or improvement will
be, a Principal Facility or Facilities or a part thereof or (ii) the repurchase or redemption of Notes or to the repayment
or redemption of Indebtedness of the Parent Guarantor or of any of its Subsidiaries, or in part to such acquisition,
construction, development or improvement and in part to such redemption and/or repayment. In lieu of applying an
amount equal to such net proceeds to such repurchase or redemption, the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries
may, within 180 days after such sale or transfer, deliver to the Trustee or any other applicable trustee or comparable
Person, Notes or Indebtedness for cancellation and thereby reduce the amount to be applied to the repurchase or
redemption of such Notes or Indebtedness by an amount equivalent to the aggregate principal amount of Notes or
Indebtedness.

Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Assets

The Indenture provides that (i) the Parent Guarantor will not consolidate or merge with or into any other Person or
Transfer all or substantially all of the properties or assets of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries, taken as a
whole and (ii) the Parent Guarantor will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, in a single transaction or a series of
related transactions, Transfer all or substantially all of the properties or assets of the Parent Guarantor and its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in each case, to, another Person unless:

(1) the Parent Guarantor is the continuing corporation, or the successor is a corporation, limited liability company,
partnership or trust organized and existing under the laws of the United States or a state thereof and the successor
person expressly assumes by a supplemental indenture or amendment of the relevant documents the Parent Guarantor�s
obligations under the Notes, the Indenture and the Registration Rights Agreement; and

(2) after giving effect to the transaction, no Event of Default, and no event which, after notice or lapse of time or both,
would become an Event of Default, shall have occurred or be continuing.

Upon any consolidation, combination or merger of the Parent Guarantor, or any Transfer of all or substantially all of
the assets of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in accordance with the foregoing, in which
the Issuer is not the continuing obligor under the Notes, the surviving entity formed by such consolidation or into
which the Parent Guarantor is merged or to which such Transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the Parent
Guarantor and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, is made, will succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise
every right and power of the Issuer under the Indenture and Notes with the same effect as if such surviving entity had
been named therein as the Issuer and, the Issuer and all of the Guarantors will be released from the obligation to pay
the principal of and interest on such Notes or in respect of its related Note Guarantee, as the case may be, and all of
the Issuer�s or such Guarantor�s other obligations and covenants under such Notes, the Indenture and its related Note
Guarantee, if applicable. The Issuer shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Trustee an officer�s certificate and an
Opinion of Counsel, each to the effect that such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, assignment, transfer, lease or
other disposition complies with the requirements of the Indenture, and an Opinion of Counsel stating that the Notes,
the Indenture and Note Guarantees, as applicable, constitute valid and binding obligations of the Issuer or applicable
Guarantor or other surviving entity, subject to customary exceptions.
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Guarantor�s Subsidiaries. Clause (2) of the first paragraph of this covenant will not apply to (1) any
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merger or consolidation of the Parent Guarantor with or into one of its Subsidiaries for any purpose or (2) any merger
or consolidation of the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries solely for the purpose of reincorporating the Parent
Guarantor or such Subsidiary in another jurisdiction.

Additional Note Guarantees

If, on or after the Issue Date:

(1) the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries acquires or creates another Domestic Subsidiary (other than a Receivables
Entity) that incurs any Indebtedness under Credit Facilities (other than the Senior Secured Credit Facilities) or any
syndicated loan or capital markets debt securities or guarantees any such Indebtedness of the Parent Guarantor or any
of its Domestic Subsidiaries; or

(2) any Domestic Subsidiary (other than a Receivables Entity) of the Issuer incurs Indebtedness under Credit Facilities
(other than the Senior Secured Credit Facilities) or any syndicated loan or capital markets debt securities or guarantees
any such Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Domestic Subsidiaries and that Domestic Subsidiary was not a
Guarantor immediately prior to such incurrence or guarantee (an �Additional Obligor�),

then that newly acquired or created Domestic Subsidiary or Additional Obligor, as the case may be, must become a
Guarantor and execute a supplemental indenture substantially in the form of an exhibit to the Indenture within 30
Business Days of the date on which it was acquired or created or became an Additional Obligor.

In addition, the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an officer�s certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each
stating that such supplemental Indenture complies with the applicable provisions of the Indenture, that all conditions
precedent in the Indenture relating to the entry into such supplemental indenture have been satisfied, and such Opinion
of Counsel shall additionally state that such supplemental indenture is enforceable against the new Guarantor, subject
to customary qualifications.

A Note Guarantee of any Guarantor will be subject to release and discharge as described under the caption ��Ranking
and Guarantee.�

Reports

The Indenture provides that, whether or not required by the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, so long as any Notes are outstanding thereunder, the Issuer will furnish to the Trustee and Holders the
following:

(1) all quarterly and annual financial information required to be filed by the Parent Guarantor with the SEC on Forms
10-Q and 10-K, and, with respect to the annual information only, a report thereon by the Parent Guarantor�s certified
independent accountants; and

(2) all current reports required to be filed by the Parent Guarantor with the SEC on Form 8-K (during any period in
which the Parent Guarantor is not required to file reports with the SEC, such current reports need only be prepared or
delivered if the Parent Guarantor determines in good faith that the information to be reported is material to the Holders
of the Notes or the business, operations, assets, liabilities or financial position of the Parent Guarantor and its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole), in each case, within the time periods specified in the SEC�s rules and regulations,
including any extension as would be permitted by Rule 12b-25 under the Exchange Act (and, during any period in
which the Parent Guarantor is not required to file reports with the SEC, within the time periods specified in the SEC�s
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In addition, whether or not required by the rules and regulations of the SEC, the Parent Guarantor will make all such
information publicly available (including via a non-password protected website) within the time periods specified in
the SEC�s rules and regulations, including any extension as would be permitted by Rule 12b-25
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under the Exchange Act (unless the SEC will not accept such a filing), and make such information available to
Holders of the Notes upon request. In addition, to the extent not satisfied by the foregoing, the Parent Guarantor will,
for so long as any Notes remain outstanding, furnish to the Holders of such Notes and to securities analysts and
prospective investors, upon their request, the information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under
the Securities Act.

Whether the Parent Guarantor files such reports with the SEC or posts its reports on its website, the public filing of
such reports with the SEC or the public posting of such reports shall satisfy any requirement hereunder to deliver such
reports to the Trustee and the Holders. The Parent Guarantor will at all times comply with TIA §314(a). The terms of
the Indenture shall not impose any duty on the Parent Guarantor under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the related
SEC rules that would not otherwise be applicable to it.

Delivery of such reports and information to the Trustee shall be for informational purposes only, and the Trustee�s
receipt of them shall not constitute constructive notice of any information contained therein or determinable from
information contained therein (including the Issuer�s compliance with any of its covenants under the Indenture as to
which the Trustee is entitled to rely exclusively on an officer�s certificate).

No Personal Liability of Directors, Officers, Employees and Stockholders

No director, officer, employee, incorporator or stockholder of the Parent Guarantor or of any Subsidiary of the Parent
Guarantor, as such, shall have any liability for any obligations of the Issuer or the Guarantors under the Notes, the
Indenture, the Note Guarantees or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or their
creation. Each Holder of Notes by accepting a Note waives and releases all such liability. The waiver may not be
effective to waive liabilities under the federal securities laws.

Events of Default and Remedies

The Indenture provides that each of the following constitutes an �Event of Default�:

(1) default for 30 consecutive days in the payment when due of interest with respect to the Notes issued thereunder;

(2) default in payment when due of principal or premium, if any, on the Notes issued thereunder at maturity, upon
redemption or otherwise;

(3) failure by the Issuer for 60 consecutive days after receipt of notice from the Trustee or Holders of at least 25% in
aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding under the Indenture (with a copy to the Trustee) to comply
with the provisions described under �Repurchase at the Option of Holders�Change of Control�;

(4) failure by the Parent Guarantor or any Subsidiary of the Parent Guarantor for 60 consecutive days (120 days with
respect to the covenant described under �Reports�) after receipt of notice from the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25%
in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding under the Indenture (with a copy to the Trustee) to
comply with any covenant or agreement contained in the Indenture (other than the covenants and agreements specified
in clauses (1) through (3) of this paragraph);

(5) default under any mortgage, indenture or instrument under which there may be issued or by which there may be
secured or evidenced any Indebtedness of the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries (other than Indebtedness
owed to the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries), whether such Indebtedness now exists or is created after the
Issue Date, which default (a) is caused by a failure to pay when due at final stated maturity (giving effect to any grace
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with the principal amount of any such Indebtedness under which there has been a Payment Default or the maturity of
which has been so
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accelerated, aggregates $100.0 million or more; and, in each case, the Issuer has received notice specifying the default
from the Trustee or Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of Notes then outstanding (with a copy to
the Trustee) and does not cure the default within 30 days;

(6) failure by the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries to pay final and non-appealable judgments (net of any
amounts covered by insurance and as to which such insurer has not denied responsibility or coverage in writing)
aggregating $100.0 million or more, which judgments are not paid, discharged, bonded, stayed or waived within 60
days after such judgment becomes final, and in the event such judgment is covered in full by insurance, an
enforcement proceeding has been commenced by any creditor upon such judgment or decree which is not promptly
stayed;

(7) certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency with respect to the Parent Guarantor or any Subsidiary that is a
Significant Subsidiary or group of Subsidiaries that, together, would constitute a Significant Subsidiary; and

(8) any Note Guarantee of any Guarantor that is a Significant Subsidiary ceases to be in full force and effect in all
material respects (other than in accordance with the terms of such Note Guarantee and the Indenture) or is declared
null and void and unenforceable or found to be invalid or any Guarantor denies its liability under its Note Guarantee
(other than by reason of release of a Guarantor from its Note Guarantee in accordance with the terms of the Indenture
and such Note Guarantee).

If any Event of Default under an Indenture occurs and is continuing, the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in
aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding under the Indenture may declare all Notes issued under the
Indenture to be due and payable by notice in writing to the Issuer and the Trustee, in the case of notice by Holders,
specifying the respective Event of Default and that it is a �notice of acceleration� and the same shall become
immediately due and payable. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of an Event of Default arising under clause
(7) above with respect to the Parent Guarantor, all outstanding Notes then outstanding under the Indenture will
become due and payable without further action or notice. The Holders of any Notes may not enforce the Indenture
relating to the Notes or the Notes except as provided in the Indenture. Subject to certain limitations, the Holders of a
majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes issued under the Indenture may direct the
Trustee in its exercise of any trust or power.

The Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding under the Indenture, by written
notice to the Trustee, may (subject to certain conditions) on behalf of the Holders of all of the Notes issued under the
Indenture waive any existing Default or Event of Default and its consequences under the Indenture, except a
continuing Default or Event of Default in the payment of interest or premium on, or principal of, such Notes. The
Trustee may withhold from the Holders notice of any continuing Default or Event of Default (except a Default or
Event of Default relating to the payment of principal or interest) if it determines that withholding notice is in the
Holders� interest.

The Issuer is required to deliver to the Trustee annually a statement regarding compliance with the Indenture, and the
Issuer is required, within ten business days after an executive officer of the Issuer becomes aware of any Default or
Event of Default, to deliver to the Trustee a statement specifying such Default or Event of Default.

Satisfaction and Discharge

The Indenture will be discharged and will, subject to certain surviving provisions, cease to be of further effect as to all
Notes issued thereunder when:
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because of mutilation, loss, destruction or wrongful taking) for cancellation; or

(2) all Notes outstanding under the Indenture have become due and payable, whether at maturity or as a result of the
mailing or sending of a notice of redemption as described above, or will become due and payable within one year
(including as result of the mailing or sending of a notice of redemption), and the
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Issuer or any Guarantor irrevocably deposits with the Trustee as funds in trust solely for the benefit of the Holders,
cash in U.S. dollars, noncallable U.S. government securities, or a combination thereof, sufficient to pay at maturity or
upon redemption all Notes outstanding under the Indenture, including interest thereon,

and if in either case the Issuer or any Guarantor pays all other sums payable under the Indenture by it. The Trustee
will acknowledge satisfaction and discharge of the Indenture on demand of the Issuer accompanied by an officer�s
certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, upon which the Trustee shall have no liability in relying, stating that all
conditions precedent to satisfaction and discharge have been complied with and at the cost and expense of the Issuer.

Legal Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance

The Issuer may, at its option and at any time, elect to have all of its obligations and the obligations of the Guarantors
discharged with respect to the Notes outstanding under the Indenture (�Legal Defeasance�), except for:

(1) the rights of the Holders of the Notes outstanding under the Indenture to receive payments in respect of the
principal amount of, premium, if any, and interest on such Notes when such payments are due from the trust referred
to below;

(2) the Issuer�s obligations with respect to the Notes concerning issuing temporary Notes, registration of Notes,
mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Notes and the maintenance of an office or agency for payment and money for
security payments held in trust;

(3) the rights, powers, trusts, duties and immunities of the Trustee, and the Issuer�s obligations in connection therewith;
and

(4) the Legal Defeasance provisions of the Indenture.

In addition, the Issuer may, at its option and at any time, elect to have all of its obligations and the obligations of the
Guarantors released with respect to certain covenants that are described in the Indenture (�Covenant Defeasance�) and
thereafter any omission to comply with such obligations shall not constitute a Default or Event of Default under the
Indenture. In the event Covenant Defeasance occurs under the Indenture, certain events (not including non-payment,
bankruptcy, receivership, rehabilitation and insolvency events) described under the caption ��Events of Default and
Remedies� will no longer constitute an Event of Default under the Indenture.

In order to exercise either Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance under the Indenture:

(1) the Issuer must irrevocably deposit with the Trustee, in trust, for the benefit of the Holders of the Notes issued
under the Indenture, cash in U.S. dollars, non-callable U.S. government securities, or a combination thereof, in such
amounts as will be sufficient, in the opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants (such
opinion shall be delivered to the Trustee and upon which the Trustee shall have no liability in relying), to pay the
principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes outstanding under the Indenture on the stated maturity or on the
applicable optional redemption date, as the case may be, and the Issuer must specify whether such Notes are being
defeased to maturity or to a particular redemption date;

(2) in the case of Legal Defeasance, the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel in the United
States (upon which the Trustee shall have no liability in relying) confirming that (a) the Issuer has received from, or
there has been published by, the Internal Revenue Service a ruling or (b) since the date of the Indenture, there has
been a change in the applicable federal income tax law, in either case to the effect that, and based thereon such
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income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of such Legal Defeasance and will be subject to
federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if
such Legal Defeasance had not occurred;
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(3) in the case of Covenant Defeasance, the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel in the
United States (upon which the Trustee shall have no liability in relying) confirming that the Holders of the Notes
outstanding under the Indenture will not recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of
such Covenant Defeasance and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at
the same times as would have been the case if such Covenant Defeasance had not occurred;

(4) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing on the date of such deposit (other than a
Default or Event of Default resulting from the borrowing of funds to be applied to such deposit) or insofar as Events
of Default from bankruptcy or insolvency events are concerned, at any time in the period ending on the 91st day after
the date of deposit;

(5) such Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance will not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default
under any material agreement or instrument (other than the Indenture) to which the Parent Guarantor or any of its
Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries is bound;

(6) the Issuer must deliver to the Trustee an officer�s certificate (upon which the Trustee shall have no liability in
relying) stating that the deposit was not made by the Issuer with the intent of preferring the Holders of Notes issued
under the Indenture over the other creditors of an Issuer with the intent of defeating, hindering, delaying or defrauding
creditors of the Issuer or others; and

(7) the Issuer must deliver to the Trustee an officer�s certificate and an Opinion of Counsel upon which the Trustee
shall have the right to rely, each stating that all conditions precedent provided for relating to the Legal Defeasance or
the Covenant Defeasance have been complied with.

Transfer and Exchange

A Holder of Notes may transfer or exchange Notes in accordance with the terms of the Indenture and in compliance
with applicable law. The registrar and Trustee may require a Holder of Notes, among other things, to furnish
appropriate endorsements and transfer documents and the Issuer or the Trustee may require a Holder of Notes to pay
any taxes and fees required by law or permitted by the Indenture. The Issuer is not required to transfer or exchange
any Note selected for redemption. Also, the Issuer is not required to transfer or exchange any Note for a period of 15
days before a selection of Notes to be redeemed.

The registered Holder of a Note will be treated as the owner of it for all purposes.

Amendment, Supplement and Waiver

Except to the extent provided in the next three succeeding paragraphs, the Indenture, the Notes governed thereby or
any Note Guarantee issued thereunder may be amended with the consent of the Holders of at least a majority in
aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes issued under the Indenture voting as a single class
(including, without limitation, consents obtained in connection with a purchase of, tender offer or exchange offer for
Notes), and any existing default or compliance with any provision of the Indenture, the Notes governed thereby or any
Note Guarantee issued thereunder may be waived with the consent of the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal
amount of the then outstanding Notes issued under the Indenture voting as a single class (including, without
limitation, consents obtained in connection with a purchase of, tender offer or exchange offer for Notes).

Except as provided in the immediately succeeding paragraph, without the consent of each Holder of Notes issued
under the Indenture affected thereby, however, an amendment or waiver may not (with respect to any Note held by a
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(1) reduce the principal amount of Notes issued under the Indenture whose Holders must consent to an amendment,
supplement or waiver;
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(2) reduce the principal amount of or change the fixed maturity of any Notes, or alter the provisions with respect to the
redemption of any such Notes other than, except as set forth in clause (7) below, the provisions relating to the
covenants described under the caption ��Repurchase at the Option of Holders�;

(3) reduce the rate of or change the time for payment of interest on any such Notes;

(4) waive a Default or Event of Default in the payment of principal of or premium, if any, or interest on any such
Notes (except a rescission of acceleration of Notes by the Holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount
of the then outstanding Notes issued under the Indenture and a waiver of the payment default that resulted from such
acceleration);

(5) make any such Note payable in currency other than that stated in such Note;

(6) make any change to the provisions of the Indenture relating to waiver of past Defaults or the rights of Holders of
the Notes issued thereunder to receive payments of principal of or interest on the Notes;

(7) after the Issuer�s obligation to make an offer to purchase Notes arises thereunder, amend, change or modify in any
material respect the obligations of the Issuer to make and consummate a Change of Control Offer with respect to a
Change of Control that has occurred, including, without limitation, in each case, by amending, changing or modifying
any of the definitions relating thereto;

(8) release the Issuer or any Guarantor that is a Significant Subsidiary from any of its obligations under its Note
Guarantee or the Indenture otherwise than in accordance with the terms of the Indenture; or

(9) modify or change any provision of the Indenture affecting the ranking of the Notes or Note Guarantees issued
thereunder in a manner adverse to the Holders of Notes issued thereunder.

Without the consent of any Holder of Notes, the Issuer, the Guarantors (except that any existing Guarantors need not
execute a supplemental indenture entered into pursuant to clause (5) below) and the Trustee may amend or supplement
the Indenture, the Notes governed thereby or the Note Guarantees issued thereunder:

(1) to cure any ambiguity, omission, defect or inconsistency;

(2) to provide for uncertificated Notes in addition to or in place of certificated Notes;

(3) to provide for the assumption of the Issuer or any Guarantor�s obligations to the Holders of such Notes in the case
of a merger or consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of the Issuer�s or such Guarantor�s assets;

(4) to secure the Notes;

(5) to add any Guarantor or release any Guarantor from its Note Guarantee if such release is in accordance with the
terms of the Indenture;

(6) to conform the text of the Indenture, the Notes, or the Note Guarantees to any provision of this Description of
Notes to the extent that such provision in this Description of Notes was intended to be a verbatim recitation of a
provision of the Indenture, the Notes, or the Note Guarantees, which intent may be evidenced by an officer�s certificate
to that effect;
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(7) to provide for the issuance of Additional Notes in accordance with the limitations set forth in the Indenture as of
the date of the Indenture;

(8) to make any change that would provide any additional rights or benefits to the Holders of such Notes or that does
not adversely affect the rights under the Indenture of any Holder thereunder in any material respect; or

(9) to comply with requirements of the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of the Indenture under the
TIA.

The consent of the Holders is not necessary under the Indenture to approve the particular form of any proposed
amendment or waiver. It is sufficient if such consent approves the substance of the proposed amendment or waiver.
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Concerning the Trustee

The Indenture will contain certain limitations required by the TIA on the rights of the Trustee, should the Trustee in its
capacity as Trustee become a creditor of the Issuer, to obtain payment of claims in certain cases, or to realize on
certain assets received in respect of any such claim as security or otherwise. The Trustee in its individual capacity is
permitted to engage in other transactions with the Issuer; however, if the Trustee acquires any conflicting interest as
defined under the TIA, it must eliminate such conflict within 90 days, apply to the SEC for permission to continue as
Trustee or resign.

The Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes under the Indenture have the
right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for exercising any remedy available to the
Trustee under the Indenture, subject to certain exceptions. The Indenture will provide that in case an Event of Default
of which a responsible officer of the Trustee has actual knowledge (as provided in the Indenture) shall occur under the
Indenture (which shall not be cured or waived), the Trustee will be required, in the exercise of its rights and powers
vested in it by the Indenture, to use the degree of care and skill in their exercise as a prudent person would exercise or
use under the circumstances in the conduct of such person�s own affairs. Subject to such provisions, the Trustee will be
under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the Indenture at the request of any Holder of Notes
issued thereunder, unless such Holder shall have offered to the Trustee security and indemnity satisfactory to it against
any loss, liability or expense. The Trustee�s fees, expenses and indemnities are included in the amounts guaranteed by
the Note Guarantees.

Governing Law; Jury Trial Waiver

The Indenture, the Notes and the Note Guarantees will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of
the State of New York. The Indenture provides that the Company, the Guarantors and the Trustee, and each Holder of
a Note by its acceptance thereof, irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any and all
rights to trial by jury in any legal proceeding arising out of or relating to the Indenture, the Notes, the Note Guarantees
or any transaction contemplated thereby.

Certain Definitions

Set forth below are certain defined terms used in the Indenture. Reference is made to the Indenture for a full disclosure
of all such terms, as well as any other capitalized terms used herein for which no definition is provided.

�ABL Credit Facility� means that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 12, 2012
among the Issuer, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. Toronto
Branch, as Canadian administrative agent and the other parties from time to time party thereto, together with all
related notes, letters of credit, collateral documents, guarantees and any other related agreements and instruments
executed and delivered in connection therewith, in each case as amended, modified, refinanced, refunded or replaced
in whole or in part (including by sales of debt securities) from time to time including by or pursuant to any
agreement(s) or instrument(s) (including an indenture) extending the maturity of or refinancing (including increasing
the amount of available borrowings thereunder or adding any Subsidiaries of the Parent Guarantor as borrowers or
guarantors thereunder) all or any portion of the Indebtedness under such agreement(s) or instrument(s) any successor
or replacement bank credit agreement(s) and whether by the same or any other agent, lender, group of lenders,
purchasers, debt holders, creditor or group of creditors.

�Additional Assets� means:
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(2) the Capital Stock of a Person that becomes a Subsidiary of the Parent Guarantor as a result of the acquisition of
such Capital Stock by the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries; or
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(3) Capital Stock constituting a non-controlling interest in any Person that at such time is a Subsidiary of the Parent
Guarantor.

�Affiliate� of any specified Person means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under
direct or indirect common control with such specified Person. For purposes of this definition, �control,� as used with
respect to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management or policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by agreement or
otherwise. For purposes of this definition, the terms �controlling,� �controlled by� and �under common control with� have
correlative meanings.

�amend� means to amend, supplement, restate, amend and restate or otherwise modify; and �amendment� shall have a
correlative meaning.

�Applicable Treasury Rate� for any redemption date means the yield to maturity at the time of computation of United
States Treasury securities with a constant maturity (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve
Statistical Release H.15(519) that has become publicly available at least two business days prior to the Make-Whole
Redemption of such Notes (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly available source of
similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from the Make-Whole Redemption Date to December 15, 2016;
provided, however, that if the period from the Make-Whole Redemption Date to December 15, 2016 is not equal to
the constant maturity of a United States Treasury security for which a weekly average yield is given, the Applicable
Treasury Rate shall be obtained by linear interpolation (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth of a year) from the
weekly average yields of United States Treasury securities for which such yields are given except that if the period
from the Make-Whole Redemption Date to December 15, 2016 is less than one year, the weekly average yield on
actually traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one year shall be used.

�asset� means any asset or property, whether real, personal or mixed, tangible or intangible. �Asset Disposition� means
any sale, lease, transfer or other disposition (or series of related sales, leases, transfers or dispositions) by the Parent
Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries, including any disposition by means of a merger, consolidation or similar
transaction (each referred to for the purposes of this definition as a �disposition�), of:

(1) any shares of Capital Stock of any of the Parent Guarantor�s Subsidiaries (other than directors� qualifying shares or
shares required by applicable law to be held by a Person other than the Parent Guarantor or a Subsidiary);

(2) all or substantially all the assets of any division or line of business of the Parent Guarantor or any of its
Subsidiaries; or

(3) any other assets or property of the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries outside of the ordinary course of
business of the Parent Guarantor or such Subsidiary.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, none of the following shall be deemed to be an Asset Disposition:

(1) a disposition by a Subsidiary of the Parent Guarantor to the Parent Guarantor or by the Parent Guarantor or any of
its Subsidiaries to any Subsidiary of the Parent Guarantor;

(2) for purposes of the covenant described under ��Repurchase at the Option of Holders�Asset Dispositions� only, a
disposition of all or substantially all the assets of the Parent Guarantor or the Issuer in compliance with ��Merger,
Consolidation or Sale of Assets� or a disposition that constitutes a Change of Control pursuant to the Indenture;
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(3) a sale, contribution, conveyance or other transfer of accounts receivable and related assets of the type specified in
the definition of Qualified Receivables Transaction by or to a Receivables Entity in a Qualified Receivables
Transaction;

(4) the license or sublicense of intellectual property or other intangibles;

(5) the lease, assignment or sublease of any real or personal property in the ordinary course of business;
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(6) any surrender or waiver of contract rights or settlement, release, recovery on or surrender of contract, tort or other
claims in the ordinary course of business;

(7) the granting of Security Interests not prohibited by the covenant described above under the caption ��Limitation on
Liens�;

(8) the disposition by the Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiary in the ordinary course of business of (i) cash and
cash equivalents, (ii) inventory and other assets acquired and held for resale in the ordinary course of business,
(iii) damaged, worn out or obsolete assets or assets that, in the Parent Guarantor�s reasonable judgment, are no longer
used or useful in the business of the Parent Guarantor or its Subsidiaries, or (iv) rights granted to others pursuant to
leases or licenses, to the extent not materially interfering with the operations of the Parent Guarantor or its
Subsidiaries;

(9) a Restricted Payment that is permitted by the Indenture;

(10) any exchange of assets for assets (including a combination of assets (which assets may include Equity Interests or
any securities convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, Equity Interests, but which assets may not include
any Indebtedness) of comparable or greater market value or usefulness to the business of the Parent Guarantor and its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, which in the event of an exchange of assets with a fair market value in excess of
(a) $50.0 million shall be evidenced by an officer�s certificate and (b) $100.0 million shall be set forth in a resolution
approved by at least a majority of the members of the Board of Directors of the Parent Guarantor; provided that the
Parent Guarantor shall apply any cash or cash equivalents received in any such exchange of assets as described in the
second paragraph under �Repurchase at the Option of Holders�Asset Dispositions�;

(11) dispositions of receivables in connection with the compromise, settlement or collection thereof in the ordinary
course of business or in bankruptcy or similar proceedings and exclusive of factoring or similar arrangements;

(12) the issuance by any Subsidiary of the Parent Guarantor of Preferred Stock or any convertible securities;

(13) any sale of Capital Stock or Indebtedness or other securities of a Foreign Subsidiary;

(14) any sale of assets received by Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries upon foreclosure on a Security Interest;

(15) the unwinding of any Hedging Obligations (including sales under forward contracts);

(16) any dispositions to the extent required by, or made pursuant to customary buy/sell arrangements between the joint
venture parties set forth in joint venture arrangements and similar binding agreements;

(17) the lease or sublease of office space;

(18) the abandonment, farm-out, lease, assignment, sub-lease, license or sub-license of any real or personal property in
the ordinary course of business;

(19) dispositions of property pursuant to casualty events;

(20) dispositions of property pursuant to a Sale and Leaseback Transaction permitted by the Indenture;

(21) foreclosures on assets to the extent they would not otherwise result in a Default or Event of Default; or
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(22) a single transaction or series of related transactions that involve the disposition of assets with a fair market value
of less than the greater of (x) $50.0 million and (y) 1.0% of Consolidated Total Assets.

�Attributable Indebtedness,� when used with respect to any Sale and Leaseback Transaction, means, as at the time of
determination, the present value (discounted at a rate borne by the Notes, compounded on a semiannual basis) of the
total obligations of the lessee for rental payments during the remaining term of the lease included in any such Sale and
Leaseback Transaction.
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�Board of Directors� means, with respect to any Person, the board of directors or comparable governing body of such
Person or, other than in connection with the definition of �Change of Control,� any duly authorized committee thereof.

�Capital Stock� means:

(1) in the case of a corporation, corporate stock;

(2) in the case of an association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other
equivalents (however designated) of corporate stock; and

(3) in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership or membership interests (whether general or
limited).

�Capitalized Lease� means a lease required to be capitalized for financial reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP.

�Capitalized Lease Obligations� of any Person means the obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under
a Capitalized Lease, and the amount of such obligation shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in
accordance with GAAP.

�Change of Control� means the occurrence of any of the following:

(1) any Transfer (other than by way of merger or consolidation) of all or substantially all of the assets of the Parent
Guarantor and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole to any �person� (as defined in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act) or
�group� (as defined in Sections 13(d)(3) and 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act), other than any Transfer to the Parent
Guarantor or one or more Subsidiaries of the Parent Guarantor;

(2) the adoption of a plan for the liquidation or dissolution the Parent Guarantor (other than in a transaction that
complies with the covenant described under ��Certain Covenants�Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Assets�);

(3) a �person� (as defined above) or �group� (as defined above) becomes, directly or indirectly, the �beneficial owner� (as
defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act) of more than 50% of the voting power of the Voting Stock
of the Parent Guarantor, other than as a result of (i) any transaction where the voting power of the Voting Stock of the
Parent Guarantor immediately prior to such transaction constitutes or is converted into or exchanged for a majority of
the voting power of the Voting Stock of such beneficial owner or (ii) any merger or consolidation of the Parent
Guarantor with or into any �person� (as defined above) (a �Permitted Person�) or a subsidiary of a Permitted Person, in
each case, if immediately after such transaction no person (as defined above) is the beneficial owner (as defined
above), directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the voting power of the Voting Stock of such Permitted Person; or

(4) the first day on which a majority of the members of the Board of Directors of the Parent Guarantor are not
Continuing Directors.

�Consolidated Cash Flow Available for Fixed Charges� means, with respect to any Person for any period:

(1) the sum of, without duplication, the amounts for such period, taken as a single accounting period, of:

(a) Consolidated Net Income;

(b) Consolidated Non-cash Charges;
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(c) Consolidated Interest Expense to the extent the same was deducted in computing Consolidated Net Income;

(d) Consolidated Income Tax Expense (other than income tax expense (either positive or negative) attributable to
extraordinary gains or losses);
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(e) any expenses or charges related to any Equity Offering, any recapitalization or incurrence of Indebtedness or this
offering of the Notes;

(f) the amount of any interest expense attributable to minority equity interests of third parties in any non-Wholly
Owned Subsidiary of the Parent Guarantor to the extent the same was deducted in computing Consolidated Net
Income; and

(g) any net loss from discontinued operations; less

(2)(x) net income from discontinued operations and (y) non-cash items increasing Consolidated Net Income for such
period, other than (a) the accrual of revenue consistent with past practice and (b) reversals of prior accruals or reserves
for cash items previously excluded in the calculation of Consolidated Non-cash Charges.

In calculating Consolidated Cash Flow Available for Fixed Charges for any period, if any Asset Disposition or Asset
Acquisition (whether pursuant to a stock or an asset transaction) shall have occurred since the first day of any twelve
month period for which the Consolidated Cash Flow Available for Fixed Charges is being calculated, such calculation
shall give pro forma effect to such Asset Disposition or Asset Acquisition including, for the avoidance of doubt, any
Indebtedness incurred or repaid in connection with such Asset Disposition or Asset Acquisition.

For the purposes of calculating Consolidated Cash Flow Available for Fixed Charges, �Asset Acquisition� means any
acquisition of property or series of related acquisitions of property that constitutes all or substantially all of the assets
of a business, unit or division of a Person or constitutes all or substantially all of the common stock (or equivalent) of
a Person; and �Asset Disposition� means any disposition of property or series of related dispositions of property that
involves all or substantially all of the assets of a business, unit or division of a Person or constitutes all or substantially
all of the common stock (or equivalent) of a Person.

�Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio� means the ratio of Consolidated Cash Flow Available for Fixed Charges
of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries during the most recent four consecutive full fiscal quarters for which
financial statements are available (the �Four-Quarter Period�) ending on or prior to the date of the transaction giving
rise to the need to calculate the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (the �Transaction Date�) to Consolidated
Fixed Charges of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries for the Four-Quarter Period. Notwithstanding anything to
the contrary set forth in the definitions of Consolidated Cash Flow Available for Fixed Charges and Consolidated
Interest Expense (and all component definitions referenced in such definitions), whenever pro forma effect is to be
given to the incurrence or repayment of Indebtedness or the issuance or redemption of Preferred Stock, the pro forma
calculations shall be determined in good faith by a responsible officer of the Parent Guarantor.

For purposes of this definition, Consolidated Cash Flow Available for Fixed Charges and Consolidated Fixed Charges
shall be calculated after giving effect on a pro forma basis for the period of such calculation to the incurrence of any
Indebtedness or the issuance of any Preferred Stock of the Parent Guarantor or any Subsidiary (and the application of
the proceeds thereof) and any repayment of Indebtedness or redemption of other Preferred Stock (and the application
of the proceeds therefrom) (other than the incurrence or repayment of Indebtedness in the ordinary course of business
for working capital purposes pursuant to any revolving credit arrangement) occurring during the Four-Quarter Period
or at any time subsequent to the last day of the Four-Quarter Period and on or prior to the Transaction Date, as if such
incurrence, repayment, issuance or redemption, as the case may be (and the application of the proceeds thereof),
occurred on the first day of the Four-Quarter Period.

In calculating Consolidated Fixed Charges for purposes of determining the denominator (but not the numerator) of
this Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio:
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(a) interest on outstanding Indebtedness determined on a fluctuating basis as of the Transaction Date and which will
continue to be so determined thereafter shall be deemed to have accrued at a fixed rate per annum equal to the rate of
interest on such Indebtedness in effect on the Transaction Date (although interest with respect to any Indebtedness for
periods while the same was actually outstanding during the respective period shall be calculated using the actual rates
applicable thereto while the same was actually outstanding);
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(b) if interest on any Indebtedness actually incurred on the Transaction Date may optionally be determined at an
interest rate based upon a factor of a prime or similar rate, a eurocurrency interbank offered rate, or other rates, then
the interest rate in effect on the Transaction Date will be deemed to have been in effect during the Four-Quarter Period
(although interest with respect to any Indebtedness for periods while the same was actually outstanding during the
respective period shall be calculated using the actual rates applicable thereto while the same was actually
outstanding); and

(c) notwithstanding clause (a) or (b) above, interest on Indebtedness determined on a fluctuating basis, to the extent
such interest is covered by agreements relating to Hedging Obligations, shall be deemed to accrue at the rate per
annum resulting after giving effect to the operation of these agreements.

�Consolidated Fixed Charges� for any period means the sum, without duplication, of (a) Consolidated Interest Expense
of the Parent Guarantor and the Subsidiaries for such period, plus (b) the product of (a) all dividend payments on any
series of Disqualified Equity Interests of the Parent Guarantor or any Subsidiary or any Preferred Stock of any
Subsidiary (other than any such Disqualified Equity Interests or any Preferred Stock held by the Parent Guarantor or a
Subsidiary or to the extent paid in Qualified Equity Interests) for such period, multiplied by (b) a fraction, the
numerator of which is one and the denominator of which is one minus the then current combined federal, state and
local statutory tax rate of the Parent Guarantor and the Subsidiaries, expressed as a decimal.

�Consolidated Income Tax Expenses� means, with respect to any Person for any period the provision for federal, state,
local and foreign income taxes of such Person and its subsidiaries for such period as determined on a consolidated
basis in accordance with GAAP.

�Consolidated Interest Expense� means, with respect to any Person for any period, the interest expense of such Person
and its subsidiaries for such period, on a consolidated basis, determined in accordance with GAAP (including
amortization of original issue discount and deferred financing costs, non-cash interest payments, the interest
component of all payments associated with Capitalized Lease Obligations, capitalized interest, net payments, if any,
pursuant to interest rate-related Hedging Obligations and imputed interest with respect to Attributable Indebtedness
but excluding write-offs associated with the amendment and restatement or repayment of indebtedness).

�Consolidated Net Income� means, with respect to any Person, for any period, the consolidated net income (or loss) of
such Person and its subsidiaries for such period as determined in accordance with GAAP, adjusted, to the extent
included in calculating such net income, by excluding, without duplication:

(1) all extraordinary gains or losses (net of fees and expenses relating to the transaction giving rise thereto), income,
expenses or charges;

(2) the portion of net income of such Person and its subsidiaries allocable to minority interests in unconsolidated
Persons to the extent that cash dividends or distributions have not actually been received by such Person or one of its
subsidiaries; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, Consolidated Net Income shall be increased in amounts equal
to the amounts of cash actually received;

(3) gains or losses in respect of any sales of Capital Stock or asset sales outside the ordinary course of business
(including in a Sale and Leaseback Transaction) by such Person or one of its subsidiaries (net of fees and expenses
relating to the transaction giving rise thereto);

(4) any gain or loss realized as a result of the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles;
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Notes and any subsequent exchange offer, the Senior Secured Credit Facilities or other Indebtedness;

(6) nonrecurring or unusual gains or losses;
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(7) the net after-tax effects of adjustments in the inventory, property and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets
line items in such Person�s consolidated financial statements pursuant to GAAP resulting from the application of
purchase accounting or the amortization or write-off of any amounts thereof;

(8) any fees and expenses incurred (and write-offs recorded) during such period, or any amortization thereof for such
period, in connection with any acquisition, investment, asset sale, issuance or repayment or amendment or restatement
of Indebtedness, issuance of Capital Stock, stock options or other equity-based awards, refinancing transaction or
amendment or modification of any debt instrument (including without limitation any such transaction undertaken but
not completed);

(9) any gain or loss recorded in connection with the designation of a discontinued operation (exclusive of its operating
income or loss);

(10) any non-cash compensation or other non-cash expenses or charges arising from the grant of or issuance or
repricing of Capital Stock, stock options or other equity-based awards or any amendment, modification, substitution
or change of any such Capital Stock, stock options or other equity-based awards;

(11) any expenses or charges related to any Equity Offering, Asset Disposition, merger, amalgamation, consolidation,
arrangement, acquisition, disposition, recapitalization or the incurrence of Indebtedness permitted to be incurred by
the Indenture (including a refinancing thereof) (whether or not successful);

(12) unrealized gains and losses with respect to Hedging Obligations; and

(13) any non-cash impairment, restructuring or special charge or asset write-off or write-down, and the amortization or
write-off of intangibles.

�Consolidated Total Assets� means the total assets of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as of the most recent
fiscal quarter end for which an internal consolidated balance sheet of the Parent Guarantor and its Subsidiaries is
available, all calculated on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

�Consolidated Non-cash Charges� means, with respect to any Person for any period, the aggregate depreciation,
amortization and other non-cash expenses of the Person and its subsidiaries (including without limitation any minority
interest) reducing Consolidated Net Income for such period, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with
GAAP.

�Continuing Director� means, as of any date of determination, any member of the Board of Directors of the relevant
Person who:

(1) was a member of such Board of Directors on the Issue Date; or

(2) was nominated for election or elected to such Board of Directors with the approval of a majority of the Continuing
Directors who were members of such Board of Directors at the time of such nomination or election or is otherwise
appointed by such Continuing Directors, including pursuant to the terms of any agreement.

�Credit Facilities� means one or more debt facilities (including, without limitation, the Senior Secured Credit Facilities
or commercial paper facilities, in each case with banks or other lenders providing for revolving credit loans, term
loans or letters of credit, together with all related notes, letters of credit, collateral documents, guarantees and any
other related agreements and instruments executed and delivered in connection therewith, in each case as amended,
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modified, refinanced, refunded or replaced in whole or in part (including by sales of debt securities) from time to time
including by or pursuant to any agreement(s) or instrument(s) (including an indenture) extending the maturity of or
refinancing (including increasing the amount of available borrowings thereunder or adding the Parent Guarantor or
Subsidiaries of the Parent Guarantor as borrowers or guarantors thereunder) all or any portion of the Indebtedness
under such agreement(s) or instrument(s) any successor or replacement bank credit agreement(s) and whether by the
same or any other agent, lender, group of lenders, purchasers, debt holders, creditor or group of creditors.

�Default� means (1) any Event of Default or (2) any event, act or condition that, after notice or the passage of time or
both, would be an Event of Default.
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�Designated Non-cash Consideration� means the fair market value of non-cash consideration received by Issuer or any
of the Guarantors in connection with an Asset Disposition that is designated as �Designated Non-cash Consideration�
pursuant to an officer�s certificate, setting forth the basis of such valuation, less the amount of cash or cash equivalents
received in connection with a subsequent sale, redemption or payment of, on or with respect to such Designated
Non-cash Consideration.

�Disqualified Equity Interests� of any Person means any class of Equity Interests of such Person that, by its terms, or by
the terms of any related agreement or of any security into which it is convertible, puttable or exchangeable, is, or upon
the happening of any event or the passage of time would be, required to be redeemed by such Person, whether or not
at the option of the holder thereof, or matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or
otherwise, in whole or in part, on or prior to the date which is 91 days after the final maturity date of the Notes;
provided, however, that any class of Equity Interests of such Person that, by its terms, authorizes such Person to
satisfy in full its obligations with respect to the payment of dividends or upon maturity, redemption (pursuant to a
sinking fund or otherwise) or repurchase thereof or otherwise by the delivery of Equity Interests that are not
Disqualified Equity Interests, and that is not convertible, puttable or exchangeable for Disqualified Equity Interests or
Indebtedness, will not be deemed to be Disqualified Equity Interests so long as such Person satisfies its obligations
with respect thereto solely by the delivery of Equity Interests that are not Disqualified Equity Interests; provided,
further, however, that any Equity Interests that would not constitute Disqualified Equity Interests but for provisions
thereof giving holders thereof (or the holders of any security into or for which such Equity Interests are convertible,
exchangeable or exercisable) the right to require the Issuer to redeem such Equity Interests upon the occurrence of a
change in control occurring prior to the 91st day after the final maturity date of the Notes shall not constitute
Disqualified Equity Interests if the change of control provisions applicable to such Equity Interests are no more
favorable to such holders than the provisions described under �Repurchase at the Option of Holders�Change of Control�
in this prospectus and such Equity Interests specifically provide that the Issuer will not redeem any such Equity
Interests pursuant to such provisions prior to the Issuer�s purchase of the Notes as required pursuant to the provisions
described under �Repurchase at the Option of Holders�Change of Control.�

�Domestic Subsidiary� means any Subsidiary of the Issuer, other than a Foreign Subsidiary. �Equity Interests� of any
Person means (1) any and all shares or other equity interests (including common stock, Preferred Stock, limited
liability company interests and partnership interests) in such Person and (2) all rights to purchase, warrants or options
(whether or not currently exercisable), participations or other equivalents of or interests in (however designated) such
shares or other interests in such Person, but excluding any debt securities that are convertible into such shares or other
interests in such Person.

�Equity Offering� means a public sale for cash of common stock of the Parent Guarantor or any direct or indirect parent
entity of the Parent Guarantor, other than (i) public offerings with respect to common stock of the Parent Guarantor or
any of its direct or indirect parent entities registered on Form S-4 or Form S-8 or (ii) any sale to any Subsidiary of the
Parent Guarantor.

�Exchange Act� means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

�Foreign Subsidiary� means (i) any Subsidiary of the Issuer that is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than
the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia, (ii) any Subsidiary of the Issuer that is organized
under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia that for U.S. federal income tax
purposes is treated as a partnership or disregarded as an entity separate from its sole owner and that is a subsidiary of a
Subsidiary of the Issuer that is a �controlled foreign corporation� within the meaning of Section 957 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or (iii) a subsidiary of any entity described in either of the preceding clauses
(i) or (ii).
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Accounting Principles Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and
pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or in such other statements by such other entity as
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may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession of the United States, which are in effect on the
Issue Date; provided, for the avoidance of doubt, that any leases that are not or would not be characterized as
Capitalized Leases under GAAP as in effect on the Issue Date shall not be reclassified as Capitalized Leases and
additional liabilities associated with such leases shall not be classified as Indebtedness as a result of any changes in
interpretive releases or literature regarding GAAP or any requirements by the independent auditors of the Parent
Guarantor.

�Guarantee� means a guarantee (other than by endorsement of negotiable instruments for collection in the ordinary
course of business), direct or indirect, in any manner (including, without limitation, through letters of credit and
reimbursement agreements in respect thereof), of all or any part of any Indebtedness. �Guarantee� when used as a verb
shall have a corresponding meaning.

�Guarantor� means:

(1) the Parent Guarantor;

(2) each Domestic Subsidiary of the Issuer that executes and delivers a Note Guarantee pursuant to the covenant
described under ��Certain Covenants�Additional Note Guarantees�; and

(3) each Subsidiary of the Issuer that otherwise executes and delivers a Note Guarantee,

in each case, until such time as such Person is released from its Note Guarantee in accordance with the provisions of
the Indenture.

�Hedging Obligations� of any Person means the obligations of such Person under swap, cap, collar, forward purchase or
similar agreements or arrangements dealing with interest rates, currency exchange rates or commodity prices or
availability, either generally or under specific contingencies, and including both physical and financial settlement
transactions.

�Holder� means any registered holder, from time to time, of any Notes.

�Indebtedness� of any Person at any date means, without duplication:

(a) all liabilities, contingent or otherwise, of such Person for borrowed money (whether or not the recourse of the
lender is to theIZE=1>�  �  �  �  802  �  802 Unrealized gain on investments, net of deferred income taxes  �  �  �  �  2,372  �  2,372 Unrealized foreign currency
translation loss  �  �  �  �  (109) �  (109)                    

 Total comprehensive income                    34,292                     

 Other  �  �  (4,327) �  �  �  (4,327)  
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 Balance at December 31, 2001  1,351  �  818,742  227,986  3,176  (9,479) 1,041,776 Issuance of 1,615 shares of Class A common stock pursuant to stock option,
restricted stock incentive and stock purchase plans  16  �  33,145  �  �  3,448  36,609 Issuance of 9,430 shares of Class A common stock pursuant to equity
offering  94  �  399,669  �  �  �  399,763 Settlement of warrants issued in connection with business combination  �  �  (15,972) �  �  �  (15,972)Conversion of vested stock
options pursuant to the acquisition of Travelocity.com minority interest  �  �  14,209  �  �  �  14,209 Tax benefit from exercise of employee stock
options  �  �  9,687  �  �  �  9,687 Purchases of treasury stock  �  �  �  �  �  (56,610) (56,610)Stock based compensation for employees and
consultants  �  �  16,933  �  �  �  16,933 Comprehensive income: Net earnings  �  �  �  214,144  �  �  214,144 Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of deferred income
taxes  �  �  �  �  (21,638) �  (21,638)Unrealized gain on foreign currency forward contracts, net of deferred income taxes  �  �  �  �  4,174  �  4,174 Unrealized loss on
investments, net of deferred income taxes  �  �  �  �  (1,867) �  (1,867)Unrealized foreign currency translation gain  �  �  �  �  131  �  131                     

 Total comprehensive income                    194,944                     

 Other  (10) �  249  �  �  �  239   

 Balance at December 31, 2002 $1,451 $� $1,276,662 $442,130 $(16,024)$(62,641)$1,641,578   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SABRE HOLDINGS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.    General Information
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Sabre Holdings Corporation is a holding company. Its sole direct subsidiary is Sabre Inc., which is the successor to the businesses of
The Sabre Group, which were previously operated as subsidiaries or divisions of American Airlines, Inc. ("American") or AMR
Corporation ("AMR"). On March 15, 2000, AMR exchanged all of its 107,374,000 shares of our Class B common stock for an equal
number of shares of our Class A common stock and distributed all those shares to AMR shareholders as a stock dividend ("the
Spin-off"). AMR no longer has any ownership interest in us.

We are a leading provider of technology, distribution and marketing services for the travel industry. Through our Sabre[nc_cad,176]

computer reservations system ("the Sabre system") subscribers can access information about, and can book reservations for, airline
trips, hotel stays, car rentals, cruises and tour packages, among other things. We engage in consumer direct and business direct travel
services and distribution through Travelocity and GetThere. In addition, we are a leading provider of technology and services,
including development and consulting services, to airlines and other travel providers that support their businesses using technology.
Disaggregated information relating to our business segments is presented in Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

2.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation�We consolidate all of our majority-owned subsidiaries and companies over which we exercise control through
majority voting rights. No entities are currently consolidated due to control through operating or financing agreements.

The consolidated financial statements include our accounts after elimination of all significant intercompany balances and transactions.
We account for our interests in joint ventures and investments in common stock of other companies which we do not control but over
which we exert significant influence using the equity method. Investments in the common stock of other companies over which we do
not exert significant influence are accounted for at cost. We periodically evaluate equity and debt investments in entities accounted for
at cost for impairment by reviewing updated financial information provided by the investee, including valuation information from new
financing transactions by the investee and information relating to competitors of investees when available. If we determine that a cost
method investment is impaired, the carrying value of the investment is reduced to its estimated fair value. To date, writedowns of
investments carried at cost have been insignificant to our results of operations. See "Recent Accounting Pronouncements" below.

The consolidated financial statements reflect our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows as a majority-owned
subsidiary of AMR through March 15, 2000 and may not be indicative of our actual results of operations and financial position under
other ownership. We believe the consolidated income statements include a reasonable allocation of administrative costs, which are
described in Note 8, incurred by AMR on our behalf.

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2001 and 2000 financial statements to conform to the 2002 presentation.
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Use of Estimates�The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
that certain amounts be recorded based on estimates and assumptions made by management. Actual results could differ from these
estimates and assumptions. Our accounting policies which include significant estimates and assumptions include estimation of the
collectibility of accounts receivable, amounts for future cancellations of bookings processed through the Sabre system, the evaluation
of the recoverability of the carrying value of intangible assets and goodwill and the evaluation of the recoverability of deferred tax
assets. These policies are discussed in greater detail below.

Statement of Cash Flows�Marketable securities, without regard to remaining maturity at acquisition, are not considered cash
equivalents for purposes of the statement of cash flows.

Depreciation and Amortization�Our depreciation and amortization policies are as follows:

Property and equipment:
Buildings 30 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 to 15 years
Leasehold improvements Lesser of lease term or useful life
Computer/service contract equipment 3 to 5 years
Computer software 3 to 7 years
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Other assets:
Capitalized software development costs 3 to 7 years
Intangible assets 1 to 20 years
Goodwill (prior to January 1, 2002) 3 to 20 years

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, which is calculated on the straight-line
basis. Depreciation of property and equipment included in continuing operations totaled approximately $57 million, $97 million and
$146 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Amortization of other assets included in continuing operations totaled
approximately $60 million in 2002, $292 million in 2001 and $126 million in 2000. Other assets are amortized on the straight-line
basis over the periods indicated. Accumulated amortization of other assets approximated $505 million and $449 million at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. As discussed in more detail below, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, as of January 1, 2002 and no longer amortize goodwill and certain other
indefinite lived intangible assets.
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Revenue Recognition�We provide various travel marketing and distribution services using theSabre system. As compensation for
services provided, fees are collected from airline, car rental and hotel vendors and other providers of travel-related products and
services ("associates") for reservations booked through the Sabre system. The fee per booking charged to associates is dependent upon
the level of functionality within the Sabre system at which the associate participates. Revenue for airline travel reservations is
recognized at the time of the booking of the reservation, net of estimated future cancellations. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, we
have recorded booking fee cancellation reserves of approximately $18 million and $21 million, respectively. This reserve is calculated
based on historical cancellation rates. In estimating the amount of future cancellations that will require us to refund a booking fee, we
assume that a significant percentage of cancellations are followed by an immediate re-booking, without loss of revenue. This
assumption is based on historical rates of cancellations/re-bookings and has a significant impact on the amount reserved. If
circumstances change (i.e., higher than expected cancellation rates or changes in booking behavior), our estimates of future
cancellations could be increased by a material amount and our revenue decreased by a corresponding amount. Revenue for car rental,
hotel bookings and other travel providers is recognized at the time the reservation is used by the customer.

We also enter into service contracts with subscribers (primarily travel agencies) to provide access to the Sabre system, hardware,
software, hardware maintenance and other support services. Fees billed on service contracts are recognized as revenue in the month
earned.

During 2002, we instituted a merchant business model whereby we have given our subscribers access to hotel inventory at discounted
prices which we determine. We purchase the inventory from suppliers at discounted wholesale prices, but we do not have purchase
obligations for unsold rooms. Revenue from such transactions is recorded on a net basis, which is defined as the price to the consumer
less the cost of the inventory obtained from the hotel, at the time of check-out.

Travelocity receives commissions from travel suppliers for air travel, hotel rooms, car rentals, vacation packages and cruises booked
through the Travelocity Websites and advertising revenues from the delivery of advertising impressions on the Travelocity Websites.
Commissions from air travel providers are recognized upon confirmation of pending payment of the commission. Commissions from
other travel providers are recognized upon receipt. Advertising revenues are recognized in the period that advertising impressions are
delivered.

Travelocity instituted a merchant business model in 2001 for air travel and in 2002 for vacation packages and hotels whereby we have
access to supplier inventory of air segments, hotel rooms and related travel services at discounted wholesale prices which we offer for
sale to end consumers at a retail price which we determine. We do not have purchase obligations for unsold inventory. Revenue from
such transactions is recorded on a net basis, which is defined as the total price paid by the consumer (which includes the price of
Travelocity services), less the cost of the inventory obtained from the supplier, and is recognized at the date of sale to the consumer for
air travel and at the date of check-out for hotels and vacation packages.
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We receive fees from travel suppliers and corporate customers for transactions booked through GetThere's Web-based travel booking
systems and recognize the associated revenues in the month of the transaction. In addition, GetThere also charges certain up-front fees,
such as implementation, franchise and license fees. The revenues for those fees are deferred and generally recognized over the term of
the related contract.

Additionally, we provide software solutions and airline reservation hosting services. Revenue from airline reservation hosting services
is recognized in the period earned. Our software is generally sold as part of agreements which also require us to provide customization
and implementation services. Such agreements are accounted for using contract accounting under the provisions of Statement of
Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition. Revenue from license fees, when software is sold without associated customization or
implementation services, is recognized when the software is delivered, fees are fixed and determinable, no undelivered elements are
essential to the functionality of delivered software and collection is probable. Fees for software maintenance are recognized ratably
over the life of the contract. The fees for software maintenance included in initial software license agreements is based on the vendor
specific objective evidence of the fair value of the services determined using actual renewal rates for software maintenance services.
Services on long-term software development and consulting contracts are provided under both a time-and-materials basis and a fixed
fee basis. Revenues with respect to time-and-materials contracts are recognized as services are performed. Revenues from services
provided under fixed fee contracts are recognized using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, based on costs incurred
to date in comparison to total cost projected at completion. A contract is considered substantially complete when the product has been
delivered and performance specifications have been substantially met. Losses, if any, on long-term contracts are recognized when the
current estimate of total contract costs indicates a loss on a contract is probable. As a result of contractual billing terms, at
December 31, 2002 and 2001 we had recorded accounts receivable of approximately $12 million and $8 million, respectively, that had
not been billed to customers and deferred revenues of approximately $27 million and $35 million, respectively, related to advance
payments from customers. Approximately $1 million and $11 million of these deferred revenues were noncurrent as of December 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

Prior to the EDS transaction (Note 3), we provided information technology infrastructure outsourcing services to the travel and
transportation industries. Revenues relating to long-term outsourcing contracts were recognized as services were performed.

Derivatives�We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133,Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities ("SFAS 133") effective January 1, 2001. SFAS 133 requires us to recognize all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value.
Derivatives that are not hedges must be adjusted to fair value through income. If the derivative is designated as a hedge, depending on
the nature of the hedge, changes in the fair value of derivatives are offset against the change in fair value of the hedged item through
earnings or recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of the
change in fair value of a derivative designated as a hedge is immediately recognized in earnings. For derivative instruments not
designated as hedging instruments, the gain or loss is recognized in current earnings during the period of change.

Advertising Costs�Advertising costs are generally expensed as incurred. Advertising costs expensed in 2002, 2001 and 2000 totaled
approximately $109 million, $109 million and $90 million, respectively.
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Income Taxes�The entities comprising Sabre Holdings have been included in the consolidated federal income tax return of AMR
through March 15, 2000. We entered into a tax sharing agreement with AMR effective July 1, 1996 (the "Tax Sharing Agreement"),
which provides for the allocation of tax liabilities during the tax periods we are included in the consolidated federal, state and local
income tax returns filed by AMR. The Tax Sharing Agreement generally requires us to pay to AMR the amount of federal, state and
local income taxes that we would have paid had we ceased to be a member of the AMR consolidated tax group. We are jointly and
severally liable for the federal income tax of AMR and the other companies included in the consolidated return for all periods in which
we are included in the AMR consolidated group. AMR has agreed, however, to indemnify us for any liability for taxes reported or
required to be reported on a consolidated return arising from operations of subsidiaries of AMR other than us.

Except for certain items specified in the Tax Sharing Agreement, AMR generally retains any potential tax benefit carryforwards and
remains obligated to pay all taxes attributable to periods before July 2, 1996. The Tax Sharing Agreement also grants us certain limited
participation rights in any disputes with tax authorities.

As a result of the Spin-off, we are no longer consolidated with AMR for tax purposes. Therefore, we have separately reported and filed
federal, state and local income tax returns for the taxable periods beginning March 16, 2000.
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The results of operations of our consolidated subsidiaries are included in our federal income tax return, with the exception of
Travelocity.com Inc., for periods prior to April 2002. Through the date of purchase of the minority interest in Travelocity.com Inc. in
April 2002 (Note 5), Travelocity.com Inc. filed a separate federal income tax return. We included our proportionate share of the results
of operations of the Travelocity partnership in our federal income tax return during periods prior to April 2002. Subsequent to the
acquisition of the Travelocity.com minority interest, the results of operations of Travelocity.com are included in our consolidated
federal income tax return (Note 12).

The provision for income taxes has been computed using the liability method. For periods prior to the acquisition of the minority
interest, the provision for income taxes was computed as if we and Travelocity.com Inc. were separate taxpayers. Under the liability
method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and income tax
bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws. The measurement of deferred tax assets is
adjusted by a valuation allowance, if necessary, to recognize the extent to which, based on available evidence, the future tax benefits
more likely than not will not be realized.
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Computer Software Developed or Purchased for Internal Use�Costs related to applications, infrastructure and graphics
development for our Websites, are capitalizable under Statement of Position 98-1, Accounting for Computer Software Developed or
Obtained for Internal Use and are included in property and equipment in the accompanying balance sheets. Capitalizable costs consist
of (a) certain external direct costs of materials and services incurred in developing or obtaining internal-use computer software,
(b) payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly associated with and who devote time to the project and (c) interest
costs incurred. Research and development costs incurred during the preliminary project stage or incurred for data conversion activities
and training, maintenance and general and administrative or overhead costs are expensed as incurred. Costs that cannot be separated
between maintenance of, and relatively minor upgrades and enhancements to, internal-use software are also expensed as incurred.

We amortize computer software using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the software, approximately three to
seven years. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, unamortized computer software costs approximated $70 million and $51 million,
respectively.

Capitalized Software Development Costs�All costs incurred in the development of software which is licensed to third parties that
have the option to take possession of the software are classified as research and development costs and are expensed as incurred until
technological feasibility has been established. Once technological feasibility has been established, such costs are capitalized until the
product is ready for service. We define technological feasibility in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed. Technological feasibility is
achieved upon completion of all planning, designing, coding and testing activities that are necessary to establish that a product can be
produced according to its design specifications.

We amortize capitalized software development costs using the straight-line method over the estimated economic life of the software.
At December 31, 2002 and 2001, unamortized software development costs approximated $15 million and $14 million, respectively.
Research and development costs incurred in software development approximated $40 million, $73 million and $57 million for 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively.

Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill�Prior to January 1, 2002, we reviewed all of our long-lived assets, including identifiable intangible
assets, for impairment when changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If we
determined that such indicators were present, we prepared an undiscounted future net cash flow projection for the asset. In preparing
this projection, we made a number of assumptions concerning such things as future booking volume levels, price levels, commission
rates, rates of growth in our consumer and corporate direct booking businesses, rates of increase in operating expenses, etc. If our
projection of undiscounted future net cash flows was in excess of the carrying value of the recorded asset, no impairment was
recorded. If the carrying value of the asset exceeded the projected undiscounted net cash flows, an impairment was recorded. The
amount of the impairment charge was determined by discounting the projected net cash flows. Intangible assets subject to amortization
continue to be evaluated for impairment using this methodology.
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Through the end of 2001, we evaluated goodwill for impairment based on undiscounted projected future cash flows. If the carrying
value of the goodwill was less than the undiscounted projected future cash flows, no impairment would be recognized. Upon adoption
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets ("SFAS No. 142") on January 1,
2002, we began to evaluate our goodwill for impairment on an annual basis or whenever indicators of impairment exist. The
evaluation is based upon a comparison of the estimated fair value of the unit of our business to which the goodwill has been assigned
to the sum of the carrying value of the assets and liabilities of that unit. The fair values used in this evaluation are estimated based
upon discounted future cash flow projections for the unit. These cash flow projections are based upon a number of assumptions, as
discussed above. Under SFAS No. 142 intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives are subject to impairment tests annually or
when changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If the carrying value of an indefinite lived
intangible asset exceeds its fair value, as generally estimated using a discounted future net cash flow projection, the carrying value of
the asset is reduced to its fair value.

To date, we have not recorded a significant impairment of our goodwill or intangible assets. We believe that assumptions we have
made in projecting future cash flows for the evaluations described above are reasonable. However, if future actual results do not meet
our expectations, we may be required to record an impairment charge, the amount of which could be material to our results of
operations.

Upon adoption of SFAS 142, we no longer amortize goodwill and certain other indefinite lived intangible assets. Other intangible
assets continue to be amortized over their useful lives. The following table reflects income from continuing operations and net income
adjusted to exclude amortization expense (including related tax effects) recognized in the periods presented related to goodwill and
other indefinite lived intangible assets (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Reported income (loss) from continuing operations $ 214,144 $ (46,953) $ 96,105
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets amortization, net
of income taxes and minority interests � 211,998 82,001

Adjusted income from continuing operations $ 214,144 $ 165,045 $ 178,106

Reported net earnings $ 214,144 $ 31,227 $ 144,052
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets amortization, net
of income taxes and minority interests � 211,998 82,001

Adjusted net earnings $ 214,144 $ 243,225 $ 226,053
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Earnings per share

Basic:
Reported income (loss) from continuing operations $ 1.53 $ (.35) $ .74
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets amortization, net
of income taxes and minority interest � 1.60 .63

Adjusted income from continuing operations $ 1.53 $ 1.25 $ 1.37

Reported net earnings $ 1.53 $ ..24 $ 1.11
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets amortization, net
of income taxes and minority interest � 1.60 .63
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Adjusted net earnings $ 1.53 $ 1.84 $ 1.74

Diluted:
Reported income (loss) from continuing operations $ 1.50 $ (.35) $ .74
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets amortization, net
of income taxes and minority interest � 1.60 .63

Adjusted income from continuing operations $ 1.50 $ 1.25 $ 1.37

Reported net earnings $ 1.50 $ ..24 $ 1.11
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets amortization, net
of income taxes and minority interests � 1.60 .63

Adjusted net earnings $ 1.50 $ 1.84 $ 1.74

Amortization expense relating to intangible assets subject to amortization totaled $53 million, $41 million and $10 million during the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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At December 31, 2002 and 2001, our intangible assets were comprised of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001

Weighted
Average
Useful
Lives

Gross Carrying
Amount, at Cost

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross Carrying
Amount, at Cost

Accumulated
Amortization

Not subject to
amortization:
Goodwill $ 819,856 $ � $ 626,785 $ �
Tradenames,
trademarks and domain
names 21,980 � 7,682 �

841,836 � 634,467 �
Subject to amortization:
Purchased technology 4 years 129,766 (68,961) 125,146 (36,592)
Acquired customer
relationships and
database 7 years 36,687 (10,834) 32,820 (4,950)
Non-compete
agreements 4 years 17,059 (11,634) 17,059 (4,971)
Acquired contracts,
supplier and distributor
agreements 3 years 29,369 (13,526) 8,261 (5,018)

212,881 (104,955) 183,286 (51,531)

Total $ 1,054,717 $ (104,955) $ 817,753 $ (51,531)
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At December 31, 2001, accumulated amortization of $381 million and $6 million relating to goodwill and tradenames/trademarks,
respectively, were reclassified against the gross cost of the related assets.

Estimated amortization expense relating to intangible assets subject to amortization for each of the five succeeding years is as follows
(in thousands):

2003 $ 47,913
2004 40,676
2005 10,614
2006 4,382
2007 4,341
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Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the twelve months ended December 31, 2001 and 2002 are as follows (in
thousands):

Sabre Travel
Network Travelocity GetThere

Sabre Airline
Solutions Total

Balance at December 31, 2000 $ 129,684 $ 176,524 $ 545,941 $ � $ 852,149
Goodwill acquired 6,400 � � 3,724 10,124
Goodwill adjustments (205) 1,312 527 � 1,634
Goodwill amortization (12,160) (80,234) (144,728) � (237,122)

Balance at December 31, 2001 123,719 97,602 401,740 3,724 626,785
Goodwill acquired � 198,341 � 1,457 199,798
Goodwill adjustments � � (6,811) 84 (6,727)

Balance at December 31, 2002 $ 123,719 $ 295,943 $ 394,929 $ 5,265 $ 819,856

The goodwill balances at December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001 include $94 million of goodwill related to our investments in
joint ventures. Goodwill resulting from joint ventures is included in investments in joint ventures in the accompanying balance sheet.

In connection with the acquisition of GetThere, Inc. in October 2000, certain warrants to obtain GetThere stock were converted into
contingent warrants for Sabre stock. We included $16 million for the value of these warrants in the purchase price recorded for our
acquisition of GetThere. In March 2002, we made a cash payment of $10 million to settle these warrants. To record this settlement,
equity was reduced by the $16 million recorded value of the warrants and goodwill was reduced by approximately $6 million, the
difference between the cash payment and the recorded value of the warrants.

Concentration of Credit Risk�Our customers are primarily located in the United States, Canada, Europe, Latin America and Asia, and
are concentrated in the travel industry. We generate a significant portion of our revenues and corresponding accounts receivable from
services provided to the commercial air travel industry. As of December 31, 2002, approximately 63% of our trade accounts receivable
were attributable to these customers. Our other accounts receivable are generally due from other participants in the travel and
transportation industry. Approximately 11%, 13% and 12% of revenues from continuing operations in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively, were related to American and other subsidiaries of AMR. Each of our segments recognized revenues from transactions
with American through 2001. Beginning 2002, only one of our business segments did not recognize revenues from American. We
generally do not require security or collateral from our customers as a condition of sale.

We regularly monitor the financial condition of the air transportation industry and have noted the financial difficulties faced by AMR
and other air carriers. We believe the credit risk related to AMR's and other carriers' difficulties is mitigated somewhat by the fact that
we collect a significant portion of the receivables from these carriers through the Airline Clearing House ("ACH"). In 2002, two other
major airline customers filed for bankruptcy protection. In each case, invoices that were cleared through ACH were paid without
interruption, including pre-petition invoices. We believe use of ACH mitigates our credit risk in cases of airline bankruptcies.
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We maintained an allowance for losses of approximately $35 million and $41 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively,
based upon the amount of accounts receivable expected to prove uncollectible. We evaluate the collectibility of our accounts
receivable based on a combination of factors. In circumstances where we are aware of a specific customer's inability to meet its
financial obligations to us (e.g., bankruptcy filings, failure to pay amounts due to us or others), we record a specific reserve for bad
debts against amounts due to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount we reasonably believe will be collected. For all other
customers, we recognize reserves for bad debts based on past write-off history (average percentage of receivables written off
historically) and the length of time the receivables are past due.

During 2001 and 2002, the commercial air travel industry in particular, and the travel and transportation industry in general, was
adversely affected by a decline in travel resulting from a softening economy. This was worsened by the aftermath of the events of
September 11, 2001. We believe that we have appropriately considered the effects of these factors, as well as any other known
customer liquidity issues, on the ability of our customers to pay amounts owed to us. However, if demand for commercial air travel
softens, due to prevailing economic conditions, terrorist acts or other incidents involving commercial air transport, or other factors, the
financial condition of our customers may be adversely impacted. If we begin, or estimate that we will begin, to experience higher than
expected defaults on amounts due us, our estimates of the amounts which we will ultimately collect could be reduced by a material
amount.

Customer Incentives�Certain service contracts with significant subscribers contain booking productivity clauses and other provisions
which allow subscribers to receive cash payments and/or various amounts of additional equipment and other services from us at no
cost. We establish liabilities for these commitments and recognize the related expense as the subscribers earn incentives based on the
applicable contractual terms. Accrued incentives liabilities at December 31, 2002 and 2001 were approximately $69 million and
$89 million, respectively. Periodically, we make cash payments to subscribers at inception or modification of a service contract which
are deferred and amortized over the expected life of the service contract, generally three years. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, we
had $58 million and $22 million, respectively, in deferred charges related to such contracts. The service contracts are priced so that the
additional airline and other booking fees generated over the life of the contract will exceed the cost of the incentives provided.

Earnings Per Share�Basic earnings per share excludes any dilutive effect of options, warrants and other stock-based awards. The
number of shares used in the diluted earnings per share calculations includes the dilutive effect of stock options and restricted and
career equity shares.
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The following table reconciles weighted average shares used in computing basic and diluted earnings per common share (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Denominator for basic earnings per common share�
weighted-average shares 140,337 132,317 129,198
Dilutive effect of stock awards and options 2,222 � 643

Denominator for diluted earnings per common share�
adjusted weighted-average shares 142,559 132,317 129,841

Options to purchase approximately 8,413,000, 4,936,000 and 8,280,000 weighted-average shares of common stock were outstanding
during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, but were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect
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would be antidilutive.

For additional information regarding stock awards and options, see Note 14.

Stock Awards and Options�At December 31, 2002, we have six stock-based employee compensation plans, which are described more
fully in Note 14. We account for stock awards and options (including awards of AMR stock and stock options granted to employees
prior to July 2, 1996) using the intrinsic value method set forth in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees ("APB 25") and related interpretations. Generally, no compensation expense is recognized for stock option grants
if the exercise price is at or above the fair market value of the underlying stock on the date of grant. Compensation expense relating to
other stock awards is recognized over the period during which the employee renders service to us necessary to earn the award.

In March 2000, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No. 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions
Involving Stock Compensation ("FIN 44"), an interpretation of APB 25. FIN 44, which we adopted prospectively as of July 1, 2000,
requires certain changes to previous practice regarding accounting for certain stock compensation arrangements. FIN 44 does not
change APB 25's intrinsic value method, under which compensation expense is generally not recognized for grants of stock options to
employees with an exercise price equal to the market price of the stock at the date of grant, but it has narrowed its application. The
primary effect of the adoption of FIN 44 on our financial statements has been the requirement to record deferred compensation related
to unvested employee stock options issued in connection with our acquisitions (Note 5). At December 31, 2002 and 2001, unamortized
deferred stock compensation relating to acquisitions which we have made totaled approximately $32 million and $14 million,
respectively, and is recorded as a reduction of additional paid-in capital.

The total charge for stock compensation expense recorded in accordance with APB 25 and included in wages, salaries and benefits
expense for continuing operations was $31 million, $24 million and $10 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The stock
compensation expense resulted from vested and unvested stock options assumed in connection with acquisitions and our grants of
restricted stock (Note 14).
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The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if we had applied the fair value recognition provisions
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation ("SFAS 123"), instead of
APB 25's intrinsic value method to account for stock-based employee compensation (in thousands, except for per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Net earnings as reported $ 214,144 $ 31,227 $ 144,052
Add stock compensation expense, net of income taxes
determined under intrinsic value method 19,794 15,934 7,080
Less total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all awards, net
of income taxes (41,008) (44,636) (32,698)

Pro forma net earnings $ 192,930 $ 2,525 $ 118,434

Net earnings per common share, as reported:
Basic $ 1.53 $ .24 $ 1.11

Diluted $ 1.50 $ .24 $ 1.11

Net earnings per common share, pro forma:
Basic $ 1.37 $ .02 $ .92
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Year Ended December 31,

Diluted $ 1.35 $ .02 $ .91

The above pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share has been determined as if we had accounted for
employee stock options and stock-based awards under the fair value method set forth in SFAS 123. The fair value for the stock options
granted by us to employees was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
weighted-average assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 2.51% to 4.85% for 2002, 3.44% to 5.58% for 2001 and 5.65% to 6.51% for
2000, a dividend yield of 0%; a volatility factor of the expected market price of our Class A common stock of 0.53 for 2002, 0.42 for
2001 and 0.40 for 2000; and a weighted-average expected life of the options granted of 4.5 years.

Comprehensive Income�Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from
transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. During 2002 and 2001 amounts included in comprehensive
income other than net income were approximately $19.2 million loss and $3.1 million income, respectively, primarily consisting of a
minimum pension liability adjustment (Note 11) and unrealized gains on investments and foreign currency forward contracts. For the
year ended December 31, 2000, the difference between net earnings and total comprehensive income was not significant and consisted
primarily of unrealized gains and losses on investments.
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SABRE HOLDINGS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

At December 31, 2002, the components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows (in thousands):

Minimum
Pension Liability
Adjustment

Unrealized Gains
(Losses) on
Investments

Unrealized
Gains on
Foreign
Currency
Forward
Contracts

Unrealized
Foreign
Currency
Translation
Gains (Losses)

Total Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Beginning balance,
December 31, 2001 $ � $ 2,483 $ 802 $ (109) $ 3,176
2002 other comprehensive
income, net of income taxes (21,638) (1,867) 4,174 131 (19,200)

Ending balance,
December 31, 2002 $ (21,638) $ 616 $ 4,976 $ 22 $ (16,024)

The minimum pension liability adjustment in 2002 is net of a $13.4 million deferred income tax effect. The income tax effects
allocated to all components of other comprehensive income during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were not
significant. Amounts reclassified from other comprehensive income to net income during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000 were not significant.

Financial Instruments�The carrying value of our financial instruments including cash, marketable securities, accounts receivable and
short and long-term debt instruments approximate their respective fair values at December 31, 2002 and 2001. The carrying value of
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our derivative instruments (Note 7) approximated their fair value at December 31, 2002 and 2001.

Treasury Stock�We account for the purchase of treasury stock at cost. Upon reissuance of shares of treasury stock, we record any
difference between the weighted-average cost of such shares and any proceeds received as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements�In July 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities ("SFAS 146"). This
statement nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination
Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring). The standard requires companies to
recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of commitment to an exit or
disposal plan. This statement is to be applied prospectively to exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The
adoption of this standard is not expected to have a significant effect on our financial position or results of operations.
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In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of Accounting
Research Bulletin No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements ("FIN 46"). FIN 46 will significantly change current practice by
requiring the consolidation of entities in which an enterprise absorbs a majority of the entity's expected losses, receives a majority of
the entity's expected residual returns, or both, as a result of ownership, contractual or other pecuniary interests in the entity. Currently
entities are generally consolidated by an enterprise which has a controlling financial interest through ownership of a majority voting
interest in the entity. This statement is to be applied to all new variable interest entities entered into after January 31, 2003. The
statement will apply to all existing variable interest entities for periods beginning after June 15, 2003. As a result of the issuance of
FIN 46, we will begin consolidating a special purpose entity, with which we are affiliated, that qualifies as a variable interest entity,
effective July 1, 2003 (Note 10). We are in the process of evaluating the impact of this statement on our other unconsolidated investees
and other financial relationships.

3.    EDS Transaction

On March 14, 2001, we entered into agreements with Electronic Data Systems Corporation ("EDS") which provide for (i) the sale of
our technology infrastructure outsourcing business (the "Outsourcing Business") and information technology ("IT") infrastructure
assets and associated real estate to EDS (the "Asset Purchase Agreement"), (ii) a 10-year contract with EDS to manage our IT systems
(the "IT Outsourcing Agreement") and (iii) agreements between Sabre and EDS to jointly market IT services and software solutions to
the travel and transportation industries (the "Marketing Agreements").

Effective July 1, 2001, we completed the sale to EDS of our Outsourcing Business including outsourcing contracts, Web hosting
contracts and IT infrastructure assets and associated real estate to EDS for approximately $661 million in cash. In addition, we may
receive aggregate additional payments from EDS for these assets of up to a total of $6 million on April 15, 2003 and 2004, depending
on the amount of revenues received by EDS under an airline outsourcing contract included in the sale. On July 2, 2001, we repaid
$710 million of existing short-term borrowings using proceeds from the EDS sale and existing cash balances.

The assets transferred included, among other things, our outsourcing contracts with American, US Airways, Gulf Air, and
Dollar/Thrifty Rent-A-Car; and our data centers, network and desktop and mid-range computer systems. These assets were used for
our Outsourcing Business and for transaction processing in our Sabre Travel Network segment, including the operation of the Sabre
system. Approximately 4,000 of our employees, located mostly in the United States, were transitioned to employment with EDS upon
closing of the transaction.

We retained our Sabre Travel Network business, Travelocity, our consumer direct travel services business, GetThere, our corporate
direct travel services business, and Sabre Airline Solutions, our software development and consulting solutions business.
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We also retained contracts and assets that are directly related to our core Sabre Airline Solutions business. Those include our
reservations hosting business, which provides internal reservation systems for airline customers; contracts to provide software
applications development, maintenance and licensing; our intellectual property assets, including our software applications portfolios;
and the eMergo suite of products offered by Sabre Airline Solutions as an online application service provider.

Under the IT Outsourcing Agreement, EDS provides, manages and operates our IT infrastructure, including data center management,
applications hosting, selected applications development, data assurance and network management services. The term of the IT
Outsourcing Agreement is 10 years. Fees paid to EDS under the IT Outsourcing Agreement are primarily based upon the usage of
services. The IT Outsourcing Agreement is expected to generate cost savings for us over the term of the agreements.

Under the Marketing Agreements, Sabre and EDS agreed to jointly market certain IT services and software solutions to the travel and
transportation industries. As part of the marketing relationship, EDS contributed $20 million toward enhancing and promoting our
portfolio of airline software solutions during 2001 and 2002. Such amounts were recognized as a reduction of our costs of such
enhancements and promotions. EDS also moved its travel bookings to our Sabre system and implemented our GetThere corporate
booking platform in its organization.

This disposition of the Outsourcing Business represents the disposal of a business segment under Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations�Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and
Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions ("APB 30"). As a result of this transaction, the
consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 have been reclassified to present the
Outsourcing Business as a discontinued operation. The related statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2001 and
2000 have not been reclassified as permitted by APB 30.

Summarized financial information for the discontinued operations is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2000

Revenues $ 370,007 $ 676,640

Income before provision for income taxes $ 59,060 $ 77,680
Provision for income taxes 22,755 29,733

Income from discontinued operations, net $ 36,305 $ 47,947

No interest expense has been allocated to the discontinued operations.

We recorded a gain during the third quarter of 2001 of approximately $39 million, net of related income taxes of approximately
$25 million, as a result of the disposition of these assets.
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4.    Marketable Securities

        Marketable securities consist of (in thousands):

December 31,

2002 2001

Corporate notes $ 465,624 $ 237,616
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December 31,

U.S. Government agency and treasury notes 185,602 �
Mortgages 158,146 75,052
Overnight investments and time deposits 58,495 205,558
Asset-backed securities 22,717 129,806

Total $ 890,584 $ 648,032

The following table summarizes marketable securities by contractual maturity (in thousands):

December 31,

2002 2001

Due in one year or less $ 145,709 $ 226,842
Due after one year through three years 512,872 308,709
Due after three years 232,003 112,481

Total $ 890,584 $ 648,032

Marketable securities, all of which are classified as available-for-sale, are stated at fair value based on market quotes. Net unrealized
gains and losses, net of deferred taxes, have not been significant and are recorded as a component of other comprehensive income.

We expect that the majority of marketable securities will be sold within one year, regardless of maturity date. We primarily invest in
high credit quality debt instruments with an active resale market and money market funds to ensure liquidity and the ability to readily
convert these investments into cash to fund current operations, or satisfy other cash requirements as needed. Accordingly, we have
classified all marketable securities as current assets in the accompanying balance sheets.

5.    Mergers and Acquisitions

2002 Mergers and Acquisitions

During 2002, we completed the following material acquisitions, each of which was accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting for business combinations. The results of operations of the acquired entities have been included in our consolidated
statements of income from the date of acquisition through December 31, 2002.
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Acquisition of Travelocity.com Minority Interest

On April 8, 2002 we completed a $28 per share cash tender offer for all of the approximately 16.7 million outstanding publicly-held
common shares of Travelocity.com that we did not own. Prior to the tender offer, we had an approximate 70% ownership stake in
Travelocity.com. We then effected a short-form merger, whereby Travelocity.com became our indirect 100% owned subsidiary, on
April 11, 2002. The Travelocity.com transaction supports our continuing strategy to deliver value to suppliers and travelers across
multiple distribution channels. We believe it makes sense to combine the strengths of our segments to pursue new revenue
opportunities, while optimizing investment decisions across segments.

The aggregate cost of the tender offer and the ensuing merger was approximately $474 million. We used available balances of cash
and marketable securities to complete the acquisition, of which approximately $18 million remains to be paid at December 31, 2002.
The results of operations of the acquired interest in Travelocity.com have been included in our consolidated statements of income and
the results of operations from the date of the acquisition. The acquisition has been accounted for as a purchase. The proportionate
share of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed from the minority interest have been recorded at their fair values and the excess of
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cost over the estimated fair value of the net assets has been recorded as goodwill. The fair values were determined by management
based on an independent valuation of the net assets acquired, including intangible assets. The following table summarizes the
allocation of the purchase price and amounts allocated to goodwill (in thousands):

Minority interest assumed $ 252,597
Deferred income tax asset, net 21,665
Distributor agreements (weighted average life of 3 years) 18,016
Supplier agreements (weighted average life of 3 years) 2,192
Proprietary software (weighted average life of 3 years) 2,256
Customer database (weighted average life of 7 years) 3,739
Tradenames, trademarks and domain names (indefinite life) 13,698
Goodwill 160,146

Total purchase price $ 474,309

The recorded goodwill relates to the Travelocity segment and is not deductible for tax purposes.

We are also recognizing stock compensation based on the intrinsic value of awards that were converted at the date of the acquisition
from options to purchase shares of Travelocity.com Inc. common stock into options to purchase shares of our common stock. Total
stock compensation expense related to the converted Travelocity.com options for the year ended December 31, 2002 was
approximately $22.3 million, including $14.2 million of expense recognized at the date of acquisition relating to the conversion of
vested employee options to purchase shares of Travelocity.com stock to purchase shares of our stock. At December 31, 2002 the
amount of unrecognized stock compensation expense to be amortized over the remaining vesting period of the related options is
approximately $20.9 million.
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Site59

On March 27, 2002, we completed the acquisition of Site59.com, Inc. ("Site59"), a consumer direct seller of last-minute merchant
model air, hotel and rental car inventory, for approximately $44 million in cash. Subsequent to the acquisition, Site59 is our indirect
100% owned subsidiary.

The acquisition of Site59 has provided Travelocity with a greater mix of merchant hotel inventory. This new inventory has
complemented the extensive inventory Travelocity already receives through its long-term agreement with Hotels.com, Inc.
("Hotels.com", formerly Hotel Reservations Network, Inc.) (Note 7). In addition, on October 27, 2002 Travelocity launched its own
Merchant Model Hotels ("MMH") offering. Many of the hotels marketing rooms through Site59 opted to expand their existing
relationship to also participate in the MMH program.

We are operating Site59 as a separate unit within the Travelocity segment, generating revenue from last-minute travelers. The results
of operations of Site59 have been included in our consolidated statements of income and the results of operations of our Travelocity
segment from the date of acquisition. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed have been recorded at their estimated fair values and the
excess of cost over the estimated fair value of the net assets has been recorded as goodwill. The fair values were determined by
management based on an independent valuation of the net assets acquired, including intangible assets. The following table summarizes
the allocation of the purchase price and amounts allocated to goodwill (in thousands):

Working capital acquired $ 1,770
Property and equipment and other non-current assets 824
Software 1,352
Non-current liabilities (75)
Supplier agreements (weighted average life of 1.5 years) 900
Tradenames, trademarks and domain names (indefinite life) 600
Goodwill 38,195

Edgar Filing: WESCO INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 424B3

Table of Contents 117



Total purchase price $ 43,566

The acquired goodwill is related to the Travelocity segment and is not deductible for tax purposes.
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Pro Forma Statements of Operations Data for Mergers and Acquisitions During 2002

The unaudited pro forma statements of operations data in the table below presents the effects of the acquisition of the minority interest
of Travelocity.com on our results of operations as if the acquisition occurred on January 1, 2001. Adjustments related to the
acquisition that affect the statements of operations include stock compensation expense associated with the conversion of
Travelocity.com options into options to purchase shares of Sabre's common stock, amortization of the fair value of amortizing
intangible assets acquired and elimination of minority interests in the results of operations of Travelocity.com. Pro forma adjustments
related to the acquisition of Site59 have not been included, as the effect of doing so would be immaterial. Amounts shown below are in
thousands, except per share amounts.

Year Ended December 31

2002 2001

(unaudited)

Revenues $ 2,056,466 $ 2,144,961

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 220,777 $ (80,233)

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting
method $ 220,777 $ (5,156)

Net earnings (loss) $ 220,777 $ (2,053)

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations per common share
Basic $ 1.57 $ (.61)

Diluted $ 1.55 $ (.61)

Net earnings (loss) per common share
Basic $ 1.57 $ (.02)

Diluted $ 1.55 $ (.02)

2001 Mergers and Acquisitions

Sabre Pacific

In March 2001, we purchased the Sabre Pacific travel distribution business for approximately $46 million from Travel Industries
Automated Systems Pty Limited (TIAS). Sabre Pacific was originally formed to distribute the Sabre system in Australia, New Zealand
and the South Pacific under a licensing agreement with us. We did not previously have an ownership position in Sabre Pacific.
Subsequent to the acquisition, Sabre Pacific was our indirect 100% owned subsidiary. The purchase will give travel suppliers, travel
agents and travelers in the South Pacific region greater access to our global resources and technology, potentially boosting our
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bookings share in that region.
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The acquisition has been accounted for as a purchase. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed have been recorded at their fair values
and the excess of cost over the estimated fair value of the net assets has been recorded as goodwill. The fair values were determined by
our management based on information furnished by Sabre Pacific's management and independent valuations of the net assets acquired,
including intangible assets. The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price and amounts allocated to goodwill (in
thousands):

Working capital acquired $ 745
Long term assets and liabilities 1,049
Non-compete agreements (weighted average life of 4 years) 13,200
Customer relationships (weighted average life of 7 years) 24,800
Goodwill 6,594

Total purchase price $ 46,388

The amortization periods for intangible assets subject to amortization are four to seven years. Goodwill is no longer amortized
effective January 1, 2002 upon the adoption of SFAS 142 (Note 2). The recorded tax-deductible goodwill relates to the Sabre Travel
Network segment.

In October 2001, ABACUS, a joint venture of which we own a 35% economic interest, exercised its option to purchase 49% of Sabre
Pacific. We capitalized the subsidiary that purchased Sabre Pacific with approximately $15 million cash and loaned it approximately
$31 million to purchase Sabre Pacific for a total of $46 million. ABACUS purchased 49% of Sabre Pacific by paying approximately
$8 million for 49% of its equity and purchased 49% of the outstanding loan balance for approximately $15 million. This sale was
completed in January 2002. No significant gain or loss was recognized upon the sale.

Pro Forma Statement of Operations Data for Mergers and Acquisitions During 2001

Pro forma information related to the mergers and acquisitions during 2001 has not been presented as the effect of these acquisitions
was not material to our historical results of operations.
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2000 Mergers and Acquisitions

Merger of Travelocity.com and Preview Travel, Inc.

On March 7, 2000, we completed the merger of Travelocity.com, a newly created subsidiary, and Preview Travel, Inc. ("Preview"), an
independent publicly-traded company engaged in consumer direct travel distribution over the Internet. Under the terms of the merger
agreement, shareholders of Preview received one common share of Travelocity.com for each share of Preview held, and Preview was
merged into Travelocity.com, the surviving entity. Shares of Travelocity.com stock traded under the symbol "TVLY" on the
NASDAQ National Market until the tender offer to acquire all outstanding shares was completed as discussed above. In connection
with the merger, we contributed our Travelocity division and approximately $100 million in cash to Travelocity.com LP, a Delaware
limited partnership (the "Partnership"). Immediately following the merger, Travelocity.com contributed the assets and businesses
obtained from the acquisition of Preview to the Partnership. As a result of the merger, we owned an economic interest of
approximately 70% in the combined businesses, composed of an approximate 60% direct interest in the Partnership and an
approximate 25% interest in Travelocity.com which holds an approximate 40% interest in the Partnership. Travelocity.com was
included in our consolidated financial statements and the approximate 30% outside ownership was reported as minority interest.

The cost of the acquisition of Preview was approximately $287 million, which has been allocated to the respective assets and liabilities
acquired based on estimated fair values, with the remainder recorded as goodwill. Fair values were determined by our management
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based on information furnished by Preview's management and independent valuations of the net assets acquired, including intangible
assets. We recorded goodwill and other intangible assets related to this acquisition of approximately $252 million which are being
amortized over one to three years, except for those assets no longer amortized under the provisions of SFAS 142.

On April 8, 2002 we completed a $28 per share cash tender offer for all of the approximately 16.7 million outstanding publicly-held
common shares of Travelocity.com that we did not previously own. Accordingly, Travelocity.com became our indirect 100% owned
subsidiary on April 11, 2002, thereby eliminating the minority interest.

Acquired Interest in Dillon Communication Systems GmbH ("Dillon")

On June 26, 2000, we acquired a 51% ownership interest in Dillon, a supplier of electronic travel distribution services in Germany. In
accordance with the purchase agreement, we paid approximately $20 million in cash with additional payments of approximately
$1 million to be made in each of the three years following the acquisition date. The cost of the acquisition of approximately
$24 million was allocated to the respective assets and liabilities acquired based on estimated fair values, with the remainder recorded
as goodwill. We recorded goodwill and other intangible assets related to this acquisition of approximately $24 million, which are
being amortized over approximately five years, except for those assets no longer amortized under the provisions of SFAS 142.
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Acquisition of Gradient Solutions Limited

On August 15, 2000, we acquired Gradient Solutions Limited, ("Gradient") resulting in Gradient becoming an indirect 100% owned
subsidiary. In 2002, Gradient's name was changed to Sabre Ireland Online Limited. Sabre Ireland Online Limited is a Dublin,
Ireland-based technology company that provides e-commerce solutions to the global travel marketplace. The cost of the acquisition
was approximately $39 million, of which approximately $13 million was paid in cash with the balance in Euro-denominated notes
payable which has been subsequently paid. This cost was allocated to the respective assets and liabilities acquired based on estimated
fair values, with the remainder recorded as goodwill. We recorded goodwill and other intangible assets of approximately $38 million
related to this acquisition, which are being amortized over approximately five years, except for those assets no longer amortized under
the provisions of SFAS 142.

Acquisition of GetThere, Inc. ("GetThere")

On October 17, 2000, we acquired GetThere, a Delaware corporation, resulting in GetThere becoming our indirect 100% owned
subsidiary. GetThere operates one of the world's largest Internet marketplaces focused on corporate travel services and powers online
travel sites for leading airlines. The cost of the acquisition of GetThere was approximately $753 million. The cost of the acquisition
has been allocated to the respective assets and liabilities acquired based on estimated fair values, with the remainder recorded as
goodwill. The fair values were determined by our management based on information furnished by GetThere's management and
independent valuations of the net assets acquired, including intangible assets. We recorded goodwill and other intangible assets of
approximately $688 million related to this acquisition, which are being amortized over two to four years, except for those assets no
longer amortized under the provisions of SFAS 142.

69

Pro Forma Statement of Operations Data for Mergers and Acquisitions During 2000

The following unaudited pro forma information presents our results of operations from continuing operations as if the mergers and
acquisitions which occurred in 2000 discussed above had occurred as of January 1, 2000. The pro forma information has been
prepared by combining our results of operations and the acquired businesses for the year ended December 31, 2000. This pro forma
information does not purport to be indicative of what would have occurred had these mergers and acquisitions occurred as of that date,
or of results of operations from continuing operations that may occur in the future (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended
December 31, 2000

(unaudited)
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Year Ended
December 31, 2000

Revenues $ 2,028,412

Loss from continuing operations $ (64,305)

Net loss $ (16,358)

Loss per common share from continuing operations:
Basic $ (.50)

Diluted $ (.50)

Net loss per common share:
Basic $ (.13)

Diluted $ (.13)

6.    Significant Events and Transactions

Events of September 11, 2001�On September 11, 2001, the United States was the target of terrorist attacks of unprecedented scope
involving the hijacking and destruction of multiple passenger aircraft operated by commercial air carriers. Air travel in the United
States was suspended for several days after the attacks. As a consequence, we experienced significant decreases in bookings volumes
due to reduced travel in the United States and, to a lesser degree, internationally. Travel bookings decreased dramatically in the days
immediately following the attacks, but steadily increased from an approximate 65% decline immediately after the attacks as compared
to the same period the year before, to an approximate 15% decline by the end of 2001. Travel levels did not rebound in 2002, and for
the full year total worldwide travel bookings processed through our global distribution system, which includes direct connect bookings
and joint venture bookings for which we or our distribution partners earn a booking fee, were 397 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002, a decrease of 7.8% from 431 million bookings in 2001.
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We expect that we, the travel industry and the economy in general will continue to be adversely affected by the terrorist attacks, and
by any subsequent terrorist-related activity, particularly if any such activity involves commercial air transportation, by the possibility
of terrorist attacks, governmental hostilities and military action, by the financial instability of many air carriers and by delays caused
by increased security at airports. Although we expect that the travel industry will gradually recover, it is not possible to predict either
the severity or duration of such decreases in the medium or long term. A prolonged substantial decrease in travel bookings volumes
could have an adverse impact on our financial performance, operations, liquidity, or capital resources and could impair our ability to
recover the carrying value of certain of our assets, including capitalized software, other intangible assets and goodwill (Note 5).

US Airways Agreement�In January 1998, we completed the execution of a 25-year information technology services agreement with
US Airways. Under the terms of the agreement, we granted to US Airways two tranches of stock options, each to acquire
approximately 3.4 million shares of our Class A common stock at an exercise price of $23.78 per share, as adjusted for the effects of
the February 7, 2000 dividend (Note 13). Prior to January 1, 2001, US Airways had the ability to exercise the options and elect to
receive cash or discounts on services provided under the related information technology services agreement. On December 14, 1999,
US Airways exercised the first tranche of stock options. Pursuant to the terms of the exercised options, we settled the options in cash
in lieu of issuing common stock and paid approximately $81 million to US Airways on January 5, 2000. The second tranche of options
remained outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001.

Because of US Airway's ability to exercise and receive cash or discounts, the unexercised options represented a liability to us during
periods prior to January 1, 2001. Accordingly, we recorded a liability and related deferred costs equal to the number of options
outstanding, multiplied by the difference between the exercise price of the options and the market price of our Class A common stock.
The deferred costs and liability were adjusted for changes in the market price of our stock at each month-end until such time as the
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options were settled or US Airways' ability to select cash or discounts in place of receiving stock expired. During 2001 and 2000 we
recorded amortization expense of approximately $18 million and $12 million, respectively, related to the options, which is recorded in
income from discontinued operations. The deferred costs were being amortized over the eleven-year non-cancelable portion of the
agreement. The unamortized carrying value of the deferred costs of the options on July 2, 2001 of approximately $124 million was
written off in connection with the sale of the Outsourcing Business to EDS (Note 3) and is included in the computation of our gain
recorded upon the sale.

On December 31, 2000, the opportunity of US Airways to select an alternative vehicle in place of receiving shares of our common
stock upon exercise of the second tranche of options expired. As a result, beginning January 1, 2001, those options held by US
Airways began to be carried as an equity instrument instead of a liability instrument. The fair market value of the options on January 1,
2001 of approximately $100 million was reclassified from liabilities to additional paid-in capital.
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France Telecom Depository Certificates�Prior to June 30, 2001, American held for our economic benefit certain depository
certificates representing beneficial ownership of common stock of Equant N.V., which was acquired by France Telecom in the first
half of 2001. During 2001, our remaining ownership position in these holdings was liquidated, and we received proceeds totaling
approximately $47 million. As our carrying value of these holdings was nominal, a gain approximating the proceeds received was
recorded in other income during 2001.

Workforce Reductions�As a result of decreased travel and booking volumes resulting from the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks,
we announced a workforce reduction in December 2001. This included an anticipated workforce reduction of approximately 700
employees, or approximately 12%. In addition, we made provisions for the closing of some small leased office facilities in the United
States and Canada. The total expense recorded for these actions was approximately $28.2 million, of which approximately
$20.0 million was for severance payments and benefits continuation charges for affected employees and approximately $8.2 million
related to costs resulting from the cancellation of office leases. Most of the severance payments were made during the first half of
2002. Liabilities related to the vacated facilities will be paid over the applicable lease terms.

During the second quarter of 2002, it was determined that certain office space was not going to be vacated. Therefore, we reduced the
facilities accrual by $3.5 million. We further reduced the facilities accrual by $0.4 million in the fourth quarter because certain of the
facilities were vacated later than initially planned. In the fourth quarter of 2002, it was determined that only 615 employees were
affected by the 2001 workforce reduction and we reduced the severance accrual by $2.4 million, accordingly. No further adjustments
are expected related to the 2001 workforce reduction.

Due to continued low travel and booking volumes as a result of a weakening economy, we further reduced our workforce in
December 2002 by approximately 400 employees, or 6% of our workforce. Approximately $15.8 million of expense was recorded for
this reduction. We anticipate that substantially all of this severance accrual will be paid by the end of the first quarter of 2003. The
following table summarizes the costs related to the 2001 and 2002 workforce reductions, as well as the liabilities included in the
balance sheets at December 31, 2001 and 2002 (in thousands).

Severance Facilities Total

Estimated cost of 2001 workforce reduction $ 19,945 $ 8,245 $ 28,190
Amounts paid in 2001 (3,055) (513) (3,568)

Remaining liability at December 31, 2001 16,890 7,732 24,622
Estimated cost of 2002 workforce reduction 15,791 � 15,791
Amounts paid in 2002 (17,520) (2,672) (20,192)
Revisions of estimated cost of 2001 workforce reduction (2,365) (3,889) (6,254)

Remaining liability at December 31, 2002 $ 12,796 $ 1,171 $ 13,967

Sale of Former Corporate Headquarters Office Facility�On January 31, 2002, we sold our former headquarters office facility in Fort
Worth, Texas to a third party. We received proceeds of approximately $80 million in cash and recognized a pre-tax gain of
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approximately $18 million as a result of the sale, which is included in other income.
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Sale of Data Center Facility�In July 2002, we purchased a data center facility constructed on our behalf in Tulsa, Oklahoma from the
lessor under the provisions of the lease agreement for approximately $92 million and immediately sold it to a third party. This sale of
the data center was contemplated as part of the sale of the Outsourcing Business. We received proceeds of approximately $68 million
in cash and realized a loss of approximately $24 million, which had been previously accrued in 2001 in connection with the EDS
transaction (Note 3).

7.    Derivatives

We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
("SFAS 133"), effective January 1, 2001. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, we were a party to certain derivative instruments, including
foreign currency forwards related to anticipated foreign currency expenditures over the next twelve months, warrants received from
Hotels.com ("Hotels.com warrants") by Travelocity in connection with an affiliation agreement entered into during 2000 and interest
rate swaps entered into in connection with unsecured notes issued in 2001.

We have designated the foreign currency forwards as a cash flow hedge. As such, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the
forwards is reported as a component of other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings as a component of cost of revenues
in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Effectiveness is measured by comparing the
changes in the present value of the anticipated foreign currency denominated expenses, measured using forward rates, arising from the
hedged forecasted expenses with the changes in the fair value of the forward contract using forward exchange rates. Any gain or loss
on the forwards in excess of the cumulative change in the present value of the anticipated foreign currency denominated expenses, if
any, is recognized in other income during the period of change. The cumulative effect of adoption of SFAS 133 related to these foreign
currency forwards was insignificant. Amounts reclassified from other comprehensive income to earnings during the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001 relating to the forwards were not significant. There was no hedging ineffectiveness recorded in earnings
relating to the forwards during the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001.
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We recognized a cumulative gain in earnings upon adoption of SFAS 133 of approximately $3 million, net of minority interest of
approximately $2 million and deferred income taxes of approximately $2 million, relating to the Hotels.com warrants. During
March 2001, we extended our affiliation agreement with Hotels.com through July 31, 2005 and expanded the scope of the Hotels.com
relationship. In connection with the expanded and extended agreement, we received additional vested Hotels.com warrants with a fair
value of approximately $30 million on the date of receipt. We will recognize this amount as revenue over the extended term of the
agreement. During 2002, 2001 and 2000 we recognized revenue relating to amortization of the fair value of the Hotels.com warrants
received at contract origination and modification totaling approximately $8.6 million, $7.4 million and $1.0 million, respectively. We
may also vest in additional warrants in the future based upon the achievement of certain performance metrics. During 2002 and 2001,
we received additional Hotels.com warrants, based on achievement of these metrics, with a fair value of approximately $8.6 million
and $4.2 million, respectively. Such amounts have been recognized as revenue in the periods the warrants were earned. During the
years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, we completed cashless exercises of Hotels.com warrants and received approximately
160,000 shares and 1.1 million shares, respectively, of Hotels.com common stock; the stock was disposed of for cash proceeds totaling
approximately $8.8 million and $38.9 million, respectively. No significant gain or loss was realized relating to the exercise of the
warrants or disposals of the Hotels.com common stock during 2002 and 2001. During 2002 and 2001, we recorded a loss of
approximately $.5 million and $3 million, respectively, in other income relating to changes in the fair value of the Hotels.com
warrants. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, we held 57,285 and 55,659 unexercised Hotels.com warrants, respectively, with fair
values of $2.2 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

In connection with our issuance in August 2001 of $400 million principal amount in unsecured notes (Note 9) with a fixed interest rate
of 7.35% ("Notes"), we entered into two interest rate swaps. We had designated the swaps as fair value hedges of $100 million and
$200 million principal amount, respectively, of the Notes. Because the critical terms of the Notes and the swaps matched, the swaps
were considered a perfectly effective hedge against changes in the fair value of the Notes due to changes in the London Interbank
Offered Rate ("LIBOR"). On August 1, 2002 we terminated the swaps, resulting in a gain of approximately $17 million. The gain was
recorded as an increase in the carrying value of the Notes, and will be amortized as an offset to interest expense over the remaining
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term of the Notes which mature in entirety on August 1, 2011. Also, on August 1, 2002, we entered into two new interest rate swaps.
Under the terms of the two new interest rate swaps, which have notional amounts of $100 million and $200 million, we will receive
semi-annual payments based on a fixed interest rate of 7.35% and will make semi-annual payments based on a six-month LIBOR plus
231 basis points. The reset dates on the swaps are February 1 and August 1 each year until maturity on August 1, 2011. The initial
six-month LIBOR date for both swaps is August 1, 2002 and the initial rate of 4.17125% has been set on both swaps. We have
designated the swaps as fair value hedges of $100 million and $200 million of the principal amount of the Notes. Changes in the fair
value of the swaps are recognized as a component of other income in each reporting period. Additionally, the carrying value of the
Notes is adjusted by a like amount, with the adjustment recognized as a component of other income. As of December 31, 2002 and
2001, we had recorded hedging assets of approximately $21.4 million and $2.9 million, respectively, which are included in other assets
in the accompanying balance sheets, and had also recorded a corresponding increase in the carrying values of the Notes relating to
these swaps.
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SABRE HOLDINGS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7.    Derivatives (Continued)

The estimated fair values of our derivatives as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 are provided below (in thousands):

December 31,

2002 2001

Foreign currency forwards $ 7,019 $ 356
Hotels.com warrants 2,213 1,669
Interest rate swaps 21,397 2,874

Total $ 30,629 $ 4,899

Derivative assets and liabilities are classified as current or long-term other assets and other liabilities, respectively, in the
accompanying balance sheets, depending on the date of settlement of the related contract.

8.    Certain Transactions with AMR and American

On March 15, 2000, AMR distributed their ownership interest in us to AMR shareholders. Accordingly, Sabre is now independent
from AMR and its subsidiaries. Prior to the Spin-off, AMR and its subsidiaries charged certain operating expenses to us to cover
employee benefits, facilities rental, marketing services, management services, legal fees, travel costs and certain other administrative
costs based on employee headcount or actual usage of facilities and services. Such expenses charged to us by AMR and its subsidiaries
approximated $19 million during 2000 prior to the Spin-off. We also paid American approximately $20 million during 2000 for
American providing marketing support for certain of our products and services. Revenues from American and other subsidiaries of
AMR included in continuing operations were $226 million in 2000.

Information Technology Services Agreement�On July 1, 1996, we entered into the Information Technology Services Agreement with
American (the "Technology Services Agreement"), to provide American with certain information technology services. The base term
of the Technology Services Agreement was to expire June 30, 2006. The Technology Services Agreement and related IT assets and
personnel have been transferred to EDS as part of the sale of the Outsourcing Business (Note 3). Substantially all of the services under
the Technology Services Agreement are now provided by EDS. We may receive additional payments from EDS for those assets,
depending on the amount of revenues received by EDS under the Technology Services Agreement. The terms of the services to be
provided to American by EDS, however, vary. Certain software applications development and maintenance services were retained by
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us under a new agreement with American. We also transferred to American approximately 250 employees who had previously been
providing dedicated support services for American.
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Travel Agreements�Sabre and American are parties to a Travel Privileges Agreement dated July 1, 1996 (the "Travel Privileges
Agreement"), pursuant to which we are entitled to purchase personal travel for our employees and retirees at reduced fares. The Travel
Privileges Agreement will expire on June 30, 2008. To pay for the provision of flight privileges to certain of our future retired
employees, we make a lump sum payment to American each year for each employee retiring in that year. The payment per retiree is
based on the number of years of service with us and AMR over the prior ten years of service. The cost of providing this privilege is
accrued over the estimated service lives of the employees eligible for the privilege (Note 11).

Sabre and American agreed to certain amendments to the Travel Privileges Agreement in connection with the Spin-off and the EDS
transaction. These amendments allow American to provide certain employees with additional limited travel privileges and require us to
indemnify American for costs related to our continued use of the travel privileges.

Sabre and American are also parties to a Corporate Travel Agreement, pursuant to which we receive discounts for certain flights
purchased on American. In exchange, we agreed to fly a certain percentage of our travel on American as compared to all other air
carriers combined.

Indemnification Agreement�In July 1996, Sabre and American entered into an intercompany agreement (the "Indemnification
Agreement") pursuant to which each party indemnified the other for certain obligations relating to our reorganization in preparation
for our initial public offering. Pursuant to the Indemnification Agreement, we indemnified American for liabilities assumed against
third party claims asserted against American as a result of American's prior ownership of assets or operation of businesses contributed
to us and for losses arising from or in connection with our lease of property from American. In exchange, American indemnified us for
specified liabilities retained by it against third party claims against us relating to American's businesses and asserted against us as a
result of the ownership or possession by American prior to July 2, 1996 of any asset contributed to us in July 1996 and for losses
arising from or in connection with American's lease of property from us.

In connection with the Spin-off, we agreed with American to terminate the Indemnification Agreement as of July 1, 2003.

Agreement On Spin-off Taxes�In connection with the Spin-off, we entered into an indemnity agreement with American (the
"Agreement on Spin-off Taxes") pursuant to which we will be responsible for Spin-off related taxes, in certain circumstances, if the
Spin-off is deemed to be taxable as a result of certain factual representations and assumptions relating to us being inaccurate or as a
result of our subsequent actions. The Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") has issued a Tax Ruling to the effect that the Spin-off will be
tax-free to us, AMR and AMR shareholders under Section 355 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (except to the extent
that cash is received in lieu of fractional shares). Under the terms of the Agreement on Spin-off Taxes, we have also agreed to comply
with certain restrictions on our future operations to assure that the Spin-off will be tax free, including restrictions with respect to a
third party's acquisition of shares of our stock and our issuance of stock.
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9.    Debt

On February 4, 2000, we entered into a $300 million, senior unsecured, revolving credit agreement (the "Credit Facility"), which
expires on September 14, 2004. Concurrently, we entered into a short-term $200 million, senior unsecured, term loan agreement (the
"Interim Loan"), with an original maturity of August 4, 2000 which was subsequently extended to February 4, 2001. On February 18,
2000, we utilized a portion of our available cash balance and marketable securities, as well as proceeds from both the Credit Facility
and Interim Loan to fund a $675 million dividend to shareholders (Note 13). In connection with the bridge credit facility discussed
below, the entire $200 million balance outstanding under the Interim Loan was repaid and the Interim Loan agreement was terminated.
At December 31, 2000, there were no outstanding borrowings under the Interim Loan and $149 million outstanding under the Credit
Facility at an average annual interest rate of 6.7%. These borrowings were retired during 2001.
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On October 10, 2000, we entered into an $865 million bridge credit agreement (the "Bridge Credit Agreement") expiring July 10,
2001. Proceeds of the Bridge Credit Agreement were used to fund the acquisition of GetThere and to repay the $200 million
outstanding under the Interim Loan. Interest on the Bridge Credit Agreement was variable, based upon the LIBOR, the prime rate or
the federal funds rate plus a margin, at our option. At December 31, 2000, the outstanding balance of borrowings under the Bridge
Credit Agreement was $710 million at an average interest rate of 7.1%. These borrowings were retired during 2001.

On August 7, 2001, we issued $400 million in unsecured notes with a fixed interest rate of 7.35% ("Notes") in an underwritten public
offering, receiving net cash proceeds of approximately $397 million. The principal of the Notes matures in entirety on August 1, 2011.
In conjunction with these Notes, we have entered into two interest rate swaps through 2011 for a total notional amount of
$300 million, which pay us 7.35% and on which we will pay a variable rate based on a six-month LIBOR rate plus 231 basis points
(Note 7). We used $79 million of the proceeds from the Notes to repay the borrowings under the Credit Facility. The remaining
proceeds from the sale of the Notes were added to working capital.

10.  Commitments and Contingencies

Syndicated Lease Financing�As part of a syndicated lease arrangement, we are affiliated with a special purpose entity ("SPE") which
is also a variable interest entity as that term is defined in FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an
Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements ("FIN 46"), that currently qualifies for
off-balance sheet treatment. In 1999, we arranged a syndicated lease financing facility of approximately $310 million through this
entity for the use of land, an existing office building and the construction of a new corporate headquarters facility in Southlake, Texas,
as well as the construction of a new data center in Tulsa, Oklahoma. The data center in Tulsa was sold during the third quarter of 2002
and the balance of the lease facility is now approximately $207 million. We currently account for the financing facility as an operating
lease. As a result, neither the asset nor the related debt are recorded in our balance sheets at December 31, 2002 and 2001.

77

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46. FIN 46 will significantly change current practice by requiring the consolidation of entities
in which an enterprise absorbs a majority of the entity's expected losses, receives a majority of the entity's expected residual returns, or
both, as a result of ownership, contractual or other pecuniary interests in the entity. Currently entities are generally consolidated by an
enterprise which has a controlling financial interest through ownership of a majority voting interest in the entity. This statement is to
be applied to all new variable interest entities entered into after January 31, 2003. The statement will apply to all existing variable
interest entities for periods beginning after June 15, 2003. As a result of the issuance of FIN 46, we will begin consolidating the SPE
effective July 1, 2003.

The SPE leases the properties to us under a master lease agreement. The initial lease term expires September 2004, with two one-year
renewal periods thereafter, subject to certain lessor and lessee approvals. At any time during the lease term, including the renewal
periods, we have the option to purchase or sell the properties. If the sell option is exercised, we have guaranteed to the lessor that
proceeds on a sale will be at least 84% of the original fair value of the leased facilities and we are responsible for the first dollar loss
on a devaluation of the property of up to 84% of the total funded value of the SPE. At December 31, 2002 (taking into consideration
the sale of the data center), the total guarantee approximated $174 million. We periodically evaluate whether any liability exists related
to this residual value guarantee. To date, we do not believe that any significant liability exists. If the sales proceeds exceed the original
fair value of the leased facilities, we retain the excess.

All capitalization of the SPE has been provided by a consortium of independent banking institutions. The banks have invested capital
at risk exceeding 3.3% of the capital of the SPE. Therefore, we do not consolidate the SPE in our financial statements. If the invested
capital at risk of the lenders declines below 3.3%, or if certain other criteria are not met, we would be required to consolidate the SPE
prior to the effective date of FIN 46.

Had we consolidated the SPE at December 31, 2002 (after taking into consideration the sale of the data center), our reported assets
would have increased by approximately $192 million and reported liabilities would have increased approximately $201 million, net of
deferred taxes. Additionally, instead of rent expense of $5 million and $3 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, we would have recorded depreciation expense of $12 million and $3 million and interest expense of $5 million and
$3 million, respectively.

Yahoo! Agreement�During the second quarter of 2002, we entered into an agreement with Yahoo! whereby Travelocity will be the
exclusive air, car and hotel booking engine on Yahoo! Travel. The agreement was effective July 1, 2002 and expires December 31,
2005. Under the terms of the agreement, we are obligated for minimum payments of $100 million to purchase certain levels of
advertising, corporate services and enterprise solutions from Yahoo! The companies also plan to jointly develop travel solutions for
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individuals, travel agents and travel suppliers that use the firms' networks. The agreement also contains a productivity component,
whereby Yahoo! is paid a percentage of the transactions services revenue generated through the Yahoo! network. The agreement can
be extended for up to two years at Yahoo!'s option.
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Minimum remaining payments due to Yahoo! under the terms of the agreement at December 31, 2002 are as follows (in thousands):

2003 $ 28,000
2004 29,000
2005 29,000

$ 86,000

AOL Agreement�In 1999, we entered into an agreement with AOL that provides, among other things, that the Travelocity Website
will be the exclusive reservations engine for AOL's Internet properties. Travelocity is obligated for payments of up to $200 million and
AOL and Travelocity will share advertising revenues and commissions over the five-year term of the agreement. As of December 31,
2002 Travelocity is obligated for future payments of up to $80 million. Under certain circumstances, Travelocity may elect to alter the
terms of this agreement such that guaranteed payments to AOL would no longer be required. Payments due under this agreement are
included in other long-term obligations in the table below.

Future Minimum Payments Under Contractual Obligations�At December 31, 2002, future minimum payments required under the
Notes, the lease with the SPE, other operating lease agreements with terms in excess of one year for facilities, equipment and software
licenses and other significant contractual cash obligations were as follows (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period
For the Years Ended December 31,

Contractual
Obligations 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter

Notes payable (Note 9) $ �$ �$ �$ �$ �$ 400,000
Lease obligations 28,241 21,956 11,712 7,092 5,554 12,042
Amounts receivable under non-cancelable
subleases (5,880) (5,880) (5,880) (5,880) (5,880) (20,580)
Other long-term obligations(1) 242,289 205,092 142,967 125,804 44,836 117,600

Total contractual cash obligations $ 264,650 $ 221,168 $ 148,799 $ 127,016 $ 44,510 $ 509,062

(1)
Primarily composed of obligations under (i) our agreement with AOL for Travelocity to be the exclusive reservations engine
for AOL's Internet properties (ii) our agreement with Yahoo! for Travelocity to be the exclusive air, car and hotel booking
engine on Yahoo! Travel and (iii) minimum amounts due to EDS under the terms of the IT Outsourcing Agreement.

We believe available balances of cash and short-term investments, cash flows from operations and funds available under our revolving
credit facility will be sufficient to meet our cash requirements for the foreseeable future. We continually evaluate opportunities to sell
additional equity or debt securities, obtain credit facilities from lenders, or restructure our long-term debt for strategic reasons or to
further strengthen our financial position. If market conditions warrant, we may engage in additional financing transactions. In addition,
to the extent we consider additional acquisitions of or investments in complementary businesses, products, services and technologies,
such additional activities might affect our liquidity requirements or cause us to issue additional equity or debt securities.
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Rental expense from continuing operations was approximately $26 million, $23 million and $21 million for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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We are involved in certain disputes and other matters arising in the normal course of business. Additionally, we are subject to review
and assessment by various taxing authorities. Although the ultimate resolution of these matters cannot be reasonably estimated at this
time, we do not believe that they will have a material, adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

11.  Employee Benefit Plans

We sponsor The Sabre 401(k) Savings Plan, formerly the Sabre Group Retirement Plan, which is a defined contribution plan qualified
under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. We make a defined contribution and match a defined portion of employee
contributions to the plan and have recorded expenses in continuing operations related to the 401(k) Savings Plan of approximately
$14 million, $9 million and $11 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Additionally, we sponsor The Sabre Inc. Legacy Pension Plan ("LPP"), formerly the Sabre Group Legacy Pension Plan, which is a
tax-qualified defined benefit plan for employees meeting certain eligibility requirements.

We amended our retiree medical and life insurance plan effective January 1, 2001. Retiree life insurance is only available to those who
have retired prior to January 1, 2001. The retiree medical plan was amended to offer subsidized retiree medical coverage only to
employees hired prior to October 1, 2000. Employees hired after that date will be offered access to our company-sponsored plan but
with no subsidy and therefore no liability to us.

Effective January 1, 2001, employee contributions for retiree medical prefunding were discontinued. As a result, approximately
$11 million of prefunding employer contributions from previous years was used to fund other benefits during 2002, which is presented
as employer distributions in the Change in Plan Assets table. Previously established employee retiree medical prefunding account
balances were refunded on December 31, 2001, to all active, retired and disabled participants. Additionally, effective January 1, 2001,
participating retirees began paying premiums, representing approximately 10% of the postretirement plan's annual cost. Retiree
contributions increased to 13% of the plan's annual cost on January 1, 2002, and will increase to 20% of the postretirement plan's
annual cost on January 1, 2006.

Effective July 1, 2001, we sold our Outsourcing Business to EDS. Additionally, American Airlines in-sourced certain IT functions
which were previously performed by us. These two transactions caused a significant decrease in the number of active employees as
they were transitioned to American Airlines and EDS. The transition of a large population of employees that had not met age and
service requirements for retiree medical and travel benefit plans generated a curtailment gain of approximately $6 million. This gain
was recorded as a component of the gain recognized by us in connection with the sale of the Outsourcing Business (Note 3).

Pursuant to the Travel Privileges Agreement, we are entitled to purchase personal travel for certain retirees. To pay for the provision of
flight privileges to certain of our future retired employees, we make a lump sum payment to American for each employee retiring in
that year. The payment per retiree is based on the number of years of service with Sabre and AMR over the prior ten years of service.
The cost of providing this privilege is accrued over the estimated service lives of the employees eligible for the privilege.
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The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the plans' benefit obligations and fair value of assets for the years
ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 and a statement of funded status as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 (in thousands):

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2002 2001 2002 2001

Edgar Filing: WESCO INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 424B3

Table of Contents 128



Pension Benefits Other Benefits

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at January 1 $ (243,020) $ (256,955) $ (77,150) $ (73,315)
Service cost (7,052) (9,891) (3,213) (4,047)
Interest cost (19,219) (18,372) (5,671) (5,457)
Actuarial losses (46,088) (18,464) (14,667) (4,137)
Transfers (4,166) � (171) �
Divestitures � 4,025 � �
Curtailments � 54,440 � 7,192
Benefits paid 4,495 2,197 2,906 2,614

Benefit obligation at December 31 $ (315,050) $ (243,020) $ (97,966) $ (77,150)

Change in plan assets:
Fair value at January 1 $ 186,245 $ 152,665 $ 10,949 $ 10,966
Actual return on plan assets (14,257) 3,350 � 982
Transfers 3,481 � � �
Divestitures � (2,601) � �
Employer contributions (distributions) 30,804 35,028 (10,949) 1,615
Benefits paid (4,495) (2,197) � (2,614)

Fair value at December 31 $ 201,778 $ 186,245 $ � $ 10,949

Funded status of the plan (underfunded) $ (111,884) $ (56,775) $ (97,759) $ (66,202)
Transfers (1,719) � (46) �
Unrecognized net loss 110,713 28,874 16,037 1,570
Unrecognized prior service cost 652 713 2,743 3,064
Minimum pension liability (35,042) � � �

Accrued benefit cost $ (37,280) $ (27,188) $ (79,025) $ (61,568)

The assumptions used in the measurement of our benefit obligations as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2002 2001 2002 2001

Weighted-average assumptions:
Discount rate 6.75% 7.25% 6.75% 7.25%
Expected return on plan assets 9.00% 9.50% N/A 9.50%
Rate of compensation increase 5.25% 5.25% � �
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An 8.5% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered retiree health care benefits was assumed for 2002. This rate was
assumed to gradually decrease by 0.5% each year until it reaches an ultimate rate of 5.0%. At December 31, 2002, accrued benefit
costs for the pension plan include a minimum liability of $35 million, representing the excess of the accumulated benefit obligation of
the plan over the market value of the plan's assets.
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The following table provides the components of net periodic benefit costs for the three years ended December 31, 2002 (in thousands).

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000

Service cost $ 7,052 $ 9,891 $ 10,836 $ 3,213 $ 4,047 $ 4,369
Interest cost 19,219 18,372 16,974 5,670 5,457 4,764
Expected return on plan assets (20,848) (16,376) (13,025) � (1,003) (1,093)
Amortization of transition asset (24) 7 9 18 � �
Amortization of prior service cost 61 57 53 321 410 248
Amortization of net loss (gain) 332 1,045 74 206 156 (475)

Net periodic benefit cost 5,792 12,996 14,921 9,428 9,067 7,813
Settlement gain � � � � � (1,945)
Curtailment gains � (69) � � (5,491) �

Total net periodic benefit cost $ 5,792 $ 12,927 $ 14,921 $ 9,428 $ 3,576 $ 5,868

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the postretirement medical benefit plans. A
one percentage point decrease in the assumed health care cost trend rates would decrease the total service and interest cost components
of total net periodic benefit cost for 2002 and the postretirement benefit obligations at December 31, 2002 by approximately $2 million
and $13 million, respectively. A one percentage point increase in the assumed health care cost trend rates would increase the total
service and interest cost components of total net periodic benefit cost for 2002 and the postretirement benefit obligations at
December 31, 2002 by approximately $2 million and $17 million, respectively.

Plan assets for the LPP benefits consist primarily of mutual fund shares, invested in debt and equity securities, managed by a
subsidiary of AMR. For 2002, the mutual fund shares were managed by Fidelity Management & Research Company and a subsidiary
of AMR.

Expenses included in income from continuing operations related to pensions and other postretirement benefits totaled approximately
$15 million, $12 million and $14 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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SABRE HOLDINGS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

12.    Income Taxes

        The provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Current portion:
Federal $ 56,045 $ 66,547 $ 63,966
State 2,072 3,306 1,041
Foreign 13,603 8,984 10,611
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Year Ended December 31,

Total current 71,720 78,837 75,618
Deferred portion:

Federal 42,579 720 9,198
State 10,625 1,406 8,667

Total deferred 53,204 2,126 17,865

Total provision for income taxes $ 124,924 $ 80,963 $ 93,483

The provision for income taxes relating to continuing operations differs from amounts computed at the statutory federal income tax
rate as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Income tax provision at statutory federal income tax
rate $ 118,674 $ 11,718 $ 66,352
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 8,253 3,063 4,194
Non-deductible goodwill amortization � 69,970 28,278
Other, net (2,003) (3,788) (5,341)

Total provision for income taxes $ 124,924 $ 80,963 $ 93,483
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The components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2002 2001

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expenses $ 50,982 $ 79,321
Employee benefits other than pensions 30,825 25,295
Deferred revenue 2,139 3,007
Pension obligations 7,139 9,974
Net operating loss carryforwards 35,426 60,488
US Airways options 40,770 64,689

Total deferred tax assets 167,281 242,774
Deferred tax liabilities:

Foreign operations (4,471) (2,065)
Depreciation and amortization (28,981) (26,929)
Amortization of computer software and intangible assets (73,005) (58,675)
Other (58,851) (41,737)
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December 31,

Total deferred tax liabilities (165,308) (129,406)

Valuation allowance � (47,787)

Net deferred tax asset $ 1,973 $ 65,581

Current deferred income tax asset $ 15,728 $ 45,970
Noncurrent deferred income tax asset (liability) (13,755) 19,611

Net deferred tax asset $ 1,973 $ 65,581

Payments for the current federal income tax expense reflected above for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, will be reduced by
approximately $10 million, $31 million and $3 million for the exercise of nonqualified employee stock options. The tax benefit
resulting from the exercise of these options has been credited to additional paid-in capital.

As a result of the acquisition of GetThere in October of 2000, we acquired net operating loss carryforwards ("NOL's") of
approximately $100 million previously incurred by GetThere, which begin expiring in 2011. GetThere NOL's are subject to limitation
under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, but such limitation is not expected to have a significant impact on our ability to
utilize the NOL's. We utilized approximately $44 million of these NOL's during both 2002 and 2001. We believe that, more likely than
not, we will be able to utilize the NOL's acquired from GetThere. Accordingly, no valuation allowance has been established related to
these NOL's.

84

As a result of the merger of Travelocity.com and Preview in March of 2000, Travelocity.com acquired NOL's of approximately
$105 million previously incurred by Preview, which begin expiring in 2009. These NOL's are subject to limitation under Section 382.
The results of operations of Travelocity.com were not included in our consolidated federal income tax return for periods prior to our
acquisition of the Travelocity.com minority interest in April 2002 (Note 5), and only Travelocity.com could utilize the NOL's acquired
from Preview. Because we were unable to conclude that it was more likely than not that Travelocity.com would utilize the NOL's, at
December 31, 2001 a valuation allowance was recorded fully offsetting these deferred tax assets. Upon acquisition of the minority
interest in Travelocity.com, the Preview NOL's, as well as additional NOL's totaling approximately $14 million relating to
Travelocity.com's proportionate share of the tax losses of the Travelocity partnership subsequent to the acquisition of Preview, became
available to offset taxable income included in our consolidated income tax return. We believe that, more likely than not, we will be
able to utilize these NOL's in our consolidated returns. Accordingly, in connection with the accounting for the acquisition of the
Travelocity.com minority interest, we recorded deferred tax assets totaling approximately $41 million for the NOL's. We utilized
approximately $18 million of these NOL's during 2002. Accordingly, no valuation allowance has been recorded at December 31, 2002
related to these NOL's.

13.    Capital Stock

On February 7, 2000, we declared a one-time cash dividend on all outstanding shares of our Class A common stock. The aggregate
amount of the dividend was $675 million, or approximately $5.20 per share, and was paid to shareholders on February 18, 2000.
Although we have traditionally retained our earnings to finance future growth, we may consider paying dividends in the future if we
feel it is in the best interest of our shareholders. Any determination as to the future payment of dividends will depend upon future
results of operations, capital requirements and financial condition and such other factors as our Board of Directors may consider,
including any contractual or statutory restrictions on our ability to pay dividends.

On March 15, 2000, AMR exchanged all of its 107,374,000 shares of our Class B common stock for an equal number of shares of our
Class A common stock and distributed such shares to AMR shareholders as a stock dividend. The distribution consisted of AMR's
entire ownership interest in us. We now have only Class A common stock outstanding. We are authorized by our certificate of
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incorporation to issue up to 250 million shares of Class A common stock and up to 20 million shares of Preferred Stock.

During April 2002, we completed an underwritten public offering of 9.43 million shares of Class A common stock at $44.50 per share,
which resulted in net proceeds to us of approximately $400 million, net of transaction fees. The net proceeds from this transaction
were added to our working capital.

During 2002, 2001 and 2000, we repurchased 2,234,400, 374,000 and 1,004,193 shares of Class A common stock, respectively,
pursuant to authorizations by our Board of Directors. At December 31, 2002, we have repurchased all of the shares previously
authorized by our Board of Directors. We may consider additional share repurchases, but such repurchases would require approval
from our Board of Directors. The timing, volume and price of any authorized future repurchases would be made at the discretion of
management and would depend on corporate considerations and market conditions.
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14.    Options and Other Stock-Based Awards

Under our 1996 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the "1996 Plan") officers and other of our key employees may be granted restricted stock,
deferred stock, stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock purchase rights, other stock-based awards and/or performance-related
awards. In 1999, an Amended and Restated 1996 Long-Term Incentive Plan was approved by shareholders (the "Amended Plan").
This plan was again amended in May of 2002. Under the Amended Plan, we expanded the employees eligible for awards to include
our non-employee directors and managers in addition to officers and key employees. The total number of shares of Class A common
stock authorized to be issued under the Amended Plan is approximately 28 million shares, provided that no more than 1 million shares
of stock shall be granted to any employee in a one-year period. The Amended Plan will terminate in May 2009. At December 31,
2002, approximately 16 million shares remained available for future grants of stock-based awards under the Amended Plan.

In 2000, we established the Sabre Holdings Corporation Stock Option Plan (the "2000 Plan") to attract, retain and reward our
employees, by offering stock incentives. Under the 2000 Plan, employees may be granted stock options or stock appreciation rights.
The total number of shares of Class A common stock authorized for distribution under the 2000 Plan is 7 million shares. At
December 31, 2002 approximately 3 million shares remained available for future grants. In November 2001, the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors reduced the term of future grants awarded under the 2000 Plan, beginning in 2002, to a term of
five years.

In conjunction with the acquisition of GetThere in 2000 (Note 5), we assumed their two stock incentive plans and converted all
outstanding GetThere options to Sabre options at the date of the acquisition. These converted options remain under the original
GetThere plans and are administered under the original terms and conditions. We do not plan to use the GetThere plans for future
grants.

Shares of restricted stock are awarded at no cost to employees. Restricted shares generally vest from one to five years following the
date of grant. Restricted stock activity follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Outstanding at January 1 447,246 841,219 192,410
Granted 25,000 13,000 715,957
Issued (118,423) (342,785) (67,148)
Canceled (11,604) (64,188) �

Outstanding at December 31 342,219 447,246 841,219

The weighted-average grant date fair values of restricted stock granted during 2002, 2001 and 2000 were $44.79, $37.68 and $34.70,
respectively. The grant date fair values are based on our stock price on the date of grant. We recognize stock compensation expense for
these grants over the related vesting period.
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Sabre Performance Shares are also awarded at no cost to employees based on our performance metrics. The Sabre Performance Shares
vest over a three-year performance period and are settled in cash. Our Performance Share activity was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Outstanding at January 1 292,509 466,147 479,069
Granted � � 282,361
Awards settled in cash (133,201) (153,405) (194,957)
Canceled (14,184) (20,233) (100,326)

Outstanding at December 31 145,124 292,509 466,147

The weighted-average grant date fair values of Sabre Performance Shares granted during 2000 was $46.43. There were no new shares
granted under the Performance Share plan during 2001 or 2002. The grant date fair values are based on our stock price on the date of
grant. We recognize stock compensation expense for these grants over the related performance periods.

Stock options are granted at the fair market value of Class A common stock on the date of grant, except as otherwise determined by a
committee appointed by our Board of Directors, generally vest over three to five years, and are not exercisable more than ten years
after the date of grant. Stock option activity follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Options

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price Options

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price Options

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price

Outstanding at January 1 9,693,103 $ 34.89 15,743,504 $ 32.53 4,672,970 $ 38.20
Granted 4,180,904 $ 36.84 498,217 $ 41.39 13,551,898 $ 30.89
Exercised (1,332,330) $ 38.64 (3,183,392) $ 21.51 (779,866) $ 27.07
Canceled (1,787,717) $ 42.99 (3,365,226) $ 37.47 (1,701,498) $ 37.54
Converted Travelocity.com options 3,645,221 $ 40.67 � � � �

Outstanding at December 31 14,399,181 $ 37.06 9,693,103 $ 34.89 15,743,504 $ 32.53

Exercisable options outstanding at
December 31 5,094,143 $ 35.31 3,268,815 $ 30.56 3,305,349 $ 21.61

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during 2002, 2001 and 2000 were $17.68, $17.30 and $13.42,
respectively. The grant date fair values were estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

In 2002, in conjunction with the tender offer to acquire the portion of Travelocity.com we did not already own, we converted options
in Travelocity.com to Sabre options. We are recognizing stock compensation expense based on the intrinsic value of the awards
converted at the date of acquisition (Note 5).
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The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding at December 31, 2002:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices Shares

Weighted-Average
Remaining Life

(Years)
Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Shares

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

$  0.16 - $  15.99 241,572 6.69 $ 10.89 225,399 $ 10.62
$16.00 - $  25.99 1,592,610 6.96 $ 22.14 970,032 $ 21.82
$26.00 - $  35.99 2,042,440 6.92 $ 31.30 998,934 $ 31.87
$36.00 - $  48.99 8,831,724 8.37 $ 38.55 2,356,468 $ 39.01
$49.00 - $  60.99 1,448,283 7.26 $ 50.08 356,682 $ 50.99
$61.00 - $105.06 242,552 7.00 $ 77.52 186,628 $ 76.97

Total 14,399,181 7.85 $ 37.06 5,094,143 $ 35.31

Stock appreciation rights ("SAR") may be granted in conjunction with all or part of any stock option granted. All appreciation rights
will terminate upon termination or exercise of the related option and will be exercisable only during the time that the related option is
exercisable. If a SAR is exercised, the related stock option will be deemed to have been exercised.

The above table does not include the Directors' Stock Incentive Plan, which provides for annual awards of options to purchase shares
of our Class A common stock to non-employee directors was in effect until 1999. As of December 31, 2001, 90,855 options had been
granted to directors at a weighted-average exercise price of $25.40. As of December 31, 2002, 18,171 of those options have been
exercised. The options have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the Class A common stock on the date of grant and vest
pro rata over a five-year period. Each option expires on the earlier of (i) the date the non-employee director ceases to be a director of
Sabre, if for any reason other than due to death, disability or retirement, or (ii) three years from the date the non-employee director
ceases to be a director of Sabre due to death, disability or retirement.

Beginning in 1999, stock options granted to non-employee directors were granted under the Amended Plan. In 2002, 2001 and 2000,
56,000, 52,000 and 54,543 options were granted to directors at weighted-average exercise prices of $35.61, $40.90 and $30.79,
respectively. These amounts are included in the previous stock options outstanding table.

Certain officers and key employees have been awarded deferred shares of our Class A common stock ("Company Career Equity
Shares"). The Company Career Equity Shares were issued upon the individual's retirement from Sabre. During 2001, 3,609 of these
shares were exercised. As of December 31, 2002 there were no shares outstanding under this plan.
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In connection with the payment of the $675 million dividend on February 18, 2000, we adjusted the terms of our outstanding
employee stock option plans such that the exercise price per share of each option was reduced and the number of options held by each
employee was increased. Therefore, the aggregate intrinsic value of each employee's option holdings was the same before and after the
effect of the payment of the dividend on our stock price. Because the adjustment to the option terms was done in accordance with
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 90-9, Changes to Fixed Employee Stock Option Plans as a Result of Equity Restructuring, no
compensation expense was recorded by us. The weighted-average exercise prices, included in the schedules above, for stock options
granted prior to the payment of the dividend have not been adjusted for the effects of the dividend.

We sponsor an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"). The ESPP allows eligible employees to purchase Class A common stock
at a discount from the market price of such stock. From January 1997 through June 2000, participating employees could purchase the
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stock on a monthly basis at 85% of the market price at the beginning or the end of each monthly offering period, whichever was lower.
Participating employees were limited to an aggregate maximum purchase price of either 1% or 2% of the employee's annual
compensation, subject to certain limitations. The ESPP was amended July 1, 2000, to allow participating employees to purchase stock
on a semiannual basis at 85% of the lower of the market price of the stock at the beginning or the end of a six-month period. In
addition, the amended ESPP allows participating employees to purchase stock up to an aggregate maximum purchase price of 10% of
the employee's annual compensation, subject to certain limitations. 2,000,000 shares of Class A common stock have been reserved for
issuance under the ESPP. Approximately 397,000, 340,000 and 57,000 shares were issued under the ESPP during 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively, and approximately 1,200,000 shares remain available for future purchases at December 31, 2002.

For other stock-based awards, a committee established by the Board of Directors determines the eligible persons to whom awards will
be made, the times at which the awards will be made, the number of shares to be awarded, the price, if any, to be paid by the recipient
and all other terms and conditions of the award.

15.    Segment Reporting

Prior to the divestiture of our Outsourcing Business (Note 3), we had four reportable segments: Sabre Travel Network and Emerging
Businesses ("Sabre Travel Network"), Travelocity, GetThere and Outsourcing and Software Solutions. Subsequent to the divestiture,
we have redefined our Outsourcing and Software Solutions segment as the Sabre Airline Solutions segment. The segment information
presented below is based on the new segment definition for all periods presented.
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The Sabre Travel Network segment distributes travel products and services through the travel agency channel. The Travelocity
segment distributes travel services to individual consumers and unmanaged business travelers. Through the Travelocity Websites,
consumers can compare prices, make travel reservations and obtain destination information online. GetThere distributes travel services
directly to businesses. GetThere operates one of the world's largest Internet marketplaces focused on travel services for managed
business travelers, travel arrangers and travel managers. GetThere also provides a Web interface for reservation systems operated by
airlines or other suppliers. The Sabre Airline Solutions segment primarily provides software development, reservations hosting and
consulting solutions to airlines and other travel providers.

Our reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services and are managed separately because each
business requires different market strategies. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary
of significant accounting policies (Note 2). We account for significant intersegment transactions as if the transactions were to third
parties, that is, at estimated current market prices.

Personnel and related costs for the corporate headquarters, certain legal and professional fees and other corporate charges are allocated
to the segments through a management fee based primarily on usage. Depreciation expense on the corporate headquarters buildings
and related facilities costs are allocated to the segments through a facility fee based on headcount. The related assets are not allocated
to the segments. Other assets not allocated to the segments include cash, marketable securities and deferred tax assets. Benefits
expense, including pension expense, postretirement benefits, medical insurance and workers' compensation, are allocated to the
segments based on headcount. Unallocated corporate expenses include depreciation expense and other costs associated with the
corporate headquarters buildings, net of facility fees allocated to the reportable segments and affiliated companies, expenses related to
the Spin-off and certain other corporate charges maintained at the corporate level.
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The segment operating results are presented on a basis that excludes certain special items that are summarized below, except where
noted. This presentation is consistent with the manner in which our management assesses the operating performance of our business
segments (in thousands).

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Edgar Filing: WESCO INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 424B3

Table of Contents 136



Year Ended December 31,

Revenues from external customers:
Sabre Travel Network $ 1,555,354 $ 1,655,155 $ 1,600,538
Travelocity 233,236 233,611 144,261
GetThere 49,611 42,337 11,991
Sabre Airline Solutions 205,289 195,817 177,871

Total external revenues $ 2,043,490 $ 2,126,920 $ 1,934,661

Intersegment revenues:
Sabre Travel Network $ 26,508 $ 24,811 $ 16,249
Travelocity 80,051 68,159 48,409
GetThere 1,224 154 �
Sabre Airline Solutions � 2,852 3,046

Total intersegment revenues $ 107,783 $ 95,976 $ 67,704

Equity in net income of equity method investees:
Sabre Travel Network $ 17,943 $ 18,041 $ 20,849
Travelocity (4,967) � �

Total equity in net income of equity method investees $ 12,976 $ 18,041 $ 20,849

Total consolidated revenues:
Sabre Travel Network $ 1,599,805 $ 1,698,007 $ 1,637,636
Travelocity 308,320 301,770 192,670
GetThere 50,835 42,491 11,991
Sabre Airline Solutions 205,289 198,669 180,917
Elimination of intersegment revenues (107,783) (95,976) (67,704)

Total consolidated revenues $ 2,056,466 $ 2,144,961 $ 1,955,510

Segment operating income (loss) from continuing
operations, excluding special items:
Sabre Travel Network $ 428,822 $ 374,051 $ 416,236
Travelocity (11,821) 10,618 (43,502)
GetThere (25,636) (53,593) (36,705)
Sabre Airline Solutions 20,924 (1,145) (25,918)
Net corporate allocations 1,785 (15,974) (1,894)

Total segment operating income from continuing
operations, excluding special items $ 414,074 $ 313,957 $ 308,217
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A summary of the special items and the reconciliation to consolidated operating income from continuing operations is set forth below
(in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
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2002 2001 2000

Sabre Travel Network:
Goodwill and other intangibles amortization $ 15,852 $ 19,136 $ 4,207
Write-off of software which will not be utilized � 5,975 �
Stock compensation 414 1,272 527
Severance expense 3,771 11,613 4,055

Total Sabre Travel Network 20,037 37,996 8,789

Travelocity:
Goodwill and other intangibles amortization 9,823 85,060 67,996
Stock compensation 23,725 1,662 2,556
Severance expenses 313 � �
Tender offer expenses 7,111 � �

Total Travelocity 40,972 86,722 70,552

GetThere:
Goodwill and other intangibles amortization 26,011 173,326 37,216
Stock compensation 2,750 6,660 1,665
Severance and integration expense (396) 7,347 549

Total GetThere 28,365 187,333 39,430

Sabre Airline Solutions:
Severance expenses 2,196 2,725 �
Write-off of software which will not be utilized � � 3,153

Total Sabre Airline Solutions 2,196 2,725 3,153

Corporate:
Litigation insurance 1,350 � �
Expenses related to Spin-off from AMR � � 12,548
Severance expenses 3,654 7,890 963

Total Corporate 5,004 7,890 13,511

Total special items $ 96,574 $ 322,666 $ 135,435

92

Operating income (loss) from continuing operations including
special items:
Sabre Travel Network $ 408,785 $ 336,055 $ 407,447
Travelocity (52,793) (76,104) (114,054)
GetThere (54,001) (240,926) (76,135)
Sabre Airline Solutions 18,728 (3,870) (29,071)
Unallocated corporate expenses (3,219) (23,864) (15,405)
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Total consolidated operating income (loss) from
continuing operations $ 317,500 $ (8,709) $ 172,782

December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Depreciation and amortization included in income from
continuing operations (in thousands):
Sabre Travel Network $ 46,429 $ 79,202 $ 110,699
Travelocity 23,835 94,002 82,348
GetThere 33,015 176,990 38,758
Sabre Airline Solutions 8,970 32,318 22,826
Unallocated depreciation and amortization 4,699 6,426 17,296

Total consolidated depreciation and amortization included
in income from continuing operations $ 116,948 $ 388,938 $ 271,927

Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets included in
income from continuing operations, including special items (in
thousands):
Sabre Travel Network $ 15,852 $ 19,136 $ 4,207
Travelocity 9,861 85,060 67,996
GetThere 26,011 173,326 37,216
Sabre Airline Solutions 1,700 � �

Total amortization of goodwill and intangible assets
included in income from continuing operations $ 53,424 $ 277,522 $ 109,419
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Segment assets at December 31, 2000, as presented below, have not been revised for the effects of the sale of the Outsourcing
Business (Note 3). Assets sold to EDS, or disposed of as a result of this sale, totaling approximately $519 million at December 31,
2000 are included in the table below. Service contract equipment sold to EDS totaling approximately $220 million, net of accumulated
depreciation, is included in the December 31, 2000 assets of the Sabre Travel Network segment. Segment assets totaling
approximately $300 million relating to the Outsourcing Business are included in the assets of the Sabre Airline Solutions segment at
December 31, 2000.

December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Segment assets (in thousands):
Sabre Travel Network $ 713,905 $ 523,954 $ 459,483
Travelocity 490,677 373,024 370,205
GetThere 412,289 452,417 684,810
Sabre Airline Solutions 311,255 327,484 543,907
Unallocated cash, investments, corporate headquarters
and other 828,405 699,138 591,949

Total consolidated assets $ 2,756,531 $ 2,376,017 $ 2,650,354
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December 31,

Capital expenditures for the year ending December 31, 2000 as presented in the table below, have not been revised for the effects of
the sale of the Outsourcing Business (in thousands).

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Capital expenditures for segment assets:
Sabre Travel Network $ 23,392 $ 62,348 $ 78,567
Travelocity 12,029 11,572 11,755
GetThere 6,025 7,985 1,341
Sabre Airline Solutions 16,139 70,949 81,876
Unallocated capital expenditures 5,065 5,553 16,587

Total capital expenditures $ 62,650 $ 158,407 $ 190,126

Our revenues from continuing operations and long-lived assets, including goodwill and intangible assets, by geographic region are
summarized below (in thousands). Revenues from continuing operations are attributed to countries based on the location of the
customer.

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Revenues from continuing operations:
United States $ 1,248,314 1,459,075 $ 1,328,708
Foreign 808,152 685,886 626,802

Total $ 2,056,466 2,144,961 $ 1,955,510
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Long-lived assets at December 31, 2000 as presented below have not been revised for the effects of the divestiture of the Outsourcing
Business. Long-lived assets sold to EDS, or disposed of as a result of the sale, totaling approximately $488 million at December 31,
2000 are included in the table below (in thousands). These assets are primarily located in the United States.

December 31,

2002 2001 2000

United States $ 1,186,873 $ 1,025,923 $ 1,681,641
Singapore (primarily investment in joint venture) 151,399 152,733 145,606
Other foreign 106,616 105,123 130,139

Total $ 1,444,888 $ 1,283,779 $ 1,957,386

16.    Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
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The following is a summary of the unaudited quarterly financial information for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 (in
thousands except per share data):

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

2002
Revenues $ 549,358 $ 536,748 $ 517,374 $ 452,986
Operating income $ 119,994 $ 104,304 $ 87,474 $ 5,728
Net earnings $ 87,387 $ 67,965 $ 57,921 $ 871
Earnings per common share:
Basic $ .66 $ .48 $ .40 $ .01
Diluted $ .64 $ .47 $ .40 $ .01

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

2001
Revenues $ 583,581 $ 593,322 $ 535,453 $ 432,605
Operating income (loss) $ 44,861 $ 38,448 $ 2,106 $ (94,124)

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 413 $ 5,051 $ 17,290 $ (69,707)
Income from discontinued operations, net 13,632 22,673 38,772 �
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net 3,103 � � �

Net earnings (loss) $ 17,148 $ 27,724 $ 56,062 $ (69,707)

Earnings (loss) per common share�basic:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ � $ .04 $ .13 $ (.52)
Income from discontinued operations, net .10 .17 .29 �
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net .03 � � �

Net earnings (loss) $ .13 $ .21 $ .42 $ (.52)
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Earnings (loss) per common share�diluted:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ � $ .04 $ .13 $ (.52)
Income from discontinued operations, net .10 .16 .29 �
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net .03 � � �

Net earnings (loss) $ .13 $ .20 $ .42 $ (.52)

The travel industry is seasonal in nature. Bookings, and thus fees charged for the use of the Sabre system, decrease significantly each
year in the fourth quarter, primarily in December, due to early bookings by customers for travel during the holiday season and a
decline in business travel during the holiday season. The third and fourth quarters of 2001 were also negatively impacted by the
significant decrease in air travel and booking activity after the September 11 terrorist attacks, as was 2002 as the travel industry and
general economy recovered from the aftermath of the attacks. We are unable to quantify with any precision the amount of revenue lost
because of the attacks (Note 6).

As a result of decreased travel and booking volumes resulting from the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, we announced workforce
reductions in December 2001 and October 2002. The 2001 reduction affected 615 employees, approximately 10% of our workforce. In
addition, we made provision for the closing of some small leased office facilities in the United States and Canada. The 2002 reduction
affected approximately 400 employees, approximately 6% of our workforce. The total expense recorded for these actions was
approximately $10 million and $28 million during 2002 and 2001, respectively (Note 6).
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17.    Supplemental Guarantor/Non-Guarantor Financial Information

Certain obligations of Sabre Holdings Corporation ("Sabre Holdings") have been solely guaranteed by its 100% owned operating
subsidiary, Sabre Inc. There are no restrictions on Sabre Holdings' ability to obtain funds from Sabre Inc. in the form of a dividend or
loan other than those that would exist under Delaware law. Additionally, there are no significant restrictions on Sabre Inc.'s ability to
obtain funds from its direct or indirect subsidiaries other than those that would exist under state or foreign law. Sabre Inc. is the sole
direct subsidiary of Sabre Holdings. All other subsidiaries are direct or indirect subsidiaries of Sabre Inc. These subsidiaries are all
included in the non-guarantor financial statements. The following financial information presents condensed consolidating balance
sheets, statements of income and statements of cash flows for Sabre Holdings, Sabre Inc. and non-guarantor subsidiaries. The
information has been presented as if Sabre Holdings accounted for its ownership of Sabre Inc., and Sabre Inc. accounted for its
ownership of the non-guarantor subsidiaries, using the equity method of accounting. Certain reclassifications have been made to the
2000 and 2001 financial statements to conform to the 2002 presentation.

Sabre Inc. conducts the domestic operations of the Company's Sabre Travel Network segment and conducts the operations of the Sabre
Airline Solutions segment. The operations of the Travelocity and GetThere segments, as well as the principal international operations
of the Sabre Travel Network segment are conducted by the non-guarantor subsidiaries.
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Sabre Inc. and certain non-guarantor subsidiaries are parties to various intercompany agreements, which affect the amount of operating
expenses reported in the following condensed consolidating statements of income. Among other things, fees are paid by Sabre Inc. to a
non-guarantor subsidiary relating to the use of trademarks, tradenames, etc. owned by a non-guarantor subsidiary; incentive and
marketing payments are made by Sabre Inc. to non-guarantor subsidiaries relating to the use and distribution of the Sabre system; and
payments are made by non-guarantor subsidiaries to Sabre Inc. for access to the Sabre system under the terms of these agreements.
During 2002, 2001 and 2000, Sabre Inc. recognized operating expenses totaling approximately $287 million, $323 million and
$225 million, respectively, in connection with these agreements. These amounts, and the corresponding amounts recognized by the
non-guarantor subsidiaries, are eliminated in consolidation.
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SABRE HOLDINGS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

17.    Supplemental Guarantor/Non-Guarantor Financial Information (Continued)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2002

(in thousands)

Sabre Holdings Sabre Inc.

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries

Sabre
Consolidated

Assets
Current assets
Cash and marketable securities $ � $ 898,958 $ 12,802 $ � $ 911,760
Accounts receivable�trade, net � 223,216 75,282 � 298,498
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Sabre Holdings Sabre Inc.

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries

Sabre
Consolidated

Intercompany accounts
receivable (payable) 1,532,426 (2,094,913) 562,487 � �
Prepaid expenses � 38,994 46,663 � 85,657
Deferred income taxes � 15,678 50 � 15,728

Total current assets 1,532,426 (918,067) 697,284 � 1,311,643

Property and equipment, net � 187,783 52,289 � 240,072

Investments in joint ventures � 11,892 184,833 � 196,725
Deferred income taxes � (38,267) 38,267 � �
Goodwill and intangible assets, net � 10,605 845,078 � 855,683
Investments in subsidiaries 529,892 1,675,167 � (2,205,059) �
Other assets, net 24,058 89,060 39,290 � 152,408

Total assets $ 2,086,376 $ 1,018,173 $ 1,857,041 $ (2,205,059) $ 2,756,531

Liabilities and stockholders'
equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 88 $ 163,071 $ 18,775 $ � $ 181,934
Accrued compensation and
related benefits � 44,752 10,018 � 54,770
Other accrued liabilities 8,381 169,783 85,046 � 263,210

Total current liabilities 8,469 377,606 113,839 � 499,914

Deferred income taxes � (13,404) 27,159 � 13,755
Pensions and other
postretirement benefits � 115,400 905 � 116,305
Other liabilities 564 8,679 29,671 � 38,914
Minority interests � � 10,300 � 10,300
Notes payable 435,765 � � � 435,765

Stockholders' equity 1,641,578 529,892 1,675,167 (2,205,059) 1,641,578

Total liabilities and
stockholders' equity $ 2,086,376 $ 1,018,173 $ 1,857,041 $ (2,205,059) $ 2,756,531
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2001

(in thousands)

Sabre Holdings Sabre Inc. Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries

Sabre
Consolidated
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Assets
Current assets
Cash and marketable securities $ � $ 543,196 $ 123,691 $ � $ 666,887
Accounts receivable�trade, net � 238,747 89,069 � 327,816
Intercompany accounts
receivable (payable) 1,074,130 (1,406,885) 332,755 � �
Prepaid expenses � 18,120 33,445 � 51,565
Deferred income taxes � 45,740 230 � 45,970

Total current assets 1,074,130 (561,082) 579,190 � 1,092,238

Property and equipment, net � 232,434 56,015 � 288,449

Investments in joint ventures � 12,353 157,596 � 169,949
Goodwill and intangible assets, net � 9,626 662,519 � 672,145
Investments in subsidiaries 372,556 1,132,522 � (1,505,078) �
Other assets, net 5,845 76,545 70,846 � 153,236

Total assets $ 1,452,531 $ 902,398 $ 1,526,166 $ (1,505,078) $ 2,376,017

Liabilities and stockholders'
equity Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ � $ 136,608 $ 22,231 $ � $ 158,839
Accrued compensation and
related benefits � 59,184 14,090 � 73,274
Other accrued liabilities 9,347 219,651 103,345 � 332,343

Total current liabilities 9,347 415,443 139,666 � 564,456

Pensions and other
postretirement benefits � 88,362 394 � 88,756
Other liabilities 1,033 26,037 33,868 � 60,938
Minority interests � � 219,716 � 219,716
Notes payable 400,375 � � � 400,375

Stockholders' equity 1,041,776 372,556 1,132,522 (1,505,078) 1,041,776

Total liabilities and
stockholders' equity $ 1,452,531 $ 902,398 $ 1,526,166 $ (1,505,078) $ 2,376,017
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SABRE HOLDINGS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

17.    Supplemental Guarantor/Non-Guarantor Financial Information (Continued)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002
(in thousands)

Sabre
Holdings Sabre Inc.

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries

Sabre
Consolidated

Revenues $ � $ 1,577,252 $ 943,305 $ (464,091) $ 2,056,466
Operating expenses 1,389 1,361,926 839,742 (464,091) 1,738,966

Operating income (loss) (1,389) 215,326 103,563 � 317,500
Other income (expense)
Interest income 90,440 22,064 22,219 (106,820) 27,903
Interest expense (19,047) (108,449) (2,674) 106,820 (23,350)
Income from subsidiaries 168,029 85,151 � (253,180) �
Other, net � 19,134 (2,333) � 16,801

Total other income (expense) 239,422 17,900 17,212 (253,180) 21,354
Minority interests � � 214 � 214

Income (loss) before income taxes 238,033 233,226 120,989 (253,180) 339,068
Provision for income taxes 23,889 65,197 35,838 � 124,924

Net income (loss) $ 214,144 $ 168,029 $ 85,151 $ (253,180) $ 214,144
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

(in thousands)

Sabre
Holdings Sabre Inc.

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries Sabre Consolidated

Revenues $ � $ 1,660,384 $ 885,899 $ (401,322) $ 2,144,961

Operating expenses 1,843 1,607,671 946,666 (402,510) 2,153,670

Operating income (loss) (1,843) 52,713 (60,767) 1,188 (8,709)

Other income (expense)
Interest income 37,251 18,885 5,774 (37,251) 24,659
Interest expense (9,581) (88,359) 19,524 37,251 (41,165)
Income from subsidiaries 14,214 (74,844) � 60,630 �
Other, net � 42,385 (5,629) � 36,756

Total other income (expense) 41,884 (101,933) 19,669 60,630 20,250
Minority interests � � 22,469 � 22,469

Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes 40,041 (49,220) (18,629) 61,818 34,010
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Sabre
Holdings Sabre Inc.

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries Sabre Consolidated

Provision for income taxes 8,814 10,938 61,211 � 80,963

Income (loss) from continuing
operations 31,227 (60,158) (79,840) 61,818 (46,953)
Income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net � 36,164 1,329 (1,188) 36,305
Gain on sale of discontinued
operations, net � 38,208 564 � 38,772

Income before cumulative effect of
change in accounting method 31,227 14,214 (77,947) 60,630 28,124
Cumulative effect of accounting
method, net of minority interests and
income taxes � � 3,103 � 3,103

Net income (loss) $ 31,227 $ 14,214 $ (74,844) $ 60,630 $ 31,227
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

(in thousands)

Sabre
Holdings Sabre Inc.

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries Sabre Consolidated

Revenues $ � $ 1,643,077 $ 594,952 $ (282,519) $ 1,955,510
Operating expenses 1,523 1,481,622 587,388 (287,805) 1,782,728

Operating income (loss) (1,523) 161,455 7,564 5,286 172,782

Other income (expense)
Interest income 28,534 11,894 4,197 (28,377) 16,248
Interest expense � (74,953) 14,890 28,377 (31,686)
Income from subsidiaries 126,259 15,812 � (142,071) �
Other, net � 310 1,180 � 1,490

Total other income (expense) 154,793 (46,937) 20,267 (142,071) (13,948)
Minority interests � � 30,754 � 30,754

Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes 153,270 114,518 58,585 (136,785) 189,588
Provision for income taxes 9,218 35,076 49,189 � 93,483

Income (loss) from continuing
operations 144,052 79,442 9,396 (136,785) 96,105
Income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net � 46,817 6,416 (5,286) 47,947
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Sabre
Holdings Sabre Inc.

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries Sabre Consolidated

Net income (loss) $ 144,052 $ 126,259 $ 15,812 $ (142,071) $ 144,052
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SABRE HOLDINGS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

17.    Supplemental Guarantor/Non-Guarantor Financial Information (Continued)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

(in thousands)

Sabre
Holdings Sabre Inc.

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries

Sabre
Consolidated

Operating Activities
Net earnings $ 214,144 $ 168,029 $ 85,151 $ (253,180) $ 214,144
Adjustments to reconcile net
earnings to cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization � 42,136 74,812 � 116,948
Stock compensation � � 31,142 � 31,142
Deferred income taxes � 88,375 (35,171) � 53,204
Tax benefit from exercise of
stock options 9,687 � � � 9,687
Minority interests � � (214) � (214)
(Income) loss from subsidiaries (168,029) (85,151) � 253,180 �
Gain on sale of former
headquarters building � (18,308) � � (18,308)
Other 11,828 (12,866) (21,292) � (22,330)
Changes in operating assets and
liabilities (453,859) 576,763 (207,782) � (84,878)

Cash provided by (used for)
operating activities (386,229) 758,978 (73,354) � 299,395

Investing Activities
Additions to property and
equipment � (40,654) (21,996) � (62,650)
Business combinations, net of cash
acquired � (2,963) (495,545) � (498,508)
Proceeds from exercise of
Travelocity.com stock options � � � 33,658 33,658
Proceeds from sale of former
headquarters building � 80,000 � � 80,000

� (92,092) � � (92,092)
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Purchase of data center facility
from lessor

Sabre
Holdings Sabre Inc.

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries

Sabre
Consolidated

Proceeds from sale of data center
facility � 68,464 � � 68,464
Proceeds from sale of minority
interest in Sabre Pacific � � 23,466 � 23,466
Purchases of marketable securities � (4,373,678) (321,629) � (4,695,307)
Sales of marketable securities � 4,018,609 434,453 � 4,453,062
Proceeds from sale of investments � � 8,807 � 8,807
Investments in subsidiaries, net (10,945) (457,494) � 468,439 �
Other investing activities, net � 30,461 (26,107) � 4,354

Cash provided by (used for) investing
activities (10,945) (769,347) (398,551) 502,097 (676,746)

Financing Activities
Contributions from (repayments to)
affiliates � 10,945 457,494 (468,439) �
Proceeds from issuance of common
stock 399,763 � � � 399,763
Proceeds from exercise of stock
options and issuance of stock under
employee stock purchase plan 36,609 � 33,658 (33,658) 36,609
Purchase of treasury stock (56,610) � � � (56,610)
Other financing activities, net 17,412 � (17,502) � (90)

Cash provided by (used for) financing
activities 397,174 10,945 473,650 (502,097) 379,672

Increase in cash � 576 1,745 � 2,321
Cash at beginning of the period � 10,046 8,809 � 18,855

Cash at end of the period $ � $ 10,622 $ 10,554 $ � $ 21,176
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

(in thousands)

Sabre
Holdings Sabre Inc.

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries

Sabre
Consolidated

Operating Activities
Net earnings $ 31,227 $ 14,214 $ (74,844) $ 60,630 $ 31,227
Adjustments to reconcile net
earnings to cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization � 111,862 325,785 � 437,647
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Sabre
Holdings Sabre Inc.

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries

Sabre
Consolidated

Stock compensation � � 7,624 � 7,624
Deferred income taxes � (74,892) (12,517) � (87,409)
Tax benefit from exercise of
stock options 31,126 � � � 31,126
Minority interests � � (22,469) � (22,469)
(Income) loss from subsidiaries (14,214) 74,844 � (60,630) �
Gain on sale of discontinued
operations, net � (38,208) (564) � (38,772)
Gain on sale of France Telecom
shares � (47,303) � � (47,303)
Cumulative effect of accounting
change, net � � (3,103) � (3,103)
Loss on disposal of equipment � 8,132 215 � 8,347
Other � 9,858 (7,322) � 2,536
Changes in operating assets and
liabilities (504,030) 681,994 (107,178) � 70,786

Cash provided by (used for)
operating activities (455,891) 740,501 105,627 � 390,237

Investing Activities
Additions to property and
equipment � (121,196) (37,211) � (158,407)
Business combinations, net of cash
acquired � (9,387) (45,956) � (55,343)
Proceeds from exercise of
Travelocity.com stock options � � � 13,145 13,145
Proceeds from sale of discontinued
operations � 607,525 53,238 � 660,763
Purchases of marketable securities � (2,883,251) (456,974) � (3,340,225)
Sales of marketable securities � 2,466,243 367,671 � 2,833,914
Proceeds from sale of investments � 47,303 38,950 � 86,253
Purchases of Travelocity.com
common stock � � (17,908) � (17,908)
Investments in subsidiaries, net (41,699) 292 � 41,407 �
Dividends received � 13,758 � (13,758) �
Other investing activities, net � (36,023) (3,919) � (39,942)

Cash provided by (used for) investing
activities (41,699) 85,264 (102,109) 40,794 (17,750)

Financing Activities
Contributions from (repayments to)
affiliates � 41,699 (292) (41,407) �
Proceeds from exercise of stock
options and issuance of stock under
employee stock purchase plan 109,262 � 13,145 (13,145) 109,262
Purchase of treasury stock (9,064) � � � (9,064)
Dividends paid � � (13,758) 13,758 �
Issuance of notes payable 397,392 � � � 397,392
Repayments of notes payable � (859,000) � � (859,000)
Other financing activities, net � � � � �
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Sabre
Holdings Sabre Inc.

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries

Sabre
Consolidated

Cash provided by (used for) financing
activities 497,590 (817,301) (905) (40,794) (361,410)

Increase in cash � 8,464 2,613 � 11,077
Cash at beginning of the period � 1,582 6,196 � 7,778

Cash at end of the period $ � $ 10,046 $ 8,809 $ � $ 18,855
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

(in thousands)

Sabre
Holdings Sabre Inc.

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries

Sabre
Consolidated

Operating Activities
Net earnings $ 144,052 $ 126,259 $ 15,812 $ (142,071) $ 144,052
Adjustments to reconcile net
earnings to cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization � 179,458 166,336 � 345,794
Deferred income taxes � 30,234 (7,900) � 22,334
Minority interests � � (30,754) � (30,754)
Income from subsidiaries (126,259) (15,812) � 142,071 �
Other � 16,784 2,551 � 19,335
Changes in operating assets and
liabilities 243,836 (258,498) (175,327) � (189,989)

Cash provided by (used for)
operating activities 261,629 78,425 (29,282) � 310,772

Investing Activities
Additions to property and
equipment � (154,523) (35,603) � (190,126)
Business combinations, net of
cash acquired � � (711,383) � (711,383)
Proceeds from exercise of
Travelocity.com stock options � � � 3,786 3,786
Purchases of marketable securities � (9,726,716) (260,586) � (9,987,302)
Sales of marketable securities � 10,212,988 218,241 � 10,431,229
Investments in subsidiaries 53 (799,207) � 799,154 �
Dividends received 428,285 1,754 � (430,039) �
Other investing activities, net � (40,564) 21,381 � (19,183)

Cash provided by (used for)
investing activities 428,338 (506,268) (767,950) 372,901 (472,979)

Edgar Filing: WESCO INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 424B3

Table of Contents 150



Financing Activities

Sabre
Holdings Sabre Inc.

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Eliminating
Entries

Sabre
Consolidated

Contributions from (repayments
to) affiliates � (53) 799,207 (799,154) �
Proceeds from exercise of stock
options and issuance of stock
under employee stock purchase
plan 18,198 � 3,786 (3,786) 18,198
Purchase of treasury stock (34,472) � � � (34,472)
Dividends paid (675,000) (428,285) (1,754) 430,039 (675,000)
Issuance of notes payable � 859,000 � � 859,000
Other financing activities, net � (4,362) (7) � (4,369)

Cash provided by (used for)
financing activities (691,274) 426,300 801,232 (372,901) 163,357

Increase (decrease) in cash (1,307) (1,543) 4,000 � 1,150
Cash at beginning of the period 1,307 3,125 2,196 � 6,628

Cash at end of the period $ � $ 1,582 $ 6,196 $ � $ 7,778
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ITEM 9.    CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

PART III

ITEM 10.    DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Incorporated herein by reference is the information set forth under the headings "Nominees for Election as Directors," "Continuing
Directors" and information concerning the executive officers set forth under the heading "Executive Officers of the Registrant" in our
definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 13, 2003.

ITEM 11.    EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Incorporated herein by reference is the information set forth under the heading "Executive Compensation" in our definitive Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 13, 2003.

ITEM 12.    SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Incorporated herein by reference is the information set forth under the heading "Ownership of Securities" from our definitive Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 13, 2003.

ITEM 13.    CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

None.

ITEM 14.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
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        Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.    Within 90 days prior to the filing of this report, our principal executive officer
("CEO") and principal financial officer ("CFO") evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on these
evaluations, our CEO and CFO believe (i) that our disclosure controls and procedures have been designed to ensure that information required to
be disclosed by us in this Report is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms
and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure; and (ii) that our disclosure controls and procedures are functioning as designed.

        Changes in internal controls.    There have been no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could significantly
affect our disclosure controls and procedures subsequent to the evaluation referred to above, nor have there been any corrective actions with
regard to significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.

PART IV

ITEM 15.    EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a)
(1)     The financial statements listed in the accompanying index to financial statements and the schedules are filed as part of
this report.

(2)
The schedules listed in the accompanying index to financial statements and schedules are filed as part of this report.

(3)
Exhibits required to be filed by Item 601 of Regulation S-K.

106

Exhibit Number Description of Exhibit

2.1  Asset Purchase Agreement by and among EDS Information Services L.L.C.,
Electronic Data Systems Corporation, Sabre Inc., and Sabre Holdings
Corporation.(1)

2.2  First Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement by and among EDS
Information Services L.L.C., Electronic Data Systems Corporation, Sabre Inc.,
and Sabre Holdings Corporation.(2)

2.3  Second Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement by and among EDS
Information Services L.L.C., Electronic Data Systems Corporation, Sabre Inc.,
and Sabre Holdings Corporation.(3)

3.1  Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Sabre Holdings Corporation.(5)
3.2  Restated Bylaws of Sabre Holdings Corporation.(6)
4.1  Specimen Certificate representing Class A common stock.(7)
4.2  Indenture, dated as of August 3, 2001, between Sabre Holdings Corporation

and SunTrust Bank, as Trustee, providing for issuance of debt securities in
series.(8)

4.3  First Supplemental Indenture, to be dated August 7, 2001, between Sabre
Holdings Corporation and SunTrust Bank, as Trustee, relating to the 7.35%
Notes Due 2011 of Sabre Holdings Corporation.(9)

10.1 Marketing Cooperation Agreement, dated as of July 1, 1996, between The
Sabre Group, Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.(10)(11)

10.2  Tax Sharing Agreement, dated July 1, 1996, between The Sabre Group, Inc.
and American Airlines, Inc.(11)

10.3  Travel Privileges Agreement, dated as of July 1, 1996, between The Sabre
Group, Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.(10)(11)

10.4  Amendment to Travel Privileges Agreement dated as of March 15, 2000
between Sabre Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.(10)(21)

10.5  Software Marketing Agreement, dated September 10, 1996, among Registrant,
The Sabre Group, Inc. and AMR Corporation.(10)(11)
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Exhibit Number Description of Exhibit

10.6  American Airlines Special Facilities Lease Agreement, dated October 1, 1972,
between American Airlines, Inc. and the Dallas-Fort Worth Regional Airport
Board, as amended by Supplemental Agreements Nos. 1-5.(11)

10.7  Assignment Agreement, dated as of July 1, 1996, between The Sabre
Group, Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.(11)

10.8  Sublease, dated June 1, 1958, between American Airlines, Inc. and the Trustees
of the Tulsa Municipal Airport Trust, as amended by Amendments
Nos. 1-12.(11)

10.9  Assignment Agreement, dated as of July 1, 1996, between The Sabre
Group, Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.(11)

10.10 Amended and Restated Sublease Agreement, dated May, 1996, between
American Airlines, Inc. and the Tulsa Airports Improvement Trust.(11)

10.11 Assignment Agreement, dated as of July 1, 1996, between The Sabre
Group, Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.(11)

10.12 Syndicated Lease Facility with Various Associated Documents, dated
September 14, 1999 as specified below:(4)
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10.12(a) Participation Agreement dated as of September 14, 1999 among Sabre Inc., First Security Bank,
National Association, as the Owner Trustee and Bank of America, N.A.(4)

10.12(b) Lease Agreement dated as of September 14, 1999 between Sabre Inc., and First Security Bank,
National Association, as the Owner Trustee.(4)

10.12(c) Agency Agreement dated as of September 14, 1999 between Sabre Inc., and First Security Bank,
National Association as the Owner Trustee.(4)

10.12(d) Credit Agreement dated as of September 14, 1999 among First Security Bank, National
Association, as the Owner Trustee, as the Borrower, and Bank of America, N.A., as the
Agent.(4)

10.12(e) Security Agreement dated as of September 14, 1999 between First Security Bank, National
Association, as the Owner Trustee under the TSG Trust 1999-1, as the Borrower, and Bank of
America, N.A., as the Agent, and accepted and agreed to by Sabre Inc.(4)

10.12(f) Trust Agreement dated as of September 14, 1999 between The Several Holders from Time to
Time Parties thereto, as the Holders, and First Security Bank, National Association, in its
individual capacity and as the Owner Trustee.(4)

10.12(g) First Amendment and Restatement of Operative Agreements dated as of December 15, 1999
among Sabre Inc., First Security Bank, National Association, as the Owner Trustee, the Various
Banks and other lending institutions as the Holders, the Various Banks and other lending
institutions, as the Lenders, and Bank of America, N.A., a national banking association, as the
Agent for the Lenders.(4)

10.12(h) Second Amendment to Certain Operative Agreements dated as of October 4, 2000 among
Sabre Inc., First Security Bank, National Association, as the Owner Trustee, the Various Banks
and other lending institutions as the Holders, the Various Banks and other lending institutions, as
the Lenders, and Bank of America, N.A., a national banking association, as the Agent for the
Lenders.(4)

10.12(i) Third Amendment to Certain Operative Agreements dated as of March 11, 2002 among
Sabre Inc., First Security Bank, National Association, as the Owner Trustee, the Various Banks
and other lending institutions as the Holders, the Various Banks and other lending institutions, as
the Lenders, and Bank of America, N.A., a national banking association, as the Agent for the
Lenders.(4)

10.12(j) Fourth Amendment to Certain Operative Agreements dated as of June 11, 2002 among Sabre
Inc., First Security Bank, National Association, as the Owner Trustee, the Various Banks and
other lending institutions as the Holders, the Various Banks and other lending institutions, as the
Lenders, and Bank of America, N.A., a national banking association, as the Agent for the
Lenders.(4)

10.13 Reserved.
10.14 The Sabre Group Holdings, Inc. Directors Stock Incentive Plan.(11)
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10.15 The Sabre Group Holdings, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.(12)
10.16 The Sabre Group Holdings, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan.(16)
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10.17 The Sabre Group Holdings, Inc. Amended and Restated 1996 Long-Term
Incentive Plan, dated January 19, 1999, as amended November 13, 2000.(29)

10.18 Supplemental Agreement Regarding Workers' Compensation dated as of
March 15, 2000 between Sabre Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.(10)(21)

10.19 Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as Amended (Restoration).(22)
10.20 Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as Amended (Officer).(23)
10.21 Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as Amended (Grandfathered).(24)
10.22 Form of Executive Termination Benefits Agreement.(25)
10.23 Forms of Addenda to Executive Termination Benefits Agreement with respect to

William J. Hannigan, Jeffery M. Jackson and Eric J. Speck.(26)
10.24 Employment Agreement between Sabre Holdings Corporation, Sabre Inc. and

William J. Hannigan.(29)
10.25 Employment Agreement Addendum between Sabre Inc. and William J.

Hannigan.(29)
10.26 Employment Agreement Addendum between Sabre Inc. and

William J. Hannigan.(4)
10.27 Option Issuance Agreement, dated January 1, 1998 between Registrant and US

Airways, Inc.(15)
10.28 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 3, 1999 by and among

Sabre Inc., Travelocity Holdings, Inc., Travelocity.com Inc. and Preview
Travel, Inc.(18)

10.29 Agreement on Spin-off Taxes dated March 15, 2000 between AMR Corporation
and Sabre Holdings Corporation.(10)(21)

10.30 Credit Agreement, dated as of February 4, 2000, among Sabre Inc., Bank of
America, N.A., and the other banks party thereto.(27)

10.31 Amendment No. 1 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2000, among
Sabre Inc., Bank of America, N.A., and the other banks party thereto.(29)

10.32 2000 Stock Option Plan effective March 2000.(30)
10.33 2000 Stock Option Plan Amended and Restated effective November 13, 2000.(4)
10.34 Form of Addenda to Executive Termination Benefits with respect to David A.

Schwarte.(4)
10.35 Form of Addenda to Executive Termination Benefits with respect to M. Sam

Gilliland.(4)
12.1  Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the year ended

December 31, 2002.(4)
21.1  Subsidiaries of Registrant.(4)
23.1  Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.(4)

(1)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001.
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(2)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to our report on Form 8-K on July 16, 2001.

(3)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to our report on Form 8-K on July 16, 2001.

(4)
Filed herewith.

(5)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000.

(6)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.

(7)
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000.

(8)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to our report on Form 8-K dated August 2, 2001.

(9)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to our report on Form 8-K dated August 2, 2001.

(10)
Confidential treatment was granted as to a portion of this document.

(11)
Incorporated by reference to exhibits 3.1 through 10.32 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-09747).

(12)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit B to our proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed April 17, 2000.

(13)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to our proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed April 17, 2000.

(14)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to AMR's report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1994.

(15)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to our report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997.

(16)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-51291).

(17)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 1999.

(18)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2000.

(19)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 30, 2000.

(20)
Reserved.

(21)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.47 through 10.56 to our report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999.

(22)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.

(23)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.

(24)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.

(25)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.
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(26)
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.

(27)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000.

(28)
Reserved.

(29)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16, 10.23, 10.24 and 10.30 to our report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001.

(30)
Incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-40932).

(b)
Reports on Form 8-K:

�
On December 9, 2002, Sabre Holdings Corporation submitted a report on Form 8-K confirming that Sabre's wholly-owned subsidiary
Travelocity.com expects to begin charging early in 2003 customer service fees of up to $5 for most airline tickets purchased on its
North American web sites.

�
On December 23, 2002, Sabre Holdings Corporation submitted a report on Form 8-K, a portion of which was filed supplementing
financial projections issued on December 13, 2002. The portion that was furnished as an Item 9 disclosure is not incorporated into this
Form 10-K or into any other form or report filed with the Commission into which this Form 10-K would be incorporated by reference.

Pursuant to General Instruction B.2. of Form 8-K, the Forms 8-K listed below contained only Item 9 disclosures, except for the December 23,
2002 Form 8-K, a portion of which was furnished under Item 9 as noted above and below, and consequently such Forms 8-K are not
incorporated into this Form 10-K or into any other form or report filed with the Commission into which this Form 10-K would be incorporated
by reference.

�
On October 22, 2002, Sabre Holdings Corporation submitted a report on Form 8-K announcing a new multi-year offering for airlines
in its Participating Carrier Agreement for Direct Connect Availability.

�
On October 23, 2002, Sabre Holdings Corporation submitted an amended report on Form 8-K/A amending and restating its report of
October 22, 2002 about the new multi-year offering for airlines in its Participating Carrier Agreement for Direct Connect Availability.

�
On November 14, 2002, Sabre Holdings Corporation submitted a report on Form 8-K stating that it had delivered to the SEC
statements in writing, under oath, of each of the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer of Sabre Holdings
Corporation pursuant to Title 18 United States Code Section 1350, as added by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

�
On December 23, 2002, Sabre Holdings Corporation submitted a report on Form 8-K, a portion of which was furnished under Item 9
supplementing financial projections issued on December 13, 2002.
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SABRE HOLDINGS CORPORATION

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES
COVERED BY REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

[Item 15(a)]
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Financial Statements

Page

Report of Independent Auditors 42
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2002 and 2001 43
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 44
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 45
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 46
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 47
Schedule II�Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 113

All other schedules are omitted because the required information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto, or because the
required information is either not present or not present in sufficient amounts.
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Sabre Holdings Corporation

Schedule II�Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

For Each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31, 2002

(in thousands)

Additions

Classification

Balance at
Beginning of

Year

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

Charged to
Other

Accounts(1) Deductions(2)
Balance at
End of Year

Year Ended December 31, 2002
Allowance for uncollectible
accounts $ 41,317 $ 12,812 $ � $ (19,629) $ 34,500
Booking fee cancellation reserve 21,017 � 840 (3,500) 18,357
Associate reserves 2,189 10,831(3) � (5,850) 7,170

Year Ended December 31, 2001
Allowance for uncollectible
accounts $ 21,053 $ 35,099 � $ (14,835) $ 41,317
Booking fee cancellation reserve 20,854 � 1,163 (1,000) 21,017
Associate reserves 1,600 5,283 � (4,694) 2,189

Year Ended December 31, 2000
Allowance for uncollectible
accounts 11,913 16,412 � (7,272) 21,053
Booking fee cancellation reserve 19,748 � 1,106 � 20,854
Associate reserves 1,704 4,133 � (4,237) 1,600

(1)
Amounts charged against revenue.

(2)
Includes write-offs for uncollectible accounts and other reserve adjustments.

(3)
Includes $4,256 to reserve for Travelocity debit memos and credit card chargebacks.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

SABRE HOLDINGS CORPORATION

/s/  WILLIAM J. HANNIGAN      

William J. Hannigan
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executive Officer)

/s/  JEFFERY M. JACKSON      

Jeffery M. Jackson
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

Date: March 14, 2003

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates noted:

Directors:

/s/  ROYCE S. CALDWELL      

Royce S. Caldwell

/s/  BOB L. MARTIN      

Bob L. Martin

/s/  PAUL C. ELY, JR.      

Paul C. Ely, Jr.

/s/  PAMELA B. STROBEL      

Pamela B. Strobel

/s/  WILLIAM J. HANNIGAN      

William J. Hannigan

/s/  MARY ALICE TAYLOR      

Mary Alice Taylor

/s/  RICHARD G. LINDNER      

Richard G. Lindner

/s/  RICHARD L. THOMAS      

Richard L. Thomas

/s/  GLENN W. MARSCHEL, JR.      
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Glenn W. Marschel, Jr.

Date: March 14, 2003
114

 I, William J. Hannigan, certify that:

1.
I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sabre Holdings Corporation;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this annual report;

4.
The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a)
designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b)
evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior
to the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c)
presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures
based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5.
The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)
all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant's
auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b)
any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant's internal controls; and

6.
The registrant's other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in
internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent
evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Edgar Filing: WESCO INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 424B3

Table of Contents 159



Date: March 14, 2003
/s/  WILLIAM J. HANNIGAN      

William J. Hannigan
Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer
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I, Jeffery M. Jackson, certify that:

1.
I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sabre Holdings Corporation;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this annual report;

4.
The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have:

a)
designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b)
evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior
to the filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c)
presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures
based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5.
The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a)
all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant's
auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b)
any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant's internal controls; and

6.
The registrant's other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in
internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent
evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.
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Date: March 14, 2003
/s/  JEFFERY M. JACKSON      

Jeffery M. Jackson
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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Index to Exhibits

Exhibit Number Description of Exhibit

2.1  Asset Purchase Agreement by and among EDS Information Services L.L.C.,
Electronic Data Systems Corporation, Sabre Inc., and Sabre Holdings
Corporation.(1)

2.2  First Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement by and among EDS
Information Services L.L.C., Electronic Data Systems Corporation, Sabre Inc.,
and Sabre Holdings Corporation.(2)

2.3  Second Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement by and among EDS
Information Services L.L.C., Electronic Data Systems Corporation, Sabre Inc.,
and Sabre Holdings Corporation.(3)

3.1  Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Sabre Holdings Corporation.(5)
3.2  Restated Bylaws of Sabre Holdings Corporation.(6)
4.1  Specimen Certificate representing Class A common stock.(7)
4.2  Indenture, dated as of August 3, 2001, between Sabre Holdings Corporation

and SunTrust Bank, as Trustee, providing for issuance of debt securities in
series.(8)

4.3  First Supplemental Indenture, to be dated August 7, 2001, between Sabre
Holdings Corporation and SunTrust Bank, as Trustee, relating to the 7.35%
Notes Due 2011 of Sabre Holdings Corporation.(9)

10.1 Marketing Cooperation Agreement, dated as of July 1, 1996, between The
Sabre Group, Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.(10)(11)

10.2  Tax Sharing Agreement, dated July 1, 1996, between The Sabre Group, Inc.
and American Airlines, Inc.(11)

10.3  Travel Privileges Agreement, dated as of July 1, 1996, between The Sabre
Group, Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.(10)(11)

10.4  Amendment to Travel Privileges Agreement dated as of March 15, 2000
between Sabre Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.(10)(21)

10.5  Software Marketing Agreement, dated September 10, 1996, among Registrant,
The Sabre Group, Inc. and AMR Corporation.(10)(11)

10.6  American Airlines Special Facilities Lease Agreement, dated October 1, 1972,
between American Airlines, Inc. and the Dallas-Fort Worth Regional Airport
Board, as amended by Supplemental Agreements Nos. 1-5.(11)

10.7  Assignment Agreement, dated as of July 1, 1996, between The Sabre
Group, Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.(11)

10.8  Sublease, dated June 1, 1958, between American Airlines, Inc. and the Trustees
of the Tulsa Municipal Airport Trust, as amended by Amendments
Nos. 1-12.(11)

10.9  Assignment Agreement, dated as of July 1, 1996, between The Sabre
Group, Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.(11)

10.10 Amended and Restated Sublease Agreement, dated May, 1996, between
American Airlines, Inc. and the Tulsa Airports Improvement Trust.(11)

10.11 Assignment Agreement, dated as of July 1, 1996, between The Sabre
Group, Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.(11)

10.12 Syndicated Lease Facility with Various Associated Documents, dated
September 14, 1999 as specified below:(4)

10.12(a)
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Participation Agreement dated as of September 14, 1999 among Sabre Inc., First Security Bank,
National Association, as the Owner Trustee and Bank of America, N.A.(4)

10.12(b) Lease Agreement dated as of September 14, 1999 between Sabre Inc., and First Security Bank,
National Association, as the Owner Trustee.(4)

10.12(c) Agency Agreement dated as of September 14, 1999 between Sabre Inc., and First Security Bank,
National Association as the Owner Trustee.(4)

10.12(d) Credit Agreement dated as of September 14, 1999 among First Security Bank, National
Association, as the Owner Trustee, as the Borrower, and Bank of America, N.A., as the
Agent.(4)

10.12(e) Security Agreement dated as of September 14, 1999 between First Security Bank, National
Association, as the Owner Trustee under the TSG Trust 1999-1, as the Borrower, and Bank of
America, N.A., as the Agent, and accepted and agreed to by Sabre Inc.(4)

10.12(f) Trust Agreement dated as of September 14, 1999 between The Several Holders from Time to
Time Parties thereto, as the Holders, and First Security Bank, National Association, in its
individual capacity and as the Owner Trustee.(4)

10.12(g) First Amendment and Restatement of Operative Agreements dated as of December 15, 1999
among Sabre Inc., First Security Bank, National Association, as the Owner Trustee, the Various
Banks and other lending institutions as the Holders, the Various Banks and other lending
institutions, as the Lenders, and Bank of America, N.A., a national banking association, as the
Agent for the Lenders.(4)

10.12(h) Second Amendment to Certain Operative Agreements dated as of October 4, 2000 among
Sabre Inc., First Security Bank, National Association, as the Owner Trustee, the Various Banks
and other lending institutions as the Holders, the Various Banks and other lending institutions, as
the Lenders, and Bank of America, N.A., a national banking association, as the Agent for the
Lenders.(4)

10.12(i) Third Amendment to Certain Operative Agreements dated as of March 11, 2002 among
Sabre Inc., First Security Bank, National Association, as the Owner Trustee, the Various Banks
and other lending institutions as the Holders, the Various Banks and other lending institutions, as
the Lenders, and Bank of America, N.A., a national banking association, as the Agent for the
Lenders.(4)

10.12(j) Fourth Amendment to Certain Operative Agreements dated as of June 11, 2002 among
Sabre Inc., First Security Bank, National Association, as the Owner Trustee, the Various Banks
and other lending institutions as the Holders, the Various Banks and other lending institutions, as
the Lenders, and Bank of America, N.A., a national banking association, as the Agent for the
Lenders.(4)

10.13 Reserved.
10.14 The Sabre Group Holdings, Inc. Directors Stock Incentive Plan.(11)
10.15 The Sabre Group Holdings, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.(12)
10.16 The Sabre Group Holdings, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan.(16)
10.17 The Sabre Group Holdings, Inc. Amended and Restated 1996 Long-Term Incentive Plan, dated January 19, 1999, as

amended November 13, 2000.(29)

10.18 Supplemental Agreement Regarding Workers' Compensation dated as of
March 15, 2000 between Sabre Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.(10)(21)

10.19 Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as Amended (Restoration).(22)
10.20 Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as Amended (Officer).(23)
10.21 Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as Amended (Grandfathered).(24)
10.22 Form of Executive Termination Benefits Agreement.(25)
10.23 Forms of Addenda to Executive Termination Benefits Agreement with respect to

William J. Hannigan, Jeffery M. Jackson and Eric J. Speck.(26)
10.24 Employment Agreement between Sabre Holdings Corporation, Sabre Inc. and

William J. Hannigan.(29)
10.25 Employment Agreement Addendum between Sabre Inc. and William J.

Hannigan.(29)
10.26 Employment Agreement Addendum between Sabre Inc. and

William J. Hannigan.(4)
10.27 Option Issuance Agreement, dated January 1, 1998 between Registrant and US

Airways, Inc.(15)
10.28 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 3, 1999 by and among

Sabre Inc., Travelocity Holdings, Inc., Travelocity.com Inc. and Preview
Travel, Inc.(18)
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10.29 Agreement on Spin-off Taxes dated March 15, 2000 between AMR Corporation
and Sabre Holdings Corporation.(10)(21)

10.30 Credit Agreement, dated as of February 4, 2000, among Sabre Inc., Bank of
America, N.A., and the other banks party thereto.(27)

10.31 Amendment No. 1 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2000, among
Sabre Inc., Bank of America, N.A., and the other banks party thereto.(29)

10.32 2000 Stock Option Plan effective March 2000.(30)
10.33 2000 Stock Option Plan Amended and Restated effective November 13, 2000.(4)
10.34 Form of Addenda to Executive Termination Benefits with respect to David A.

Schwarte.(4)
10.35 Form of Addenda to Executive Termination Benefits with respect to M. Sam

Gilliland.(4)
12.1  Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the year ended

December 31, 2002.(4)
21.1  Subsidiaries of Registrant.(4)
23.1  Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.(4)

(1)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001.

(2)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to our report on Form 8-K on July 16, 2001.

(3)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to our report on Form 8-K on July 16, 2001.

(4)
Filed herewith.

(5)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000.

(6)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.

(7)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000.

(8)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to our report on Form 8-K dated August 2, 2001.

(9)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to our report on Form 8-K dated August 2, 2001.

(10)
Confidential treatment was granted as to a portion of this document.

(11)
Incorporated by reference to exhibits 3.1 through 10.32 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-09747).

(12)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit B to our proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed April 17, 2000.

(13)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to our proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed April 17, 2000.

(14)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to AMR's report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1994.
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(15)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to our report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997.

(16)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-51291).

(17)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 1999.

(18)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2000.

(19)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 30, 2000.

(20)
Reserved.

(21)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 10.47 through 10.56 to our report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999.

(22)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.

(23)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.

(24)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.

(25)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.

(26)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.

(27)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000.

(28)
Reserved.

(29)
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16, 10.23, 10.24 and 10.30 to our report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001.

(30)
Incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-40932).

QuickLinks

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
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ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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SABRE HOLDINGS CORPORATION NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 (in thousands)
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 (in thousands)
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000 (in thousands)
PART III
PART IV
SABRE HOLDINGS CORPORATION INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES COVERED BY REPORT OF
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS [Item 15(a)]
Sabre Holdings Corporation Schedule II�Valuation and Qualifying Accounts For Each of the Three Years in the Period Ended December 31,
2002 (in thousands)
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